EEREERAF
ENERGY
corporation limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(RBEREEMA L BRAE)
(Stock code B& f34%5% : 00166)

ANNUAL
REPORT

2022

¥R

*For identification purpose only
R



OUR BUSINESS
ANCIE

- United States
7 xE=

. Brazil
Bolivia ki)
) HRETE
' High Luck - Paraguay

EE

Group

Province of Salta

. ) LI'E"
AC Precious L3

Metals

Refinery

Hong Kong
58




CONTENTS H 8%

orporate Information onsolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

2 Corp Inf i ’IOO C lidated S f Profi L
NAEH maBEmR

4 Information for Stakeholders 1 O’I Consolidated Statement of
RN Comprehensive Income

5 Financial Highlights et mElaER
B 75 45 '] 02 Consolidated Statement of Financial

b Chairman’s Statement Position
TERE e BRI R

1 O Management Discussion and Analysis ’| 04 Consolidated Statement of Changes in
BB RO o

25 Information on New Times Energy’s Oil and Rk LS

’I 05 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Gas Reserves
HEREMER

MRRERERFEEZER

28 Information of Directors ’| 07 Notes to the Consolidated Financial
. S Statements
§$t§ﬂ, Report A B TSR MY R
irectors’ Repor . . .
32 EEa e P 2’| 9 Five Years Financial Summary
S AEMEHE

49 Environmental, Social and Governance

2 2 0 Glossary

Review i

RRE - #HekEROE

73 Corporate Governance Report
PREBRE

9 2 Independent Auditor’s Report
B A% BAD R &



CORPORATE INFORMATION

DA EF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. CHIU, Wai On (Chairman)
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie
Mr. HUANG, Victor

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman)
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman)
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. LEE, Kun Yin

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

EEg

HITES
WERHBEE (T E)
BWARBIEE (TTHARE)

FHITES

BYFHTES
SRIERE
RERLE
BREELE

BERERE

BiER % E (L)
FHE
BRI
HEEkE
FMEEg
HIEMEE (28
W53 48 o
iRk
HEEkE
REZEE
HIFBEE (L)
FEE R
iR
HERhE

HITEES

WiRHEEE (T8
WARBEE

REME

FEELLE



AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor

LEGAL ADVISERS

On Hong Kong law
Deacons

On Bermuda law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

On Canada law
Stikeman Elliott LLP

On Argentina law
Nicholson y Cano Abogados
Saravia Frias Abogados
Marval, O'Farrell & Mairal

On US law
Haynes and Boone, LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
HSBC

Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
Toronto-Dominion Bank

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

Room 1402, 14/F, New World Tower |
16-18 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

CORPORATE INFORMATION

DR EF

¥ B Em

&L RIGE R R B R P
XS NEM AR R BB

SRR

EREE
AT RDTT

BRELRE
R AR R B =75 P

mEXERE
Stikeman Elliott LLP

P AR A

Nicholson y Cano Abogados
Saravia Frias Abogados
Marval, O'Farrell & Mairal

EEER

Haynes and Boone, LLP
FEIREIT
FERTT (FB)BRAFA
BEELSEZRITERAA
IEXRFEEERT

% w2 B HIRTT

MPEERTEEXE T

B
EFREF16-185%
it RRE —Ef14121402F

AMREE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

Annual Report 2022 ¢ =& — —F F 3f



4

INFORMATION FOR STAKEHOLDERS

EE AER

SHARE INFORMATION
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Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
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0166.HK

Board Lot
2,000 shares

Financial Year End
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As at 31 December 2022
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SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
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Hong Kong Branch Registrar
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WEBSITE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

BE HE

—=E=-= - —4F

+=-A=+—0 gy

IEFEE LEFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER T

Revenue & 20,913,216 11,167,076
Profit before taxation Fr B B A 300,705 343,636
Profit for the year F 1R A 285,902 329,403
Earnings per share — basis (HK cent) FREER —ZEAR GBI 3.26 3.76
As at As at

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

hi »n

—=E—-= T —F

+-A=+—0 gy

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER T

Total assets BEE 2,165,428 1,736,350
Total equity R 1,321,637 1,101,481
Debt ratio @ B RO 39.0% 36.6%
Gearing ratio @ BEEABLX [[{E: Nil &
Net asset value per share @ (HK$) BREEFE? (BT) 0.15 0.13

sk :

Remarks:

(1) Debt ratio: Total liabilities divided by total assets (1) FEHEEX LEERIAEEE

(2) (2 EEAGBELE:FEERRAEREE

Gearing ratio: Interest bearing borrowings divided by total equity

3) () BREEFE:BEEFERUSEITRNKE

Net asset value per share: Net assets divided by number of issued shares
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of New Times
Energy Corporation Limited (“New Times Energy”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | hereby present the annual
results and audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

OVERVIEW OF 2022

New Times Energy is pleased to report an annual profit of
HK$285.9 million for 2022 (2021: HK$329.4 million). The strong
performance was mainly attributable to the Group’s Canadian oil
and gas business, comprising of over 800 active wells, producing
approximately 11,500 barrels of oil equivalent (“boe”) per day (95%
natural gas), and robust energy commodity prices during the former
part of the year.

With the successful drilling and completion of six unconventional
wells operated by the Group in 2022, a minority participation in an
additional three unconventional wells, together with the optimization
program initiated at the end of the previous year, the Group’s overall
production in Canada increased by approximately 1,150 boe per day
as of early 2023.

Recent global events have demonstrated that the demand for stable
energy sources like oil and gas will remain strong for the near to
medium term. The Group is confident its Canadian oil and gas
business will continue to contribute sizeable positive cashflows in the
years ahead while being mindful of exploring ways in which to work
with local authorities and governing bodies to achieve the common
goal of net zero emissions.

As the world accelerates towards a low carbon economy, New Times
Energy is embarking on its own energy transition journey. Plans to
redevelop and transform the Group’s 1,200 acres (4.9 km?) Discovery
Park site at Campbell River, British Columbia from a former pulp mill
into a green ecosystem hub powered by hydroelectricity have already
commenced.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

GREEN ECOSYSTEM HUB POWERED BY
SUSTAINABLE ENERGY

The Group is in negotiations with three significant organisations to
accommodate the following facilities at Discovery Park:

1. Aninland aquaculture facility,

2. Hosting a liquid hydrogen plant capable of producing 60
tonnes of hydrogen daily, and

3. Building a renewable natural gas facility to utilise the abundant
supply of biomass in the vicinity.

The Group has entered in letters of intent with all three propositions,
and negotiations and feasibility studies are ongoing with the
prospective tenants. The Group is also initiating its own vertical
farming and modular construction manufacturing facilities to create
a circular economy at Discovery Park.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETERE

Modular construction will provide on-site building materials to all 4
industries while secondary outputs are recycled as such:

o Excess heat and oxygen from the hydrogen fuel plant are
reused in Aquaculture operations,

o Fish sludge is a suitable biomass feedstock for the renewable
natural gas facility, and

o Carbon dioxide and excess heat from the production of
renewable natural gas can be reused in vertical farming
operations.

By redeveloping Discovery Park into a green ecosystem hub, the
Group can create economic value by reducing waste, and contribute
to better sustainability, climate protection and resource efficiency.

During 2022, oil production at the Group’s Argentinean concession
was increased to approximately 1,350 barrels per day. Argentina
remains a challenging country to operate because of factors such
as lower domestic oil prices, hyperinflation, currency devaluation,
capital controls, bureaucracy, and labour union unrest. However, the
Group's exposure in Argentina is less than 2% of its total net assets.

New Times Energy’'s commodities trading business (in particular its
physical gold and silver trading) continued to perform solidly during
the year, albeit net margin was impacted by the delayed opening of
the Group's new precious metals refinery. With the latest operational
date anticipated to be the second quarter of 2023, the Group is
optimistic that the new refining process will positively contribute to
the Group's future profitability.

LOOKING FORWARD

New Times Energy is mindful of the increasing global trend and
appetite for low carbon economy, particularly in the developed
economies. While our principal business is that of oil and gas
exploration and production, the Group is already taking steps to
transform its business model into one that increasingly focuses
on social responsibility and a viable path to net zero emissions by
developing Discovery Park into a green ecosystem hub.

New Times Energy continues to actively manage and structure
its business to best serve the interests of its shareholders. It is
committed to maximising shareholder value by exploring and
developing oil and gas prospects in a safe, environmentally, socially
and ethically responsible manner. Environmental and sustainability
considerations will continue to play an increasingly key role in the
way the Group conducts its future business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

The Group understands the need to continually reassess and diversify
its current business and geographical portfolio to better position
itself for the future. It is also critical that the Group continues to
maintain a healthy cash position to enable it to actively seek out
value adding and complementary investment opportunities in the
energy sector, wherever that may be in the world.

APPRECIATION

In closing, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincerest gratitude to the Board, the management team, and all
staff for your efforts and dedication during the year. | am also much
obliged to our shareholders, investors, business partners, bankers,
customers and suppliers for your continued and invaluable support.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWmR D

GENERAL REVIEW

The Group is pleased to report a profit after tax of HK$285.9 million
for the 2022 year (2021: HK$329.4 million).

The net profit was mainly attributable to NTE Energy Canada Ltd.
("NTEC"), the Group’s wholly owned Canadian oil and gas subsidiary
and robust energy commodity prices in the former part of 2022.
NTEC comprises of over 800 active wells, producing approximately
11,500 barrels of oil equivalent (“boe"”) per day, 95% natural gas.

With the Group’s oil and gas businesses generating strong and
stable positive cashflows during the 2022 year, the Group’s financial
position continued to further strengthen. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group had no external borrowings (2021: Nil) and approximately
HK$907.1 million (2021: HK$642.6 million) of highly liquid current
assets, which consisted of cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$851.2 million (2021: HK$495.0 million) and approximately
HK$55.9 million (2021: HK$147.6 million) in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and gold investments. The rate of return
on equity for the Group was 21.6% (2021: 29.9%) for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Optimization programs to enhance production rates of NTEC's
existing wells since the end of 2021 have contributed positively to
the Group’s financial performance for the fiscal year ended 2022.
Together with the drilling and completion of six unconventional
wells operated by NTEC and minority participation in three other
unconventional wells in the second half of 2022, the Group sees
further increases in production of approximately 1,150 barrels per
day in early 2023.

As part of its business diversification strategy, the Group has made
significant progress towards the redevelopment of its 1,200 acres
(4.9 km?) Discovery Park site at Campbell River, British Columbia,
Canada. In addition to vertical farming, where the Group aims to
enter and capture a fraction of the Vancouver market for green
vegetables before the end of 2023, the Group is also marketing and
in discussions with several possible major new tenants. Early concept
proposals under consideration include transforming Discovery Park
into a green technology industrial hub which may consist of an
inland aquaculture facility, liquid hydrogen production plant and a
renewable natural gas facility.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In Argentina where the domestic oil price is approximately 25%
below Brent, the Group managed to record an adjusted EBITDA of
approximately HK$51.2 million (2021: HK$14.9 million). Due to the
challenging political and economic environment of doing business in
Argentina, the Group's treasury policy is to monthly repatriate any
cash surpluses from its Argentina operation.

During 2022, the Group's commodities trading business (in particular
its physical gold and silver trading) continued to perform solidly with
stable trade volumes. However, due to supply chain issues delaying
the arrival and installation of specialised equipment for the Group’s
new precious metals refinery in Hong Kong, the commencement
of precious metal refining operation is now deferred to the second
quarter of 2023 year. The Group is optimistic that the new refining
business, once operational, will enhance overall profitability of the
Group.

The Group operates under a strong Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) mandate and is passionate in the investment
and future development of clean energy for global sustainability. It is
actively exploring ways to work with local authorities and governing
bodies to achieve the common goal of net zero emissions, through
eco-investment opportunities such as Blue & Green Hydrogen and
Carbon Capture, Utilization and Sequestration (“CCUS").

CANADA

Operations Update

Greater Sierra Area, Horn River Basin, Wapiti and Willesden
Green

The Group’s Canadian oil and gas assets, consisting over 800 active
wells and spanning approximately 761,000 acres (3,080 km?) of land,
are situated in four locations in the Western Canadian Sedimentary
Basin, namely Greater Sierra Area and Horn River Basin in the
province of British Columbia (approximately 94.2% of NTEC’s total
Proved plus Probable reserves), together with Wapiti and Willesden
Green in the province of Alberta.

The four locations in total are estimated to contain Proved (1P)
reserves of 26.1 million boe (2021: 30.2 million boe) and Proved
plus Probable (2P) reserves of 34.1 million boe (2021: 40.0 million
boe), attributable to the Group. (Refer to section titled “Information
on New Times Energy’s Oil and Gas Reserves” on page 25 for further
details.)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmR DT

During 2022, NTEC's average daily oil and gas production was
approximately 11,500 boe per day (95% natural gas) and the
average realised price was C$35.2 per boe. Both the production
and the price of gas saw a temporary decline in the third quarter
of 2022, due to maintenance of externally controlled pipelines, and
local market conditions. Natural gas sales comprised 85% of NTEC's
total revenue for the year. To further enhance production rates of
existing wells and improve those wells that are underperforming,
NTEC remapped the gathering system connecting all the wells and
facilities in the Greater Sierra Area and initiated an optimization
program of replacing old equipment, swabbing wells, and adjusting
operational calibrations. At the same time, shut-in wells were
restarted with the improved economics associated with higher
natural gas prices permitting. An elaborate computer modelling
of the reservoir/production system was undertaken to assist in
the optimization process. The program was initiated in the fourth
quarter of 2021, and NTEC is benefitting from the initiative with an
observed material increase in production in 2022.

Between July and December 2022, NTEC successfully drilled and
completed six unconventional wells at Willesden Green free of any
health and safety incidents.

Discovery Park

The Group operates Discovery Park at Campbell River, British
Columbia, providing industrial land parcels, buildings, and
warehouses for businesses to lease. Existing site infrastructure
features an electrical substation that is connected to two 138 kV
transmission lines, providing over 200MW of 100% renewable
hydro energy power supply from BC Hydro, sourced from a dam
approximately 6 km away from the site with a rate as low as C$0.05/
kWh. Additional facilities include a solid industrial waste landfill
to handle hazardous substance disposal needs, a complimentary
wastewater treatment facility, fresh water supply, and two deep
water piers for dock usage and direct ocean water access.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The multi-use site is currently leased to tenants in industries including
but not limited to green data centres, modular construction, marine
services, and steel fabrication. The Group is working on redeveloping
Discovery Park into a green-tech hub to attract new tenants that
align with the Group’s ESG mandate. The site is an ideal candidate
for aquaculture, green hydrogen, as well as renewable natural gas
given the low-cost electricity on site and ample supply of ocean
and fresh water. The Group is actively exploring ways to bring such
projects to fruition through support and cooperation from local and
federal government.

On 25 June 2022, the Group signed a definitive agreement with
CubicFarm Systems Corp. (TSX: CUB) (“CubicFarm”) to set up
vertical farming operations at Discovery Park where the Group would
undertake the manufacturing and fabrication of cold-formed steel
framing for modular units on site. Due to CubicFarm running into
recent financial difficulties, the Group is finalising a feasibility study
to develop and operate its own vertical farming system, with the aim
of capturing a fraction of the Vancouver market for green vegetables
before the end of 2023.

The Group is actively seeking to partner with well-known and
established ag-tech companies both in Canada and globally to
provide efficient, localised food supply solutions and using indoor
farming technologies. Discovery Park will contribute to redefining
the way traditional agriculture is being carried out for certain
food groups, by overcoming seasonal and climate constraints, and
eliminating wasteful long supply chain agriculture that ultimately
benefit the Western Canadian people, resources, and economy.

Capital Program and Future Development

The Group firmly believes natural gas will serve as the bridge fuel
towards a low carbon economy, as the world in its attempt to satisfy
commitments set forth in the Paris Agreement, transitions from
high CO, emission energy sources such as coal and oil, towards
renewables and zero emission sources. Alberta’s phasing out of
coalfired electricity, projected to take effect by the end of 2023 (6
years ahead of the federally mandated 2029 deadline), provides long
term price support and demand for natural gas.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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NTEC is working on the redevelopment of Discovery Park. The
redevelopment will include rezoning the landmarks to increase the
area available for industrial purposes, and to increase the overall
density of occupant for the entire site, upgrading the current facilities
and the construction of new facilities to fulfil the Group’s ESG
mandate to turn the site into a green-tech hub. The Group recently
received three significant proposals to develop Discovery Park into
an inland aquaculture facility capable of producing Atlantic salmon,
hosting a liquid hydrogen plant capable of producing 60 tonnes of
hydrogen daily, and building out a renewable natural gas facility to
utilise the abundant supply of biomass in the area. The Group has
received letters of intent for all three proposals, and negotiations and
feasibility studies are ongoing with the prospective tenants.

ARGENTINA

Operations Update

Los Blancos

Operated by High Luck Group Limited (“High Luck”), the Group’s
wholly owned Argentinian branch office, the Los Blancos Concession
("Los Blancos”) covers a surface area of approximately 95 km? in
the Province of Salta in Northern Argentina.

Los Blancos is an oil exploitation concession in which the Group has
a 50% participating interest, with Pampa Energia S.A (NYSE: PAM)
(“Pampa”) being the owner of the other 50%. Granted by the
provincial authorities of Salta in October 2020, the Group is entitled
to produce crude oil in Los Blancos for the next 25 years.

During 2022, Los Blancos continued to steadily produce light crude
oil unaided, under a stable and high wellhead pressure, with an API
index of approximately 37°, and zero water content, free of sulphur
and other contaminants. To increase revenue and help alleviate a
general diesel shortage in the province of Salta, oil production at
Los Blancos was increased from approximately 800 bbl to 1,200 bbl
per day. Due to positive well behaviour, the Group subsequently
increased oil production to 1,350 bbl per day from September 2022.

While Northern Argentina continues to be dominated by one major
refinery, Refinor (who exploits its position by offering the regions’
oil producers less than market prices), High Luck was encouraged
by its efforts to sell most of its Los Blancos oil production to other
refineries prepared to pay a higher and fairer price during the year.

Despite crude oil prices in Argentina trending approximately 25%
below prevailing Brent, High Luck is generating positive cashflow
and financially self-sufficient. Monthly cash surplus is repatriated to
the Group's head office for reinvestment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

High Luck’s adjusted EBITDA for the 2022 year was approximately
HK$51.2 million (2021: HK$14.9 million), but suffered a net loss of
approximately HK$16.4 million (2021: HK$19.9 million) due to the
effects of depreciation, foreign exchange losses and deferred tax
charges.

Argentina challenges and outlook

During 2022, the Argentine Pesos (“ARS") devalued by
approximately 71.7% from ARS102.69 per US$, to ARS176.36 per
US$ by 31 December 2022, whilst annual inflation reached a record
breaking 94.8% in 2022, compared to 50.9% for the 2021 year.

Hyperinflation continues to grip Argentina. The consequence is
economic hardship for a sizeable percentage of its population,
which spills over in the form of sporadic social unrest, labour union
demands, and political interference. High Luck’s oil deliveries in
December 2022 were partially affected by roadblocks demonstrating
against its government.

Furthermore, Argentina’s stringent capital controls restrict the
High Luck’s ability to repatriate ARS cash surpluses, except for the
prohibitively costly “Blue Dollar Rate” option. As of 31 December
2022, the official exchange rate of US$ to Argentina Peso was
US$1:ARS176.36, while the Blue Dollar Exchange Rate was
US$1:ARS341.22.

Despite prolific oil production at Los Blancos which is amongst one
of the best single producing conventional wells in Argentina, it is
unfortunate that the Group is unable to fully realise the financial
returns from High Luck, due to the above challenges that exist in
Argentina, which are likely to persist at least until the country’s next
general election in October 2023.

On 4 June 2021, Pampa initiated arbitration against High Luck over
a dispute of approximately US$180,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,404,000) due to a difference in interpretation of the Farm-Out
Agreement (“FOA") regarding farm-in cost. Amongst their claim,
Pampa is seeking for the restitution of High Luck’s 50% participating
interest in the Los Blancos Concession, which is worth tens of
millions of US$. The Group believes that the arbitration brought
against High Luck by Pampa is frivolous, and the compensation
sought is abusive, extreme and against the principle of the laws
of Argentina. Given that there is no actual breach of the FOA, the
Group believes that the chances of success of Pampa's predatory
attempt to take possession of High Luck’s 50% participating interest
via arbitration is remote. The Group is represented by the law firm,
Marval, O'Farrell & Mairal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Additionally, the provincial authorities of Salta are exerting pressure
on High Luck to drill another development well at Los Blancos before
the end of 2023, or face risk of possible sanctions of the concession.
However, based on independent specialists’ advice (geological,
geophysical and petrophysical) from international and Argentine
renowned oil and gas consultants, the clear conclusion was that it
was uneconomic to drill a development well. Besides commerciality,
drilling a development well risks curtailing life of Los Blancos and the
optimal volume of recoverable oil.

The Group’s total exposure in Argentina is approximately HK$24.2
million, i.e. 2% of total net assets of the Group as of 31 December
2022.

COMMODITIES TRADING

Operating under the registered name of AC Precious Metals Refinery
Limited, the Group's physical precious metals trade business is jointly
operated with an established and reputable intermediary in the gold
trading business, with a long history and presence in Hong Kong.
To ensure the Group is not financially exposed to the day-to-day
fluctuations of gold prices, all physical gold trades, and physical gold
inventories held by the Group are hedged with financial hedging
instruments.

During 2022, the Group’s physical gold and silver trade business
managed a total trading volume of approximately HK$19,910.7
million (2021: HK$10,824.7 million). However, net margin for the
year was reduced by the fixed costs incurred from the delayed
opening of the Group’s new precious metals refinery in Hong Kong.
Due to global supply chain issues, hindering the timely delivery
and installation of specialised equipment at the plant, the target
commencement date of operation for the Group’s refinery of gold,
silver and other precious metals is now deferred to the second
quarter of 2023 year.

Although the Group is disappointed by the delayed commencement
date of its new refinery, the Group believes the business of
commodity trading of precious metals will restore higher profitability,
once the gold and precious metals refining business is operational.
By bringing the refining process in-house, the Group anticipates
higher margins in the long term.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK FOR 2023 AND BEYOND

As recent global events have demonstrated, the demand for
stable energy sources like oil and gas will remain strong for the
near and medium term. As the world accelerates towards a low
carbon economy, the Group is embarking on its transition journey
to transform its 1,200 acres (4.9 km?) Discovery Park site into a
green energy and ecosystem hub. The Group’s vision is to develop
and attract industries including hydrogen, bio-fuel production,
vertical farming, and aquaculture to create a circular economy at
Discovery Park, where the by-products generated by one business
activity forms the production input for other corresponding business
activities. By redeveloping Discovery Park into a green energy and
ecosystem hub, the Group can create economic value by reducing
waste, and contribute to better sustainability, climate protection and
resource efficiency.

Recent global supply chain disruptions further validate the Group's
decision to continue evaluating its plan to setup vertical farming
operations at Discovery Park, which would provide localised
food security. With pre-existing amenities including low-cost
hydroelectricity, office buildings, warehouses, land, full scale water
treatment plant, industrial size landfill, fresh water supply, deep
water docks, barge ramp, and direct ocean water access within
the site, the Group aims to develop and realise the full potential
of Discovery Park as a hub for green technology. The Group is
enthused by the level of interest by potential tenants looking to
locate to Discovery Park, especially the three significant proposals to
develop the site into an inland aquaculture facility, liquid hydrogen
production plant and renewable natural gas facility.

The optimization program of the NTEC's existing wells will also have
positive effects on the profitability and cashflow in the Group’s oil
and gas segment. The Group is particularly optimistic about the
potential for involvement in activities that will significantly reduce
carbon emissions with a goal of achieving net zero.

While the start-up of the Group's precious metals refinery has been
affected by supply chain issues delaying the delivery of equipment
to the plant, the Group believes commodities trading/refining of
precious metals will prove to be a profitable and stable business.

With a strong financial position and positive cash flow expected from
across the Group’s operations, the Group is prepared and excited
about its ability to create long term value for its shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$20,913.2 million (2021: HK$11,167.1 million),
of which HK$1,002.6 million of the total revenue were derived
from sales of oil and gas products in the upstream business (2021:
HK$259.6 million) and the remaining HK$19,910.7 million were
from the sales in the general and commodities refinery and trading
business (2021: HK$10,907.4 million). Sales from oil and gas
products increased by more than threefold as compared to last year
is mainly from the full year consolidation effect of the Canadian
operation since its acquisition in 2021, as well as the robust energy
commodity prices in the former part of 2022. Sales in the general
and commodities refinery and trading business also increase by
close to onefold as the Group continued to expand the gold trading
business.

Gross profit for the year was HK$421.5 million (2021: HK$90.7
million) which mainly contributed by the Canadian operations and
the strong energy commodity prices during the year.

A net investment gain of HK$24.9 million were recognised during
the year from the Group’s investments in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (2021: loss of HK$40.9 million), as the
performance of certain investments in listed equity securities have
recovered during 2022.

General and administrative expenses for the year were HK$130.9
million, an increase of HK$21.1 million as compared to last year
of HK$109.8 million mainly from full year consolidation effect
of the Canadian operations, partially offset by savings in one-
time transaction costs related to the acquisition of the Canadian
operations in 2021.

Finance costs for the year were HK$27.8 million, which represented
imputed interest from lease liabilities and provisions, increased by
approximately one-fold as compared to last year of HK$13.9 million
from the full year consolidation effect of the Canadian operations.

Income tax expenses for the year were HK$14.8 million (2021:
HK$14.2 million), mainly arising from adjustments in deferred tax
charges in Argentina.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
HK$285.9 million for the year (2021: HK$329.4 million). Basic
and diluted earnings per share for the year were 3.26 HK cents as
compared to 3.76 HK cents in 2021.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has a net working capital
of HK$193.9 million (2021: HK$151.0 million), which included
inventories, trade receivables and trade payables. The increase in
net working capital is mainly from more precious metal inventories
at year-end as the Group expands the gold trading business.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

In respect of the aggregate net proceeds of approximately
HK$557.2 million (2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds”) raised
from the subscription of shares in July 2016 and November 2016,
amongst which all of the HK$557.2 million had been used from
the subscription date to 31 December 2022 in accordance with its
intended use as stated in the circular of the Company dated 28 June
2016, and the announcements of the Company dated 28 October
2016, 27 August 2018 and 26 March 2020. On 29 March 2022, the
Company announced a change on its intended use of the unused
balance of the 2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds, the details of
which were set out in the announcement. As at 31 December 2021,
the unused balance of the 2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds was
HK$20.4 million. The actual use of the 2016 Subscription Shares
Proceeds during the year ended 31 December 2022 was HK$20.4
million for investment in short to medium term financial instruments
and general administrative purposes. As at 31 December 2022,
all 2016 Subscription Shares Proceeds has been put to use and no
unused net proceeds balance remain.

In respect of the net proceeds of approximately HK$736.4 million
("Open Offer Proceeds”) raised from the open offer in April 2017,
amongst which HK$574.7 million had been used from the date of
subscribing the open offer to 31 December 2022 in accordance with
its intended use as stated in the circular of the Company dated 28
February 2017, the offering memorandum of the Company dated
27 March 2017, and the announcements of the Company dated 27
August 2018, 26 March 2020, 29 April 2020 and 18 March 2021.
As at 31 December 2021, the unused balance of the Open Offer
Proceeds was HK$268.2 million. The actual use of the Open Offer
Proceeds during the year ended 31 December 2022 was HK$106.5
million for expansion of metal commodities trading. As at 31
December 2022, the unused balance of the Open Offer Proceeds
was HK$161.7 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmR DT

The following table summarises the use of net proceeds for the 2016
Subscription Shares Proceeds and Open Offer Proceeds for the year
ended 31 December 2022:

Unused amount

of net proceeds Change in use of

TR —_E - —_F+_A=+—HIFE
M- NERERDAERERAREE
Fri8 KBTS B FEMA®

Unused amount
of net proceeds

Actual use of net
proceeds during

as at proceeds on  the year ended as at
31 December 29 March 31 December 31 December
2021 2022 2022 2022 Note
BE-B-CF
R-B=-F R=-2--f% +-B=t-H R-BZZF
TZR=1+-HH ZA=thH LEEHN +-A=+-AH
FEFERE FEMERZZ FMEREFEz FEEREZ
HABAEE 28 EREREH HABASE  HE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEATL BEATL BEAT BEAT
1
2016 Subscription Share Proceeds —Z-XERBRAFERE
- Argentina operational purposes -FREERN 20.4 (204) = -
- Investment in short-to medium term - XA RHEFHEBTAR - 204 (20.4) -
financial instruments and general —RITBEM
administrative purposes
Total At 204 - (20.4) -
Open Offer Proceeds NEREREHE
- Investment in oil and gas, power - HERAMRARZ EER 161.7 - - 161.7 2
generation and renewable energy EEER
— Expansion of metal commodities -BREEERES 106.5 - (106.5) -
trading
Total At 2682 - (106.5) 1617
Notes: B 5
1. The expected timeline in relation to the use of the unused amount of net 1. FRGERMBREEERBRZFAMERER T

proceeds as at 31 December 2021 for Argentina operational purposes depended
on the Group’s business, and oil and gas investment plans in Argentina, which
were discussed in the section headed "“Operations update” under Management
Discussion and Analysis to the annual report of the Company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2021. As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 29 July 2021, the unused amount of net proceeds for Argentina
operational purposes was intended to be utilised on or before 31 December
2022.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2022, since
the Group’s wholly owned Argentina subsidiary continued to generate cash and
be financially self-sufficient from its oil production in Los Blancos Concession,
the Board of the Company had resolved to reallocate HK$20.4 million from
the unutilised 2016 Subscription Share Proceeds, which was set for Argentina
operational purposes, and to re-designate this amount for the purposes
of investment in short to medium term financial instruments and general
administrative purposes. Details of the change in use of proceeds are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2. The unused amount of net proceeds as at 31 December 2022 is expected to be
used for investment in oil and gas, power generation and renewable energy and
expected to be utilised on or before the year ending 31 December 2024. In the
previous years, the Group investigated multiple investment opportunities, but
had deferred utilising the proceeds due to inherent uncertainties that exist with
the opportunities, regarding to the timing and outcome of negotiations with
counterparties.

The Group maintains a treasury policy (as reviewed or modified from
time to time when deemed necessary) for the investment of surplus
cash. Surplus cash is mainly maintained in the form of term deposits
with licensed banks. The management of the Group closely monitors
the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the Group has sufficient
financial resources to meet its funding requirements from time to
time.

The Group entered into certain derivative financial instruments for
economic hedging purposes in order to mitigate the financial impact
from price fluctuations on inventories of precious metals and gold
bullion held by the Group. The use of these derivative financial
instruments is closely monitored and controlled by the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s net current assets amounted
to approximately HK$855.4 million (2021: HK$684.1 million) with
cash and bank balances of HK$851.2 million (2021: HK$495.0
million). Highly liquid assets, including cash and bank balances, listed
equity securities and gold investment, were HK$905.4 million (2021
HK$589.7 million). Cash and bank balances of the Group as at 31
December 2022 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollar,
United States Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Argentine Peso and Renminbi.

As at 31 December 2022, total equity of the Group was HK$1,321.6
million (2021: HK$1,101.5 million). Net asset value per share was
HK$0.15 (2021: HK$0.13). Debt ratio, calculated as total liabilities
divided by total assets, was 39.0% (2021: 36.6%).

The Group financed its operations and capital expenditures from a
combination of working capital and proceeds from the issuance of
shares of the Company.

Borrowings and gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have unsecured debt
securities and unsecured short-term loans (2021: Nil). Therefore, the
Group's gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of interest bearing
borrowings divided by total equity, was 0% (2021: 0%).

EEENWE DN

2. REBZZF+-_A=+—-BRERBAMEK
FEHEEOSAERENAR BERFERS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Charge on Assets
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any charge on its
assets (2021: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, save as disclosed in Note 36 of the
consolidated financial statements, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2022, details of the capital commitments of
the Group are set out in Note 34 of the consolidated financial
statements.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's financial condition, results of operations, businesses
and prospects are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties
including business risks, operational risks and financial risks.

The Group's business of commodities trading is exposed to
development risk, as well as supply chain risk. The Group mitigates
these risk factors by developing its customer base in order to achieve
better operating performance on its commodities trading, and
also by expanding its supplier base to achieve a stable supply of
commodities.

The Group's business activities in exploration, development,
production and sale of oil and gas products are susceptible to
geological, exploration and development risks. The Group strives
to establish and maintain comprehensive technical and operational
teams. Through detailed planning, analysis and discussion amongst
the teams, and with support from experienced consultants and
experts, the Group is able to manage and mitigate the risks arising
from changes in the business environment to a reasonably acceptable
level.

In the normal course of business, the Group is exposed to credit
risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, currency risk, price risk arising
from price fluctuation in crude oil, natural gas and commodities, and
equity price risk arising from its investment in equity securities.

In addition to the abovementioned risks and uncertainties, there may
be other risks and uncertainties which the Group has not identified,
or is aware of, or considers it to be of minimal impact to the Group
presently, which however has the potential to become significant in
the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Assets and liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong Dollar, United States Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Argentine
Peso and Renminbi. Most of these assets and liabilities are in the
functional currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate. The currencies giving rise to foreign exchange risk is primarily
those from the Group's exploration and production activities in
Canada and Argentina and investments in foreign companies. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group will monitor the foreign
exchange exposures on an on-going basis and will consider hedging
instruments should the need arise.

Employees

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 132
(2021: 99) permanent employees in Hong Kong, Canada, Argentina
and China. Total employee remuneration (including directors’
remuneration and benefits) for the year ended 31 December 2022
was amounted to HK$102.6 million (2021: HK$31.0 million).
The Group provides its employees with competitive remuneration
packages relative to their job performance, qualifications, experience,
and prevailing market conditions in the respective geographical
locations and businesses in which the Group operates. The Group
also operates mandatory defined contribution retirement benefits
schemes for its employees in Hong Kong, Canada, Argentina and
China as required by the applicable laws and regulations of the
countries where the staff are employed.

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and Other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, social communities and
governments to meet its objectives and long-term goals. Save as
disclosed in Note 36 of the consolidated financial statements, there
was no material or significant dispute between the Group and its
suppliers, customers and/or stakeholders during the year ended 31
December 2022.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group has neither material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies, and joint ventures during the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group held financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, which comprised of listed equity
securities and unlisted fund, of HK$55.9 million, of which none
constituted significant investments of the Group as no single
investment accounted for more than 5% of the Group’s total assets.

The Group had adopted a prudent investment strategy for surplus
funds, aiming at maximising the returns on idle capital. With the
recent improvement in the capital market, the above investment can
achieve the purpose set out in the investment strategy.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
subsequent events after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL AND GAS RESERVES

CANADA

The reserves attributable to the Group, expressed in million barrels

of oil equivalent (“mmboe”) are as follows:

FRR AR AR &R

ngX

FERASENRE(ABEREEE([E
BERaERDWOT:

Reserves as at 31 December 2022
R-B-_—F+-A=+—HZRE
Proved Probable Total
#H I BE &%
(in mmboe) (in mmboe) (in mmboe)
(A& (BEE®H (A&
=) E=2) E2)

Mineral Acreage
Greater Sierra Area
Horn River Basin
Willesden Green
Wapiti

BEEE

Greater Sierraith[&
Horn River& i
Willesden Green
Wapiti

Reserves as at 31 December 2021

R-ZF_—F+_A=t—HZRHE

Mineral Acreage
Greater Sierra Area
Horn River Basin
Willesden Green
Wapiti

BEEE

Greater Sierraith [&
Horn River& i
Willesden Green
Wapiti

Proved Probable Total

R A 1% S &t

(in mmboe) (in mmboe) (in mmboe)
(BERH (BB (B &M
EE) E2) HEE)

20.6 6.5 271

7.9 2.7 10.6

0.3 0.1 0.4

1.4 0.5 1.9

30.2 9.8 40.0
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INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL AND GAS RESERVES
B R AL L B E R

Notes:

3)

(4)

The technical report in respect of the reserves attributable to the Group as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 was prepared using probabilistic methods by GLJ Ltd.,
an oil and gas resource consulting firm located in Calgary, Canada, providing
petroleum resource assessment and related services worldwide, in accordance
with the procedures and standards contained in the Petroleum Resources
Management System (PRMS) of the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE).

Horn River Basin and Greater Sierra Area is located in the province of British
Columbia, and Willesden Green and Wapiti is located in the province of Alberta.

The Group holds approximately 92% average working interest in the mineral
acreage on a Held By Production (“HBP"). HBP leases are continued indefinitely
as long as there are producing wells on the leases and annual mineral rentals
are paid. If production ceases, the government can issue a one-year notice to
return wells to production or mineral rights can revert to the Crown. In British
Columbia, a well requires 720 hours of production per year to be considered
productive. In Alberta, 12 months of continuous non-production result in an
inactive designation.

The above reserves mainly comprise of natural gas (approximately 95%), natural
gas liquid and oil.

LOS BLANCOS CONCESSION

The oil reserves in the Los Blancos Concession are as follows:

B3

(3)

(4)

BRBE-S R —F+=ZA=+—
ARBRASEZFEHRMBRS TIHGL Lid.
(—REHBMEXAREREANAR MR MERF
N - IR AR E R TSR RS 1w B R AR )
BRIEBEABIRMEG (SPE)ZEHEREERS
(PRMS) FREI M2 /7 RAIZE - AM R A RER -

Horn River# ith 2 Greater Sierratth [ i1 A il & A &
54 MWillesden Green & Wapitifiz A SLRE A ©

AEBUFREEE ([HBP ) H A AREEEEL
92%MF Y TEtEm - REMNGFEEERN A
BFEZNBEEMES  HBPE LB & MR HIEE - 10
REEFEL BAUTEHAS—FhEA <hi
MELE ABEERETEN -REFHE —O
HESFLE00E A RRREERF RN
BIEE EEREAATEEGRIEEATIER

LRREFEBERAR (H95%) RARA R
Pay::

LOS BLANCOS 4 :F##E =
A Los BlancosFF T i@ v AHmFHEEAT

At 31 December

At 31 December

2022 2021
R —

+=ZA=+—-8H

Oil

(in mmbbl) (in mmbbl)

=P pap:

Category Gross (100%) BRI # 5T (100%) (BE®) (B&%)
Reserves #H=E

Proved = 1.3

Probable 1B 1.8

3.1
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Notes:

INFORMATION ON NEW TIMES ENERGY'S OIL AND GAS RESERVES
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In July 2016, the Group became a 50% participating partner in the Los Blancos
Concession (formerly known as Chirete Concession) having met all the conditions
precedent as stipulated in the farm-in agreement entered into with Pampa in
April 2015.

The technical report in respect of the reserves as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
was prepared using probabilistic methods by Netherland Sewell & Associates,
Inc (NSAI), a US based petroleum consulting firm, providing petroleum resource
assessment and related services worldwide, in accordance with the procedures
and standards contained in the Petroleum Resources Management System
(PRMS) of the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE) and J@R Consultura S.A., an
Argentina based independent technical advisor, in accordance with the definitions
and guidelines established by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

In October 2018, the Group spudded the HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory well (the
“Well"”). The Well was completed in December 2018. As a result of the positive
indications from the Well, the Group prepared and submitted an oil discovery
report to the provincial authorities of Salta (the “Authorities”) on 26 December
2018. Following successful extended testing of the Well in early 2019, the
Group filed a commerciality declaration and exploitation permit request to the
Authorities on 26 April 2019. The permit was granted on 15 October 2020 under
Decree 622/20, formally entitling the Group to produce crude oil in the area for
the next 25 years.

RZE-—ARFLtA XEBELDHFSEHEPampa
Energla S.A. (BT Petrobras Argentina S.A. )=
E-RFWATLZEALH ZHA ZRGE
X #Los Blancos’ FF#[@ (A8 Chiretes 3 #E (R )
50%22 177 -

EBRHE_Z _—_FR_TZ_—F+_A=+—
ARENRMBREDHEBRARTABERQA
Netherland Sewell & Associates, Inc (NSAIl) (32
BHERFEMT RSO RERE)IREEA
T2 2 g (SPE) 2 AMEREEZEF (PRMS) AT
HEIE 7 RIZ# @R Consultura S.A. (3837 B flT
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MEERR -

RZT—NF+ A REBZIHLG.St.LB.x-2001
PDEH (TZBEH]) HBAHFR T —N\F
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, aged 68, was appointed as an
executive Director in February 2008 and the Chairman in May 2009.
Mr. Cheng holds a Bachelor's degree in Civil and Environmental
Engineering from the University of Wisconsin-Madison, the United
States of America ("USA"); a Master's degree in Civil Engineering
from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong. Being a member of The Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers, Mr. Cheng is a professional engineer with extensive
experience in property development and construction management.

Mr. Cheng joined Hip Hing Construction Company Limited in 1984
as a project manager and was subsequently appointed as director.
From 1993 to 1997, Mr. Cheng was transferred to New World
Development (China) Limited as a director and an assistant general
manager, overseeing property development in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC"). He was a director of NWS Service Management
Limited from 1997 to 2006, and was mainly responsible for
the construction and the electrical and mechanical engineering
businesses and pursuing business opportunities in the PRC. Mr.
Cheng is the managing director of Cheung Hung Development
(Holdings) Limited, principally engaging in property development
in both Hong Kong and the PRC. He was an executive director of
International Entertainment Corporation from January 2008 to June
2017, which shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, aged 70, was appointed as an executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer in June 2017. Mr. Tang
joined the Group as general manager in August 2015. He brings
with him over 20 years of senior management experience and has
held top executive positions with various international companies
prior to joining the Group.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Formally trained as a structural engineer, Mr. Tang was a Chartered
Engineer in the United Kingdom (“UK") as well as a Registered
Professional Engineer in USA and Canada. Author and co-author
of peer-reviewed publications in several technical journals and
conferences, he is also the holder of U.S. Patent US6329589
pertaining to wireless transmission of solar power for exterior curtain
wall in buildings.

Mr. Tang holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering, Magna Cum
Laude, from the University of Massachusetts, USA; a Master’s degree
in Engineering from the University of California, Berkeley, USA; and
a Graduate-Level Diploma in Financial Engineering from Stanford
University, USA.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in March 2019. Mr. Lee is currently a senior vice president
of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (“CTFE") with responsibilities
in making strategic and private equity investments globally. CTFE
is an indirect subsidiary of Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited which is
a controlling shareholder of the Company. Mr. Lee joined CTFE in
March 2013 and has over 15 years of professional experience in
corporate finance, investment, international capital markets and
asset management. He previously worked at the investment banking
department of The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited and Deutsche Bank AG in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee holds a
Master of Science degree in Accounting and Finance from The
London School of Economics and Political Science to the University
of London in London, United Kingdom and a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree from the University of Michigan in Ann Arbor,
United States of America. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst
Charterholder.

Mr. Lee is currently a non-executive director of Integrated Waste
Solutions Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 923) and Giordano
International Limited (stock code: 709) which shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange and is also a member of the HKSAR Financial
Reporting Review Panel.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, aged 70, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director in March 2013. Mr. Yung holds
a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the University of
East Asia, Macau. He is a member of the Institute of Management
and a fellow of the Chartered Management Institute. Mr. Yung has
been engaged in finance and banking businesses for over 27 years.
He was the chief executive officer of Landbridge Holdings Limited,
the deputy chief executive officer of Industrial & Commercial
Bank of China (Macau) Limited and an executive director, deputy
general manager and alternate chief executive officer of Industrial
& Commercial International Capital Limited (currently known as
ICBC International Holdings Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Industrial & Commercial Bank of China Limited.

Mr. CHIU, Wai On, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director in November 2006. Mr. Chiu is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the UK. He possesses extensive professional experience in accounting
and auditing services. Mr. Chiu is currently an independent non-
executive director of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code:
559), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. HUANG, Victor, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in June 2020. Mr. Huang has over 30 years
of experience in professional accounting, capital market and merger
and acquisition. Mr. Huang joined PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong
Kong in January 1993 and admitted to partnership in July 2005.
He left PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong in July 2014. From July
2014 to August 2017, he was a partner of KPMG in Hong Kong.
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INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang is currently an independent non-executive director of
(i) Laobaixing Pharmacy Chain Joint Stock Company (stock code:
603883.SH), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange;
(i) Qingdao Haier Biomedical Co., Ltd. (stock code: 688139.SH), a
company listed on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange; and the following companies which are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, namely (iii) COSCO SHIPPING Energy
Transportation Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1138), (iv) ManpowerGroup
Greater China Limited (stock code: 2180), (v) Scholar Education
Group (stock code: 1769), (vi) Topsports International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 6110) and (vii) Shandong Hi-Speed New Energy
Group Limited (stock code: 1250). Mr. Huang was an independent
non-executive director of Trinity Limited (stock code: 0891) from
December 2018 to December 2020, China Bright Culture Group
(stock code: 1859) from February 2020 to November 2020 and
Evergrande Property Services Group (stock code: 6666) from
November 2020 to November 2021.

Mr. Huang is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive
Director Association. He is also a Certified Independent Non-
executive Director by the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Huang
received a bachelor’s degree of arts from the University of California,
Los Angeles in September 1992.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Senior management includes Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart and Mr.
TANG, John Wing Yan, both are executive Directors of the Company.
Please refer to the section headed “Information of Directors” in this
annual report for their biographies.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of New
Times Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”) present their
report together with the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

An overview and the outlook of the Group’s business are provided
in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
in the above sections, no significant event affecting the Group has
occurred since the end of the Year.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. An
analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Financial Highlights” of
this annual report.

An account of the Group’s relationship with its key stakeholders and
discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
are included in the respective sections headed “Corporate
Governance Report” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Review".

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Directors and management of the Company are
aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
business and operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or
arbitration during the Year. The Directors are also not aware of any
material litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against
the Group during the Year.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 100 to 101 of this annual report.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 219 of this
annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDENDS

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the Year (2021: Nil).

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and investors
to make informed investment decisions relating to the Company, the
Board adopted a dividend policy on 26 March 2019 (the “Dividend
Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to
declare any dividend in the future and the amount of dividend to be
declared, the Company shall consider a number of factors, including
but not limited to:

a. the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

b.  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

c.  the liquidity positions of the Group;

d. the future cash requirements and availability of the Group,
including its expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

e.  any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

f.  the general market conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal and external factors that may
have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

g. any other factor that the Board may consider appropriate.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration, payment
and amount of dividends will be subject to the Board’s discretion.
The Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during
the period from Thursday, 15 June 2023 to Tuesday, 20 June 2023
(both days inclusive), during which no transfers of shares will be
registered, for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be
held on Tuesday, 20 June 2023 (the "AGM"). In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 14 June 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has made no
material acquisitions and disposals.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in Note 30(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DEBENTURES

There were no issue of bonds or debentures of the Company during
the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the share option scheme of the Company disclosed below,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 23 June
2022, the Shareholders approved the adoption of a new share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in place of the old
share option scheme adopted on 17 May 2011 (the “Old Scheme”).
No further share options may be granted under the Old Scheme
upon its termination and share options granted and unexercised
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and exercisable
in accordance with the provisions of the Old Scheme. The Company
had no other outstanding share options under the Old Scheme.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or
rewards to the eligible participants thereunder for their contribution
or would be contributions to the Group and/or enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group. Eligible participants include
any Director (including Non-executive Director and Independent Non-
executive Director) or employee (whether full time or part time). The
Share Option Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or amended will
remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing from 23 June
2022 (the "Date of Adoption” of the Share Option Scheme) to 22
June 2032.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 745,888,098 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 8.47% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at
the date of approval of the limit and such limit may be refreshed
by the Shareholders in general meeting. In addition, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and to be granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme to each
eligible participants (other than an Independent Non-executive
Director or a substantial Shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates) in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of the latest grant of share options must not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue at such date. Any further grant of share options
under the Share Option Scheme in excess of this limit is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting of the Company.
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Under the Share Option Schemes, any grant of share options to a
Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the Independent Non-executive Directors. In addition, any share
options granted to an Independent Non-executive Director or a
substantial Shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective
associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all share options already granted or to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme (including share options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant (i) representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii) having an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, such grant of share options by
the Board must be approved by Shareholders in general meeting of
the Company.

The period within which share options may be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion save that such period shall not be more than 10 years
from the date of grant of the share options and that the Board may
at its discretion determine the minimum period for which the share
options have to be held before the exercise of the subscription right
attaching thereto.

The exercise price of the share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determinable by the Board in its absolute discretion, but
in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such share options; (ii)
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such share options; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme
may be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer upon
payment of a consideration of HK$1 by the grantee.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the circular
of the Company dated 23 May 2022.
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On 22 July 2022, a total of 130,000,000 share options were granted
to the Directors under the Share Option Scheme. Please refer to the
Company’s announcement dated 22 July 2022 for further details.
The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon the exercise of
share options that may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is 875,888,098 Shares. Details of share options held by the eligible
participants and movements in such holdings during the year ended
31 December 2022 are as follow:
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BREHE
Weighted average
Exercise price of closing price Outstanding
per share as at of share hefore Balance Granted Exercised Cancelled asat
Category/ Date of Grant of Exercise period the date of grant the date of asat  duringthe  duringthe  during the Lapsed during 31 December
Name of Grantee share options of share options of share options exercise of options 1 January 2022 period period period  the period 2022
REBRE HERE R-Z-ZF R=B=Zf
BRE REAHZ TR A2 -B-H tZh=t-8
AEABR/#4 R BREZGRAR BRITRE RONETHEGE &8 AL AR HRE# BREN GERiNS
Executive Directors
UnEs
CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart 22 July 2022 220712022 to 21/07/2026 HK$0.138 - - 50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000
gpa “BCCELRCYtIR ZE-CE4R-t-RE 0.138%7
ZRCREAZT-H
TANG, John Wing Yan 22 July 2022 22/07/2022 to 21/07/2026 HK$0.138 HK$0.138 - 50,000,000  (50,000,000) - - -
BB CECCELACTCR CECCELACTCAE 0.138%7 0.138%7
ZRIRELACT-R
Non-executive Director
Y782
LEE, Chi Hin Jacob 22 July 2022 221072022 to 21/07/2026 HK$0.138 - - 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000
r5H kSt = R St g = 0.138%7
ZRRELAZT-H
Independent non-executive
Directors
BukunE:
YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie 22 July 2022 22/07/2022 to 21/07/2026 HK$0.138 - - 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000
558 “ECCFPACCR CECCFEACToAZ 0.138%7
ZRIRELACT-R
CHIU, Wai On 22 July 2022 22/07/2022 to 21/07/2026 HK$0.138 - - 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000
REZ St s B S5 s s = - 0.138%7
ZRCAEEACT-R
HUANG, Victor 22 July 2022 220712022 1o 21/07/2026 HK$0.138 - - 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000
EER CROCEYACTIR CECCELACYCRE 0.138% T
CRCRELACT-H
130,000,000 (50,000,000) - - 80,000,000

Save as disclosed above, no share options were granted or exercised
or cancelled or lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and
the weighted average value per option is provided in notes 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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The total number of share options that may be further granted
under the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report
is 745,888,098 Shares, representing 8.47% of the issued share
capital of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of share
options granted and outstanding under the Share Option Scheme is
80,000,000 Shares, representing 0.91% of the issued share capital
of the Company.

Note 1:

The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the year are as follows:

RAFRBE BIFBRESZTEE—F
X B BB RS R 42 81 5745,888,0980% Ik 15 © #H
ERARREEITIRAS47% -

RAFHRAE REBREFSERDER
17 {56 B A% 1E 42 81 /580,000,000/% A% 17 > #8817
ARBIBEITRA0.91% o

IR
RAFEEEE 2 B ERR G T -

Exercise period and
Contratual life of

Number of options Vesting Conditions options
BRETEER
BREHE SEIEMST AHREH
Options granted:
BERHEREE:
22 July 2022 130,000,000 Vest Immediately on 4 years
22 July 2022
—E-—F+A-+ZH A\—E-__F+tA-+=H 4%
BN 57 /8

The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on
which the options were granted (i.e. 21 July 2022) was HK$0.135
per share. The fair value of options at the respective dates of grant
and the accounting standard and policy adopted for the fair value
of the options is disclosed in note 31 of the consolidated financial
statements.

The share options outstanding as at 31 December 2022 had an
exercise price of HK$0.138 and a remaining contractual life of
3.6 years. The weighted average share price for Mr. TANG, John
Wing Yan at the time of exercising his options during the year was
HK$0.166.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”) and there is no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Company’s securities, they
are advised to consult their professional advisers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie.
Pursuant to the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
Company’s contributed surplus of HK$740,880,000 is currently not
available for distribution. The Company’s share premium account
of HK$4,878,364,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTION

During the Year, the Group did not make any charitable contribution
(2021: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for 57.5% and the largest customer
accounted for approximately 18.6% of the Group's total revenue for
the Year. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 35.3% and the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 10.1% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations for the Year.

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their associates, or
any shareholders of the Company (which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital), had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers
and customers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Jumbo Hope Group Limited (“Jumbo Hope”) a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company entered with New World Tower Company
Limited (the “Landlord”) into the following document:

(i)  an offer letter of tenancy in respect of the lease of the office
unit at Room 1403, 14/F, New World Tower I, 16-18 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong for a term commencing from 1 June
2022 to 31 May 2024 (both dates inclusive), at a monthly
rental of HK$104,125 (exclusive of services charges and
government rates) on 25 May 2022, with total consideration
being approximately HK$2.3 million.

Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited ("CTFC") is a substantial shareholder
of the Company. The Landlord, being a 30% controlled company
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of CTFC, is an associate of CTFC.
Accordingly, the Landlord is a connected person of the Company,
and the entering into of the offer letter of tenancy constituted
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

With the exception of Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, who abstained
from voting on the relevant resolutions to approve the entering into
of the offer letter of tenancy on the grounds of being a relative
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of Dr. CHENG, Kar Shun Henry, the
chairman of New World Development Limited, the immediate parent
company of the Landlord. The Board, including the Independent
Non-executive Directors, has reviewed the connected transaction and
confirmed that they were:

(i)  entered into by the Group in its ordinary and usual course of
businesses;

(i) conducted on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable than those available to or from independent third
parties; and

(iiiy  fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole.

Another similar connected transaction between Jumbo Hope and
the Landlord was executed subsequent to 31 December 2022, and it
was related to an Offer Letter of Tenancy Agreement Il in respect of
the Lease Premise on 1 March 2023 for the period commencing from
15 March 2023 to 31 May 2024. Please refer to the announcement
dated 1 March 2023 for further information.
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EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS, EXEMPT CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Certain amounts of the transactions as set out in Note 33(b) and
Note 33(c) to the consolidated financial statements fall within rule
14A.76(1) or rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, but each of the
transactions sets out in Note 33(b) and Note 33(c) constitutes a
de minimis or fully exempt transaction which was free from the
reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in so far as they are applicable.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or in existence during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were/are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to 31 of
this annual report.

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) of the Bye-laws and the code
provision B.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
and Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan shall retire by rotation at the AGM
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Information on
Directors proposed for re-election will be set out in the circular to
the Shareholders accompanying the resolutions to re-elect them at
the AGM.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 467 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
and officers of the Company is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year. Pursuant to the Bye-laws, the Directors and the
officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets of the Company which may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duties. The Company has maintained liability
insurance to provide appropriate cover for the directors and officers
of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the Year, none of the Directors had entered into a service
contract with the Group which was not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as otherwise disclosed, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, its holding companies or its fellow subsidiaries was party
and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any
time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO")), which were required: (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions in which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein (the “Register”); or (c) pursuant to the
Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
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Capacity/Nature Number of exercised as at capital of
Name of Director of interest Share Options 31/12/22 the Company
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g B/ RERME BREHE COTEBEREZE Bak
Executive Directors
HTES
CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart Beneficial owner 50,000,000 N/A N/A
izt BERBEBA ~ER TER
TANG, John Wing Yan Beneficial owner (Note 1) - 50,000,000 0.57%
HixR ERfEAA (M) 0.57%
Non-executive Director
FHITES
LEE, Chi Hin Jacob Beneficial owner 7,500,000 N/A N/A
FEH EnHEAA NER NER
Independent non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie Beneficial owner 7,500,000 N/A N/A
SiRE ERBBA ~ER ~ER
CHIU, Wai On Beneficial owner 7,500,000 N/A N/A
BE% ERBEBA ~ER ~ER
HUANG, Victor Beneficial owner 7,500,000 N/A N/A
HER ERBEBEA ~ER ~ER
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Note 1:  Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, the executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

of the Company, exercised his 50,000,000 share options on 25 July 2022,
under the Share Option Scheme adopted on 23 June 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which would have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
in which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the Register, or were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors and their respective associates was considered to have any
interest in any businesses that competes with or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee of the Company and approved by the Board, based
on the job responsibilities, the prevailing market conditions of
the industry and the Company’s remuneration policy, operating
performance and profitability.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration and five individuals
with highest emoluments are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes are set out in
Note 2.22(b) to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTSAND FERRZEZRNKRKG EIEEE
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING R HXAE

SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the following corporations had interests R-ZE-_—F+_A=+—HB WA NEER
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company ARG M &M SABR DR HEERIBEES L
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the HiE{EHIEXVEBE2 %37 8168 F /AR A
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were A Bl FE sk s0 A KD B R 15 B H K B E %6
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Z336{(AEFTHFEEZ LM EFTEARRRITIZEE
Section 336 of the SFO and in accordance with information received 2 &R SIAE °

by the Company.

Long position of substantial Shareholders’ interests in FERRRAQRTCRITEBERERZ
issued ordinary shares of the Company "R

Approximate

Number percentage
of issued of the total
ordinary issued share

Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests shares held capital
HE T
FrisE #1T R4 EE
REREH 2 0% £33 -1 ZERHAE BMABES
(Note (vii))
(B = (vii) )
Max Sun Enterprises Limited Beneficially owned 5,737,129,098 65.13%
("Max Sun”) (Note (i))
B EEFRAT BEnlA
([&#1) (ML)
Chow Tai Fook Nominee Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,737,129,098 65.13%
("CTFNL") (Note (ii))
BARBREAGRAG REEEER
(TAXRBREAL) (M)
Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.41%
("CTFHL") (Note (iii))
AXE (ZER)ERAF L E
(TAXBER]) (L))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.41%
("CTFC") (Note (iv))
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited R EE

(ICTFC 1) (BsEGv))
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Approximate

Number percentage
of issued of the total
ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests shares held capital
HE T
FRiFEE 1T R 2 48 2R
R A B, EEMtE EBEREE MABD
(Note (vii))
(Bt aE(vii))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.41%
Limited (“CYTFH") (Note (v))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) EEEE
Limited ([CYTFH 1) (FizE(W))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il)  Interests in a controlled corporation 5,761,900,848 65.41%
Limited (“CYTFH-II") (Note (vi))
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il) ¥ XE#ES
Limited ([CYTFH-II J) (HFE(vi))
Elberta Holdings Limited Beneficially owned 794,850,000 9.02%

Notes:

BEunlEE

As at 31 December 2022:

0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

NEW

The entire issued share capital of Max Sun was legally and beneficially owned by
CTENL.

CTENL held 100% direct interest in Max Sun and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares held by Max Sun.

CTFHL held 99.70% direct interest in CTFNL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFNL.

CTFC held 81.03% direct interest in CTFHL and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFHL.

CYTFH held 48.98% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to have
an interest in the shares of CTFC.

CYTFH-II held 46.65% direct interest in CTFC and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares of CTFC.

The approximate percentage of interests held was calculated on the basis of
8,808,880,988 ordinary shares of the Company in issue.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
recorded no other interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the sections “Exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions, Exempt Connected Transactions and Related Party
Transactions” and “Connected Transaction” in this directors’ report,
no contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any controlling shareholder
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the Year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The changes in information of Directors are set out below pursuant
to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

- The annual remuneration of Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart,
the executive Director and chairman of the Company, has been
adjusted to HK$4,448,000;

- The annual remuneration of Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, the
executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company,
has been adjusted to HK$5,700,000; and

- The annual remuneration of Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, the non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee, has been adjusted to HK$554,040. On
1 December 2022, Mr. Lee was appointed as a non-executive
Director of Giordano International Limited which is listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 709).

- Mr. Huang, Victor was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Shandong Hi-Speed New Energy Group
Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1250) on 19 May 2022.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules
throughout the Year and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 73 to 91 of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any material
subsequent events after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, who will
retire at the conclusion of the AGM. PricewaterhouseCoopers, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM. Accordingly, the Company
has complied with Rule 13.88 of the Listing Rules.

OUTLOOK

The Company will continue to develop and grow while aiming
to improve its financial position, business operation and industry
reputation in order to create long-term value for shareholders.

By order of the Board

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

The Board hereby presents its 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") review, highlighting New Times Energy
Corporation Limited's (hereinafter “New Times Energy” or the
"Group”) ESG policies and performance, prepared in accordance
with the provisions as described in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and other relevant guidance set
out.

New Times Energy is principally engaged in the exploration,
production, and operation of oil and gas assets. Based on the
Group's scoping and materiality assessments, the Board reached the
consensus that the Canadian oil and gas operation, together with
its existing Argentina operation were deemed pertinent for ESG
reporting this financial year.

Although the Group was involved in the business of commodities
trading (in particular physical gold and silver trading) in 2022, this
segment has been scoped out for ESG reporting purposes, due to its
immaterial environmental and social impact, relative to the Group’s
oil and gas businesses.

ESG APPROACH

New Times Energy understands the importance of conducting
business in a socially responsible and ethical manner for its long-
term success. The Board formulates the Group's overall ESG
strategies, policies and objectives, which management is tasked with
implementing, monitoring and reporting.

Under the Board's guidance, management is responsible for
identifying and monitoring ESG issues, risks and opportunities, and
ensuring compliance with relevant laws and regulations governing its
operations.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

During the year, New Times Energy continued to actively to engage
stakeholders to understand their ambitions and expectations in
the development/evolution of the Group's business portfolio and
sustainability agenda.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

RE #S2RERERE

To identify the most significant business segments of the Group
for ESG reporting purposes, key stakeholders including potential
investors, shareholders, professional bodies, peer companies,
directors, management and employees were considered and/or
engaged to understand the latest environmental and sustainability
reporting trends. Materiality considerations from a strategic,
operational, and financial perspective also facilitated the Board in
the overall direction of this report.

New Times Energy strives to further involve and engage its
stakeholders to further improve its ESG reporting. Our oil and gas
concession partners are also periodically consulted during operational
committee meetings for their views and suggestions.

Interested stakeholders may locate ESG information of the Group
from the following sources:

o Annual general meeting and notices,

o Annual reports, interim report, consolidated financial
statements and announcements,

. Corporate website,

. Investors briefings/press releases,

o Notice and circulars,

o Bilateral contracts and supplier agreements, and
o Code of conduct.

STAKEHOLDERS' FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its Environmental,
Social and Corporate Governance initiatives via email at
info@nt-energy.com.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

MISSION AND VISION ON SUSTAINABILITY

Mission

Being engaged in the upstream oil and gas industry, New Times
Energy operates under the mandate of “Health & Safety First”
by adopting the latest best practices to ensure the wellbeing and
security of its employees, contractors, customers, and communities.
The Group strives to continuously improve its health and safety
management practices with the goal of achieving an injury and
incident free workplace.

The Group is committed to ensuring all its plant and equipment are
operationally safe and free of hazards, its employees are properly
trained in safe working practices, and have a clear understanding of
their responsibilities for taking positive steps to improve health and
safety.

New Times Energy is mindful of the increased attention of the oil
and gas industry and its impact on the climate and the environment.
The Group is passionate in the investment and future development
of clean energy for global sustainability.

Plans to redevelop and transform the Group’s 1,200 acres (4.9 km?)
Discovery Park site at Campbell River, British Columbia from a former
pulp mill into a green energy and ecosystem hub have commenced.

The Group's vision is to develop and attract industries including
hydrogen, bio-fuel production, vertical farming, and aquaculture
to create a circular economy at Discovery Park. By redeveloping
Discovery Park into a green energy and ecosystem hub, the Group
can create economic value by reducing waste, and contribute to
better sustainability, climate protection and resource efficiency.

The Group will continue to explore ways to work with local
authorities and governing bodies to achieve the common goal of
net zero emissions, by deploying Carbon Capture, Utilization and
Sequestration (“CCUS") technologies.
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RE #S2RERERE

Vision

The Group is committed to corporate social responsibility, health and
safety, environmental protection, responsible human resources and
labour practices, and community involvement and sustainable value
creation policies wherever it operates in.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

1.0. Environmental Impact and Legal Compliance

As an upstream oil and gas industry participant, New
Times Energy is acutely aware about the impact and
potential risks that its field operations may pose to the
environment and the surrounding ecosystem. The Group
endeavors to adopt best industry practices and guidelines
in the management of environmental risks from its
operations in Canada and Argentina.

The Group policy for managing environmental impact
include regular monitoring of air quality, preemptive
maintenance, early detection and repair of emission
sources, improving energy use efficiency, independent
environmental audits and close liaison with potentially
affected local community. The Group strictly complies
with all relevant environmental laws and regulations in all
jurisdictions it operates in.

1.1. Type of Emissions

During 2022, the Group’s main emission sources were
from diesel fuel, electricity, water, and natural gas
consumption. Our oil and gas businesses are strictly
regulated under the respective Canadian federal and
provincial acts and regulations, and national laws
and regulations of Argentina. Regulatory updates are
continually monitored to ensure the Group is compliant,
and how potential amendments may impact operations.

Fugitive emissions are unintentional releases of gas
or fumes resulting from production, processing,
transmission, storage, and delivery of gas. This may occur
from breaks or small cracks in seals, tubing, valves and
pipelines, or when lids or caps on equipment or tanks
have not been properly closed or tightened. In Canada,
the Group manages its fugitive emissions through its
Fugitive Emissions Management Program (“FEMP"”) and
Leak Detection and Repair (LDAR) in accordance with the
applicable provincial regulations and guidelines.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Fugitive emissions surveys or screenings are completed
throughout the year to detect possible leaks to ensure
timely repair of equipment, where applicable. The FEMP
improves safety through early detection and repair of
emission sources, which in turn reduces Greenhouse Gas
("GHG") emissions and Volatile Organic Compounds
(VOCs). It also improves overall air quality and operational
efficiency.

GHG Emissions

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)

In 2022, a total of 369,206 tonnes (2021 Post-Acquisition
Period: 88,106 tonnes) of carbon dioxide equivalent
(tCO,-eq) greenhouse gases (carbon dioxide, methane,
and nitrous oxide) was discharged by the Group's
Canadian assets (British Columbia and Alberta). Gross
production was 4,248,928 boe (2021 Post-Acquisition
Period: 1,247,780 boe). The calculated carbon intensity
was 0.0869 tCO,-eq/boe (2021 Post-Acquisition Period:
0.0706 tCO,-eq/boe).

For the Group’s Argentina operation, 1,377 tonnes of
direct GHG emissions was discharged in the year (2021:
674 tonnes). Gross annual production was 399,380 bbl
(2021: 285,140 bbl) of crude oil. The calculated carbon
intensity was 0.0034 tCO,-eq/bbl (2021: 0.0024 tCO,-eq/
bbl).

Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)

Purchased electricity is the main source of indirect GHG
emissions for the Group’s Canada operation. However,
since electricity is sourced by a nearby hydro-power plant,
the indirect GHG emission is negligible and excluded for
reporting purposes.

For the Argentina operation, 945 tonnes of indirect GHG
was emitted, with a calculated carbon intensity of 0.0023
tCO,-eq/bbl (2021: 657 tonnes and 0.0023 tCO,-eq/bbl).
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Although certain GHG emissions cannot be avoided
due to the inherent nature of the upstream oil and gas
industry, the Group endeavors to reduce emission where
possible, such as preventing leaks, minimizing flaring and
venting, and improving energy efficiency of its operations
and facilities.

The Group is exploring ways in which it can collaborate
with local authorities to develop and deploy CCUS at its
Canada operation.

Hazardous Waste

During the production process from the Group’s oil and
gas operations, hazardous waste may be generated
from possible minor spillage, replacement of spare parts
and lubrication oil, filters, rags, soaker pads and other
materials. 129 cubic meters ("“m3”) of hazardous waste
was generated by Canada operation in the year, whilst
5 m? was generated by Argentina operation (2021 Post-
Acquisition Period and 2021 respectively: Nil).

Non-Hazardous Waste

In 2022, the Canada operation generated 3,094 m3 of
liquid waste and 5,437 tonnes of solid waste (2021 Post
Acquisition: 34 tonnes of solid waste only).

Approximately 50,000 litres of waste oil was recycled
by a third party on behalf of the Canadian operation
during the year (2021 Post-Acquisition Period: 9,561
litres). Whilst 1,326 m3 of by-product water generated by
Canada operation was deposited into injection wells in
2022 (2021 Post-Acquisition Period: 6,470 m?3).

The Argentina operation generated 5 tonnes of organic
and inorganic waste (2021: 8 tonnes). Inorganic waste
included plastic and glass, whilst organic waste was
mainly the by-product from the facilities and camp.
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1.5 BEEEEYRHFEZENRK

Measures taken for the disposal of Hazardous and

Non-Hazardous Waste

Measures adopted for the disposal of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste in both the Canada and Argentina
operations include:

o Scheduled inspection and maintenance of plant and
equipment,

o Transportation of contaminated material to
approved waste management facilities for
treatment, disposal and recycling, as applicable,

o Training and education of employees,
o Conduct pre-job briefing,

o Spillage prevention programs and remedial action
plans are imbedded as part of daily activities and
operational practices,

° Waste volume reduction initiatives,
. Close supervision, and
o Continuous improvement plans.

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are separated at
origin. For hazardous waste, the treatment, collection,
and final disposal is managed by qualified professional
handlers. The Group provides directive for segregation
and classification of non-hazardous waste to aid
recycling initiatives. For non-hazardous waste treatment,
the organic waste is buried and composted, while the
inorganic waste is incinerated. Non-hazardous waste that
cannot be treated or recycled may be managed by direct
landfill disposal or alternative methods, as appropriate.
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1.6. Abandonment and Environment Restoration

In Canada, the Group operates over 1,000 wells, of
which approximately 800 wells are active and producing
hydrocarbons. For the inactive and non-producing wells,
the Group is committed to working closely with all
stakeholders to decommission and remediate those sites
to their original land use.

When a decision is made to permanently cease operations
at a well site, pipeline or facility, the asset must be
decommissioned, remediated, and reclaimed. A well
is considered decommissioned when the remediation
and restoration of both the downhole and surface
components, and removal of all surface equipment has
been completed.

Once a site is fully decommissioned, the environmental
assessments, remediation (if applicable) and reclamation
activities can commence. Initial environmental
assessments involve investigating a site for potential
environmental impacts and subsequently developing a
site-specific plan to achieve full reclamation, as necessary.

A risk-based closure approach will be used to evaluate
alternative remedial and reclamation options to reduce
costs and expedite the closure of the dormant sites.
This approach allows the Group to identify most
environmentally friendly and cost effective way to manage
site reclamation activities.

In 2022, a total 208 environmental assessments were
completed at different well sites. Applications for a
Certificate of Restoration were submitted for 9 locations,
reclamation assessments were completed at 17 locations,
Intrusive Environmental Assessments were completed
at 9 locations, and 182 Stage 1 Environmental Site
Assessments were completed in 2022 (2021 Post-
Acquisition Period: 17 environmental assessment/
remediations). As part of the Canadian government’s
initiative to promote site remediation work, the Group
received government approved funding of C$9,500
per well site. The findings and recommendations
identified in the final reports will be rolled into the 2023
environmental restoration work.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

In Argentina, the Group continues to comply with the
annual environmental monitoring obligations of the
provincial authority of Salta, and schedule for the plug
and abandonment of dormant wells.

Use of Resources

2.0.

2.1

Electricity

During the year, the electricity consumption by the
Canada operation was 4,437,819 Kilowatt-hour ("kWh"),
of which Discovery Park accounted for 4,248,928 kWh
(2021 Post-Acquisition Period: 234,412.7 kWh), with an
energy intensity of 0.511 kWh/boe (2021 Post-Acquisition
Period: 0.171 kWh/boe). Whilst for the Argentina
operation, electricity consumption was 22,360 kWh for
the year (2021: 20,640 kWh), with an energy intensity of
0.056 kWh/bbl (2021: 0.072 kWh/bbl).

To embrace the Group’s efficient energy use initiative, all
staff are encouraged to minimize energy consumption,
where practicable. Examples include encouraging the
switching-off of any unnecessary lighting and unused
electronic equipment, minimising the idling of motor
vehicle engines when temporarily waiting, turning
down air conditioning, etc. Furthermore, the Group
has a procurement policy of purchasing energy efficient
equipment and extending the use of existing assets/
replacement intervals for sustainability.

The Group is committed to efficient energy use by
regulating all operations in accordance with industry
standards and regulatory requirements. Moving forward,
energy use efficiency targets and steps to achieve them
may be established, where appropriate.

Fuel

The Group uses a combination of vans, pickup trucks and
cars for its personnel transportation. The Groups’ fleet
of motor vehicles operate using compressed natural gas/
propane, gasoline or diesel. When evaluating vehicles for
purchase/lease, the Group will consider factors including
safety, reliability, maintenance cost, fuel efficiency, and
price.
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2.2

2.3

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e 37 (X 82

=] &8

During 2022, Canada operation’s fuel consumption of
compressed natural gas was 71,215 E3m? (thousand cubic
meters), propane was 49,911 litres (2021 Post Acquisition
Period: 71,021 litres propane only), and diesel 369,817
litres (2021 Post-Acquisition Period: 82,581 litres). In
Argentina, the diesel consumption for the year was
17,073 litres (2021: 12,928 litres).

Packaging Material

No packaging material is used by the Group's oil and
gas businesses. Natural gas produced by the Canada
operation is delivered by a network of pipelines operated
by third party companies. In Argentina, the production of
crude oil is stored in oil tanks at Los Blancos, before it is
despatched to customers by oil tanker trucks capable of
transporting approximately 35 m?® per trip.

Water Consumption

Water consumption by the Group’s oil and gas business
mainly arises from on-site facilities/camp daily usage
i.e. drinking, catering, bathrooms, cleaning, dirt road
irrigation. No issues were encountered in sourcing fit for
purpose water.

During 2022, Canada operation’s water consumption was
1,419 m? (2021 Post Acquisition Period: 325 m?3), whilst
Argentina was 506 m? (2021: 655 m?).

Conscious that water is a scare resource, the Group is
always striving to preserve this natural resource by using
it in the most economical ways without compromising
heath, safety and hygiene. The Group is committed
to the sustainable use of water. Efficiency targets
will be considered and implemented in future, where
appropriate.
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Environment and Natural Resources
3.0 Sustainability

3.1

Sustainability initiatives and green culture permeates
throughout the Group. We strive to operate in an
environmentally friendly and sustainable manner by
adopting green practices including:

o Use of recycled paper,
o Printers configured to print double sided by default,

o Return of used printer and copier ink toner cartridge
to manufacturer for recycling and reuse,

o Switching-off lights, computers and office
equipment when not in use,

o Replacement with energy efficient alternatives, and

o Adjustment of air conditioning settings to reduce
power consumption.

For replaced furniture and computer equipment, the
Group’s practice is to first offer these items to employees
for personal use, before it is disposed or recycled.

Climate Change

New Times Energy recognises the potentially disruptive
impact that climate change may bear on its oil and
gas operations. The Group continues to deepen its
understanding of climate change impacts by on-going
risk assessments, and devising appropriate mitigation
strategies.

Significant climate change related issues which may
impact the Group include:

Heatwave

- Increases the risk of employees’ health
- Energy and water consumption

Rainy season

- Increases the risk of flooding of facilities

- Disruption to access roads and transportation routes
Coldwave

- Increases in demand for oil and gas

- Increases the risk of employees’ health

The Group responds to the challenges brought by climate
change by having management mitigation measures and
special emergency plans in place and ready.
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B. SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
4.0. Employment

4.1.

New Times Energy recognises that its employees are one
of its most valuable assets. The Group’s policy is to hire,
train and retain employees with professional skills that
best enable it achieve its strategic objectives, in a non-
discriminatory matter. This is based on the following
recruitment principles:

o Respect and trust at all levels, in all circumstances
without exception,

o Transparency and honesty in professional
relationship,

. Open and effective communication,
o Willingness to cooperate and help others, and
o Equal opportunity.

Recruitment and compensation are based on qualification,
experience, skills and performance. The Group offers
competitive compensation and benefits packages
aligned to local market rates for comparable roles and
responsibilities in the industry. The Company's hiring
practice is to recruit locally, with the exception of certain
key managerial, technical or professional positions, where
it may not be possible or appropriate to fill locally.

During 2022 and 2021, all employees of the Group’s
Canada and Argentina operations were employed on
a full-time basis. The Group understands personal
circumstances of employees may change, therefore on
a case by case basis, the Group may offer part-time
opportunities, where practicable.

Promotion and Performance Evaluation

Promotion and salary increments, outside of the Group’s
discretionary annual salary inflationary adjustment, is
subject to a responsibilities and performance evaluation.
An individual's promotion and remuneration are closely
correlated to their job responsibilities, performance, and
achievements. The Group operates a policy of internal
promotion, whenever possible.
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4.3.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW
RE g kEROHE

The Group ensures its employees are evaluated on their
job performance through the application of objective
measures. The human resources department coordinates
and verify the performance of each employee, in relation
to mutually agreed objectives established at the beginning
of each appraisal year. The performance evaluation
is carried out annually by the employee’s immediate
supervisor.

Dismissal

The Group may at any time, terminate an employee when
his or her behaviour or attitude is not satisfactory, or
does not meet the performance standards established/
necessary for the position. In all cases, termination
procedures will strictly adhere to minimum requirements
established by the Law in the Labour Code or relevant
local laws.

Employee Turnover Rate

During the year, there were 23 (2021: 3) staff turnover
to report for the Group. The increase was due to post-
acquisition restructuring of the Group’'s Canadian
business. These persons left on amicable terms and for
reasons of personal development elsewhere or relocation.

4.2.

4.3.

Employee Turnover
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Hong Kong Canada Argentina Total

2022 —E-CF b nex R E @t
Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male
zHE B i BHE it B Oz BH
18-25 18-254% - - - - - - - -
26-35 26-355% - - 3 5 2 4 7
36-45 36-455% 1 1 2 6 - 1 3 8
46-55 46-55%; - - - - - 1 - 1
56 and above 565 kM £ - - - - - - - -
1 1 5 1 1 4 7 16
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4.4.

4.5.

Employee Turnover

BIRKZ
Hong Kong Canada* Argentina Total
2021 —B--fF BiE mex* FARE At
Female Male Female Male Female Male Female Male
zH BH Mt BM it B e BiE
18-25 18-25% - - - - - - - -
26-35 26-355% - 1 - - - - - 1
36-45 36-455 - 2 - - - - - 2
4655 46-555 - - - - - - - -
56 and above 567 M A & - - - - - - - -
- 3 - - - - - 3
* Note: the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period. M NEAERBREREZEBREOR
e
Workplace Rights and Competitive Competition 44 TEHEBEFIRBEFD
The Group operates in compliance with the employment/ REBTERETE  TIERRE B
labour laws of the jurisdictions it has physical presence, R M nfE R 7 E & F BB
in regards to minimum pay, working hours, overtime and ERMEREZEBEERNER 43
fringe benefits. In addition, the company offers medical Eo kN AR B REEEET R
benefits and life insurance coverage. SRR
Equal Opportunity 4.5 FEH=E

The Group is proud to be an equal opportunity employer
and believes in the fair treatment of all existing and
prospective employees, regardless of their age, gender,
marital status, family status, disability, pregnancy,
nationality, ethnicity, sexual orientation, religion and
culture, or any other discrimination prohibited by
applicable law.

Furthermore, the Group does not discriminate against or
deprive of any opportunities in respect of recruitment,
training and development, job advancement, and
compensation and benefits. The Group’s Codes of Ethic
adopts a strict zero tolerance approach to any forms of
discrimination or harassment in the workplace.
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4.6. Workplace and Corporate Communication
New Times Energy adopts an “open door” policy to
encourage open communication, feedback, discussion,
knowledge sharing amongst its employees. Through this
“open door” policy, the Group aims to foster a culture
of mutual trust, respect and understanding, to build
strong, cooperative, and productive working relationships.
Routine emails and regular scheduled office-wide
meetings are held to circulate information and provide

updates to all employees.

4.7. Composition of Workforce

4.6.

4.7.

R #HERERERE

THEHIREFEN

#i CREIRER A [FIP R B -
NexBh B EETRABRE R
B RREABERAE - ARERE
B [FIPRR] BRIEEER
BEENEHBOXIE BYIBE-
BREBERBNITIE@ER - ABE
ERMMFRTBEHERAM
BREZMUEE LR &I EF -

18 S B B 494 A

Employee’s Gender Distribution

BESHRAH
Female Male Total
2022 gt -3 pgi 1 @t
Canada JIIEFN 24 26.4% 67 73.6% 91 100.0%
Argentina B 4R £ 9 27.3% 24 72.7% 33 100.0%
Total F 33 26.6% 91 73.4% 124 100.0%
Employee’s Gender Distribution
REEMERAH
Female Male Total
2021* ZECZ - g3 B @t
Canada nex 14 25.5% 41 74.5% 55 100.0%
Argentina R iRz 10 28.6% 25 71.4% 35 100.0%
Total @t 24 26.7% 66 73.3% 90 100.0%
* Note: the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period. * B aE e RBUR W = W & B

B o
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Employee’s Age Distribution
RESERAMH
18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 and above Total
2022 —E-CF 18-25% 26-355% 36-455% 46-555% 565 &M £ @it
Canada mex 5 5.5% 16 17.6% 27 29.7% 25 21.5% 18 19.8% 91 100.0%
Argentina R E - 0.0% 3 9.1% 12 36.4% 15 45.5% 3 9.1% 33 100.0%
Total @i 5 4.0% 19 153% 39 315% 0 323% 21 16.9% 124 100.0%
Employee’s Age Distribution
RESERAH
18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56 and above Total
2021* B 18-2585 26-355 36-455% 46-555% 56m & ML @it
Canada mex 3 5.5% 14 25.5% 15 27.3% 16 29.1% 7 12.7% 55 100.0%
Argentina RiRE - 0.0% 3 8.6% 15 42.9% 14 40.0% 3 8.6% 35 100.0%
Total it 3 3.3% 17 18.9% 30 33.3% 30 33.3% 10 11.1% 90  100.0%

* Note: the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period.

Health and Safety

Health and Safety ("H&S") is fundamental to the Group by
virtue of the nature of the business it is operating and engaged
in.

5.0. Laws and Regulation Compliance
Critical to all oil and gas operations is rigorous and robust
H&S processes/procedures. The Group endeavours to
adopt best practices in health and safety management
and is strictly in compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations governing H&S, in the jurisdictions it operates
in.

A policy of open communication is actively encouraged,
where employees can raise and share any H&S
concerns that they may encounter with their team
and management, and “stop the job"” interventions
are positively encouraged if any employee identifies a
potential H&S risk that needs immediate review.
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Health and Safety Measures

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy
working environment for its employees, and continuously
promotes a strong H&S culture and mindset. Some
examples of these measures include:

o Internal employees and external parties are subject
to H&S orientation at the beginning of their
employment or engagement,

o All visitors of field operations being subject to safety
briefing of the site,

o Dedicated H&S specialists on site responsible for
performing risk assessments, and developing safe
working practices,

o On a daily basis, and prior to the commencement
of field operations, H&S briefings and planning
meetings are conducted with participation by all
employees including management team,

o On a weekly basis, employees participate in H&S
review meetings to discuss any important H&S
events,

o On a quarterly basis, all field and office staff receive
free health check service,

o Dedicated 24 hours’ nurse arrangements on site to
deal with any first aid or medical emergency,

. Anti-harassment policy,

o Drug and alcohol policy,

o Respiratory program,

o Asbestos management program,

o Identify education/training needs in H&S,

o Conducting safety inspections and risk assessments
for each task,

5.1.
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5.2,

5.3.

o Building and implementing fire safety plans that
comply with local code requirements, and

o Establish and review safety standards and policies
(quarterly, yearly or as needed).

Road Transportation Safety Measures
Employees are trained and encouraged in the art of
defensive driving,

Company vehicles are installed with GPS monitoring
systems to track journey and any inappropriate or unsafe
driving behaviours, and

The Group's driving policy restrict employees to only drive
during daylight hours, where possible, and to consider
the necessity of any journey, before embarking.

Safety Incidents

The Group monitors its H&S performance via various
metrics, including injury and fatal incident rates, injury
free work hours, and sick days.

Contractors are also subject to the same stringent Group
H&S standards. Proof of adequate H&S training and
certification are requested before the Group engages and
endorses a contractor to operate on its facilities.

5.2.

5.3.
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Occupational Health and Safety Data

BERRYRE

Canada Argentina Total

neEX FRE o
2022 2021* 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
B —T-_—G+x"8B--fF —T-—F —T-TE ZF--F —T-_-—F —_FT-_TF
Work related fatality RAITRE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Work injury cases >3 days ~ BA=RUEMTHEER 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Work injury cases <3 days ~ BEAZRUTHIGER 3 1 1 1 2 4 2 2
Lost days due to work injury ET{EEROTERH 0 0 1 1 2 1 1 2

* Note: the data for Canada covers the Post-Acquisition Period. * Bt 5 I KB R = W & AR
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Development and Training
6.0. Improving staff knowledge and experience

The human resources department coordinates training
activities according to business needs and staff
performance evaluation, or when the position requires.
All training requirements follow the training procedure
set out in the Human Resources Policies.

The Group offers external training courses as well
internal on-the job training and peer coaching. Example
of courses attended by employees during the reporting
year included language skills, business administration,
leadership, conflict management, accounting, safety,
project management, oil and gas engineering related
subjects.

A total of 737 hours was invested by the Group on
external training in the year for its Canada and Argentina

operations (2021: 223 hours).

ANERBERIBERLERT
CEETILES T 293 1vs
KEZHEIED AR E
258 A ) B R BT L 35 9182
R

AEBEREHINE SRR - WEPE
BRIk AEHE RREFEN
BEZNNREBREEFTRE B
XER FAETR AREER g
2 - HEBERE LKA
RIIZHBRRE -

RNEBRFERNE NS K NEITE
AT ETS IR AR SN RS B 65 B £ 737
N (Z B — 1 223/N\F) o

Training =3 2022 2021%
—E=-= = e
Total training hours 4835 515 B 737 223
Average training hours 19 85 51 e 2R 5.9 6.2
Average training hours by category: REBI S EZFH
S
General and Technical Staff —MBEREMETL 5.9 6.2
Managerial Staff BEEET 6.3 6.0
Average training hours by category: B4R 2 EZFH
IR B
Female 74 8.3 7.0
Male St 5.1 5.9
Percentage of employees trained RENEZZI
by category: EEBRL:
General and Technical Staff —MBEREMET 83% 79%
Managerial Staff BEREEET 78% 77%
Percentage of employees trained BB EZ2Z
by gender: EEEDL:

Female 7z 75% 78%
Male S 80% 81%
* Note: data includes Canada operation for Post-Acquisition Period * B 5 BURE B R & B

only. BEREBEHE-
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Labour Standard
7.0 Policy

Governed by fair employment practices, the Group strictly
complies with the requirements of local labour laws and
regulations, and strictly prohibits the use of any child and
forced labour, or any forms of illegal labour in the Group
operations. The Group ensures compliance by performing
identity verification checks on employee during hiring
process. In the unlikely event of non-compliance, the
Group would remedy the breach, investigate the matter,
discipline those responsible, review procedures and
implement further preventive controls, where possible.

Operating Practices
8.0 Supply Chain Management

New Times Energy has a standardised procurement
procedure for selecting suppliers and vendors, which
includes technical and commercial evaluation, i.e. quality,
delivery times, sustainability, environmental and social
risk, continuity, legal and regulatory compliance and cost.
Typically, supplier selections are conducted through a
competitive tendering process with a minimum three bids/
quotes required, where practicable.

The Group endeavours to source sustainably by
purchasing locally, to minimise its logistical carbon
footprint, reduce shipping costs and benefit the local
economy. Environmental and social risk are identified by
mapping the supply chain, and understanding potential
impacts and options available, subject to aforementioned
evaluation criteria. During 2022, the geographical
location of Argentina operation’s main suppliers was
in the province of Salta, where its production facility
and office are situated. A total 18 suppliers engaged by
Argentina operation were from Salta province (2021: 20),
with no suppliers from neighbouring Formosa province
(2022: Nil), whilst the Canada operation for the year
engaged 4 suppliers from British Colombia (2021 Post-
Acquisition Period: 1), and 5 suppliers from Alberta (2021
Post-Acquisition Period: Nil).
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8.1. Product Responsibility

Consumer Data Protection

The Group is engaged in the business of oil and gas
production and sales, as governed by the terms and
conditions of the agreements with its customers.

The Group is mindful of the importance of protecting
consumer data confidentiality. Key measures implemented
by the Group include system access controls, physical
security controls and network access levels controls
based on role requirements. File password and encryption
software are used during electronic data transmission. In
the event of non-compliance, the Group's whistle-blowing
procedures and escalation system as detailed below is
available.

Quality Assurance and Complaints

The quality and volumes of oil and gas sold are subject
to the IRAM or ASTM, or other applicable international
standards. In the event of any differences/disputes in
the quality and volumes of oil and gas sold, the normal
recourse would be a price adjustment/discount but no
product recall, after a test of sample by an independent
laboratory. The Group received no product or service
complaints in the year (2021: Nil).

Anti-corruption
9.0. Ethical compliance

The Group is committed to managing its business in
an open, transparent, and fair manner, without any
untoward external influence/pressures. All directors
and employees joining the Group are provided self
learning anti-corruption training material which they
must familiarize and refresh their knowledge on an
annual basis. During their tenure, they are required to
strictly follow the Group's Code of Ethics to prevent
potential bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
Employees are regularly reminded of the Group's anti-
corruption policies and their strict adherence.
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Whistle-blowing procedures for misconduct and
malpractice (including corruption) are clearly established
in the Group's anti-corruption policy. If a suspected
report is received, the Group will investigate with strict
confidentiality. The Group has established a whistle-
blowing escalation system, where the procedure is to
report any suspicious activities to the whistle-blower’s
immediate supervisor. If a matter involves the immediate
supervisor, then the whistle-blower should escalate direct
to next level management. Alternatively, the matter may
be confidentially reported via the Group's whistleblowing
and ethics hotline.

There were no legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees during the
year (2021: Nil).

Community

Potentially disruptive social impacts from the Group’'s drilling
projects and production facilities on nearby local communities
are managed by maintaining open channels of communications
with affected landowners and local communities for a
harmonious co-existence.

10.0. Liaising and Involving the Community
The Group has a dedicated community liaison officer who
works closely with any affected indigenous people in both
Canada and Argentina. The Group is in regular dialogue
to ensure operational transparency and to understand
and resolve any affected communities’ concerns.

The importance of community involvement is a priority
where the Group operations are within proximity of
inhabitants. The Group’s maintains an open-door
approach, operating in an ethical and transparent manner
within the community. Emphasis is placed on community
involvement, to increase awareness, to establish a positive
and responsible reputation within these important
stakeholders. This approach allows the Group to establish
meaningful connections, wherever it has a presence.
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10.1.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW

In Canada, the Group's close relationship with the Acho
Dene Koe First Nation, Dene Tha' First Nation, Fort Nelson
First Nation and Prophet River First Nation as well as with
Ligwi da'xw people; the Wei Wai Kai, Wei Wai Kum and
Kwiakah First Nations is an integral part of the social
fabric and this relationship is thriving. We also donate
to the Habitat to Humanity that builds strength, stability
and self-reliance through shelter. Habitat for Humanity
is a non-profit organization that helps families build
and improve places to call home. The Group believes
affordable housing plays a critical role in strong and
stable communities.

Community Advancement

The Group positively contributed to the standard of living
for the local indigenous communities during the year
by several initiatives and programs in both Canada and
Argentina. This included upskilling people by providing
training on electrical maintenance, and donation of
materials and basic essential tools, in order to promote
and improve their self-sustainability.

The Group also participated in several community
improvement projects, including training local inhabitants
on how to set up micro enterprises, re-designing the
layout of a livestock farm, providing support to local
villages in carpentry, wood and textile handicrafts by
modernising their tools. The Group also aided the
medical centre near Los Blancos by assisting with the
cost of replacement ambulance and defibrillators of
approximately HK$350 thousand equivalent. Additionally
19 people from the local community were offered
temporary employment on rotation during the year.

RiE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REVIEW
RE - #gkEEEE

C. FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS TOWARD C TEHEZRENRRERSMD

SUSTAINABILITY

The Group recognises the world is moving towards a low
carbon economy, as it attempts to satisfy commitments set
forth in the Paris Agreement. Energy transition being at the
forefront, moving from high CO, emission energy sources
such as coal and oil, towards renewables and zero emission
sources. The Group is planning to transform Discovery Park site
into a green energy and ecosystem hub. The Group’s vision
is to develop and attract industries including hydrogen, bio-
fuel production, vertical farming, and aquaculture to create a
circular economy. By redeveloping Discovery Park into a green
energy and ecosystem hub, the Group can contribute to better
sustainability, climate protection and resource efficiency. In
addition, the Group continues to discuss with local authorities
with a view to the possibility of initiating CCUS at its Canada
operation.

Going forward, the Group plans to extend its community
engagement activities and find more ways of “giving back”, by
exploring how the Group can also contribute in non-financial
ways, such as volunteering, school talks, and donating of used
computer and office equipment. For environmental initiatives in
2023, the Group's continuing plans include:

o Evaluating how environmental risks are being managed at
the Group's operating facilities,

o Evaluating current environmental site conditions at
inactive sites,

o Developing a decommissioning and reclamation program
to save costs and efficiently reduce environmental liability,
and

o Completing 2023 planned remediation works.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the
Company and management of the Group strive to attain and
maintain high standards of corporate governance best suited to the
needs of its businesses and interest and value of the shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) as the Board believes that
effective governance is essential to the maintenance of the Group’s
competitiveness and to its healthy growth.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

On 1 January 2022, the amendments to the Corporate Governance
Code (the “New CG Code"”) came into effect and the requirements
under the New CG code will apply to corporate governance reports
for financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. The
Board will continue to review and enhance its corporate governance
practice of the Company to ensure compliance with the New CG
Code and align with the latest developments.

The Company has adopted and applied the principles of the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the "Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company periodically
reviews its corporate governance practices to ensure its continuous
compliance with the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December
2022 (the "Year"), the Company complied with all code provisions
of the CG Code and adopted the recommended best practices of the
CG Code insofar as they are relevant and practicable, apart from the
deviations as described in this Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS' SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he
had complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, one non-
executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors as
follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie

Mr. CHIU, Wai On

Mr. HUANG, Victor

Number of
Directors
EFEEAH
6 Executive
5 Director
WITES
4
3
2
1
0
Gender Designation Ethnicity
331l 18RS A% &k

The Board has a balanced composition of Executive and Non-
executive Directors with each Director having sound knowledge,
experience and expertise contributing to the performance and
development of the Group. All Directors are aware of their collective
and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties of care, skill and diligence.

The Board members do not have any financial, business, family
or other material and/or relevant relationships with each other.
Biographical details of the Board members are set out in the
“Information of Directors” section of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to diversify the Board. The Company seeks
to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional and industrial experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service, and any other factors that the
Board might consider relevant and applicable. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has set the measurable objectives based
on gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience and skills and knowledge for the implementation of
Board diversity of the Company.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the Policy, on
a regular basis, to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to
time. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

Based on the latest review, the Nomination Committee considers
the Board to be diverse in respect of the aforesaid evaluation criteria
though the current Board consists of members with single gender.
The Nomination Committee will continue to ensure that diversity is
taken into consideration when assessing Board composition.

Although the Board and the senior management currently consist
of male members only, the Company appreciates the importance
of gender diversity and believes that gender diversity will be a
representing manifestation of Board diversity among all other
measurable objectives. The Board targets to appoint at least one
female member to the Board by the end of 2023 in order to comply
with Listing Rule 13.92 that came into effect on 1 January 2022. The
nomination policy of the Company can then ensure that there will
be a pipeline of potential successors to the Board which continues
the gender diversity in the Board. Similar considerations shall also
be in place to assess the candidacy of the senior management team
from time to time.

As at 31 December 2022, the gender ratio of the Group's workforce
was approximately 73% male to 27% female due to oil and gas
and commodities trading business industries traditionally have less
female participants. The Company’s hiring is merit based and non-
discriminatory. The Board is satisfied that the Company has achieved
gender diversity in its workforce.
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The Group is determined to maintain gender diversity and equality
in terms of the whole workforce, and to procure the senior
management team to achieve gender equality in terms of the gender
ratio within a medium-term time frame. The Company expects the
above is achievable with suitable effort in promoting the gender
diversity culture, which the Group has been advocating for.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and collectively responsible for promoting success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
The Board also formulates objectives, overall corporate strategies
and business plans, and oversees the financial and management
performance of the Group. Day-to-day functions and authorities are
delegated to the management, which include the implementation of
objectives, strategies and plans adopted by the Board and the day-
to-day management of the Group's business. There are established
procedures for the Directors upon reasonable request, to seek
independent advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

Apart from the regular Board meetings and pursuant to code
provision C.2.7 of the CG Code, the chairman has also met with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
executive Directors during the year. The independent non-executive
Directors are encouraged to provide their independent views to the
Board.

Corporate governance functions

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board performing corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors of the Company;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (in any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Company; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year for the
reviewing and approval of the Company’s financial and operating
performance, as well as the consideration and approval of the overall
strategies and policies of the Company. Apart from the regular
board meetings, the Board met on other occasions where necessary.
Throughout the Year, Directors also participate in the consideration
and approval of routine and operational matters of the Company by
way of circulating resolutions.

During the Year, the Board held four regular meetings. To facilitate
maximum attendance of the Directors and to provide opportunity
to include matters in the agenda for the Board meetings, notices of
regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days
before the regular meetings while reasonable notice is generally
given for other meetings. Meeting agenda together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are normally given
to all Directors no less than 3 days prior to each Board meeting to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Company Secretary is
responsible to ensure that Board meetings comply with the relevant
procedures, rules and regulations. All Board meeting minutes record
the details of the matters discussed and decisions made. Board
minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and signed by respective
Directors.

Directors’ attendance of the Board Meetings and Annual General
Meeting (“AGM") held during the Year are set out below:
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Number of
Board Meetings AGM
attended/held attended/held
EEEER HE BT
Name of Directors EEHR HIEBITRE BRAEFA®
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart BRERBEE (£E)

(Chairman)
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan
(Chief Executive Officer)

KB E (TTEAEE)

Non-executive Director EHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEEE
Independent Non-executive Directors B EHITES
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie HIRE LA
Mr. CHIU, Wai On BELEE

Mr. HUANG, Victor HEELE

11/1 11

11/1 11

11/1 11

1/11 11
11/11 11
11/11 11
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by two
executive Directors, Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart and Mr. TANG,
John Wing Yan respectively. Their respective responsibilities are
clearly established and defined.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is accountable
to the Board ultimately. The Chairman takes the lead to encourage
Directors to make active contribution to the Board’s affairs and
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company.

The Chief Executive Officer represents the management of the
Company and is accountable to the Board. His main responsibilities
include overseeing the implementation of the Group's strategies,
objectives and policies as well as monitoring day-to-day management
of the Group’s businesses and operations.

Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Director and the independent non-executive
Directors give the Board the benefit of their skills, expertise, varied
background and experiences. Through active participation in Board
meetings and serving on various Board Committees, the non-
executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors
bring in independent judgment and make valuable contributions to
the effective direction and strategic decision-making of the Group.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the three independent non-executive Directors. Each
independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change that may
affect his independence. During the Year, the Nomination Committee
has assessed the independence of each of the independent non-
executive Directors based on the guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considered them to be independent.

The Company's non-executive Director has entered into a service
contract with the Company pursuant to which they agreed to act as
a non-Executive Director for a term of three years with effect from
March 2019, which shall be renewed as determined by the Board
or the shareholders of the Company. The appointment of the non-
executive Directors may be terminated by either party by giving prior
written notice to the other.
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Each of the Company's independent non-executive Directors has
been appointed for a term of three years with effect from November
2006, March 2013 and June 2020 respectively, which shall be
renewed as determined by the Board or the shareholders of the
Company. The appointment of each of the independent non-
executive Directors may be terminated by either party giving prior
written notice to the other.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

In compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules and the
Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), (i) any Director who
is appointed to fill a casual vacancy is subject to election by the
Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment; and (ii)
all Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and are eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, the Directors, Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart and Mr.
TANG, John Wing Yan will retire from office by rotation at the AGM
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the same
meeting.

INDUCTION, INFORMATION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors will receive an induction
package covering the general understanding of the Group and its
businesses and operations. Meetings will also be arranged with
the Company's external legal adviser on directors’ legal role and
responsibilities.

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes
on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. Timely updates on the
Group's financial performance, businesses and developments are also
provided to the Directors. They also have full and timely access to
information on the Group and independent professional advice at all
times whenever deemed necessary.
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In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional development
(the “CPD") to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
During the Year, the Company encouraged all Directors to attend
training courses, seminars, webcasts or conferences which were
relevant to their respective duties and responsibilities at the
Company's expenses, and provided relevant materials and updates
for their reading. The Directors are required to provide the Company
with details of CPD training taken by them from time to time. The
training records are kept by the Company Secretary. Based on the
records provided, the Directors participated in the following CPD
programmes during the Year:

REAEEEATRZTRMRXEC.4F
EREFAEFETIXUR ([FHEX
BRI UBRMEREMGMEE R
FE - ARARBEREFLHFRERESA
ZRBREFBEABIHBIRE BE#®E 8
HBREEF BRAAQRARZ YEREHM
HEEHMEREHBERARKRENE-EFA
ARARRHABBRSITRER ZHERR
BRIFIIZFE - BB AR WE R -
RBAMIREZCHE RAFEEECD2EN
THEZERR:

Directors’ Training in 2022
EER-F-FaEdl
Attending training
courses, seminars,

webcasts or Reading materials

conferences or updates
HEEAIRE
R - BMEERDS
Name of Directors EENA RPEZIRNER BHHEE
Executive of Directors HITES
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart (Chairman) EB$23#B 54 (F/5) v v/
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan KB oL (TR AEE) v v/
(Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEEELE v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SRBEE v v
Mr. CHIU, Wai On REZEE v 4
Mr. HUANG, Victor mEELSE v v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an important part of a sound corporate governance practice,
the Board has established four Board Committees: the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and
Executive Committee to assist the Board to discharge its functions.
Each Committee has specific written terms of reference which sets
out clearly the Committee’s duties and authority. The terms of
reference and the list of members of each committee are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and/or the Company.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties, including the management support and
engagement of independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense. The Committees report to the Board on their decisions
or recommendations and maintain an effective and constructive
communication with the Board.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises four Directors
namely Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie,
Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members
being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai
Dickie, the independent non-executive Director, is currently the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The prime duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; assessing performance of executive
Directors and approve the terms of the service contracts of the
executive Directors; making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee convened one
meeting to, inter alias, review the remuneration packages and assess
performance of the executive Directors and the senior management
of the Company. Members and their attendance are as follows:

Name of Members REHS

RAEAFE FHEZEEER —RgEN(HE
FEE)RIRTEERAAAARERE
WEWNEERTHEARB - NERELEFEE
N

Number of
Meetings
attended/held
2BLE
BITRY

Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) SRELE (£EF)

Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart B85 H8 7 A
Mr. CHIU, Wai On RELREE
Mr. HUANG, Victor EEELE

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises four Directors
namely Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie,
Mr. CHIU, Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members
being independent non-executive Directors. Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai,
Dickie, the independent non-executive Director, is currently the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, amongst other things,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
considering the re-appointment of Directors, reviewing the Board’s
diversity policy and relevant implementation of the diversity policy,
and making recommendations to the Board in respect of the
aforesaid matters.
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By such policy, the selection of candidates is based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision is based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates bring to
the Board. Details of the authority and duties of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and Stock
Exchange.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee convened one meeting
to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board.
Members and their attendance are as follows:

SREABE

EZBET BEANEREZ-RINZTLHE
RERE BRERARNRRER  Fi& - X EK
BER BXELR Rk MBARREF

HeZERBRABNRELRAIASEZTSRHEN
BRMERE - FRRAZESRENEE
2RISR AR B R R P A B B

RAFE REZZEEEH - KRE&E UFE
MEEgz®E KRR - AREKEZ -
RERHEBFEBRAT

Number of

Meeting

attended/held

eBEE

Name of Members KE S BITIRE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie (Chairman) BIRELEE (FE) 1”1
Mr. CHIU, Wai On RELREE 1/1
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEELEE 1/1
Mr. HUANG, Victor EEEEA 11

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises four Directors namely
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob, Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie, Mr. CHIU,
Wai On and Mr. HUANG, Victor with majority members being
independent non-executive Directors. All of them possess the
relevant qualifications, experiences and skills to contribute to the
financial, governance, internal controls and risk management of
the Company. Mr. CHIU, Wai On, the independent non-executive
Director, with professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise is currently the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

EREES
ERZECRRERNRES (BFER
TE -FHEREXSE BELXREREREEE
) ERZHRERBIUFATESR -KF
BEGBHBER KRk $ARFZ
i -Ea AMEERERERSELR
Bl- EEEEER NG U RARMEER
BERZBIUFATEFTRELEERKRE
ZERBEXF-
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The main duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
consolidated financial statements and reports and considering any
significant or unusual financial items; overseeing the relationship
between the Company and the external auditor; considering the
scope of its audit, approving the audit fees and the appropriateness
of non-audit services; assessing the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function; and reviewing the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s financial controls and risk
management and internal control systems. Details of the authority
and duties of the Audit Committee are available on the websites of
the Company and Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held two meetings, inter
alia, to review the 2021 annual results and the 2022 interim results
of the Group and to review the Group’s internal control system
including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.
In addition, the Audit Committee met the external auditor once
without the presence of the management to discuss any areas of
concerns. Members' attendance of the Audit Committee Meetings
held during the Year are set out below:

ERZEG IZRBEREENEA VB R
REBELEREAERL T HRMEEIE:
ERARREIBZBMIBER EEEE
ZHE HEERERALIFECRBNEES
Hﬁﬁ%$“ﬂ@%%ﬁ%%%éﬁﬁ'&
BEARAMBEE RREERABEE
HEEE BB RBR- ﬁ@%@éAa%%
EBE 215 AIRARB RERZEEE
Bg o

o &y 2

REFE BEZZESEHMAEHE (H4
BRINERASBE S —F 2 FEXEE
T ZFhBELE BEAEE A
*Eﬁk? BIE - BEARR A SR & E

RECBRTERE BT Z2ERKER LI
%Vé,\a,ﬂ\\ﬂﬁﬁgﬁﬂiﬁ BABRER
BATHET—REHE FWAEGBEENME
B-NAFEROT2ERZEENELRER
HEFN W

Number of

Meetings

attended/held

BEHE

Name of Members RE A HITRE
Mr. CHIU, Wai On (Chairman) HEZRE (ZE) 2/2
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEEHEE 2/2
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SR LA 2/2
Mr. HUANG, Victor HERLE 2/2

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established on 30 August 2017 and
is currently chaired by the Chairman of the Board, Mr. CHENG, Kam
Chiu Stewart with the CEO, Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan as member,
The executive Directors involved in operations of the Group and
are fully aware of the performance, position, and prospects of the
Company.
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The main duties of the Executive Committee include overseeing the
general management and day-to-day operations of the Company,
monitoring the execution of the Company’s business strategy as
approved by the Board, approving any changes to the scope of
authority delegated to the management and any other matters
specifically delegated to it by the Board. Details of the authority and
duties of the Executive Committee are available on the Company’s
website.

During the Year, the Executive Committee held four meetings.
Members' attendance of the Executive Committee Meetings held

A\ R s 3
TRELB®RS

HWITZEENIERERREEARRN—
REEMAFZE EEEFSHRHANER
AEBHRBONTER HERTEERAER
MRESENENZPHAREESHHIET
MEMEMEE - BRRTZE S RE LB
BZHFB AIRARABIEER-

RAERE RTZEEARNOREZ KA
FEETZHUTREEERZXNEBHERK

WA

during the Year are set out below: BT
Number of
Meetings
attended/held
SBHE
Name of Members REHS HITIRE
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart BREREB AL () 4/4

(Chairman)

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan WK B LA (7TIEABEE) 4/4

(Chief Executive Officer)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Listing Rules, the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and other applicable regulatory
requirements, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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The Board is responsible for presenting balanced, clear and
understandable annual and interim reports, inside information
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided the Directors such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval.

In determining the appropriate basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have reviewed the
Group's cash flow projections prepared by management based
on estimations of future revenue from sales of crude oil, future
production costs, committed and planned capital expenditure and
the availability of financing, which cover a period of twelve months
from the reporting period end date. They are of the opinion that
the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due and committed future capital
expenditure within the next twelve months from the end of the
current reporting period.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires, they
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events of
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”), are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 92 to 99 to this annual report.

Auditor’s remuneration

The Audit Committee has been notified of the nature and service
charges of the non-audit services performed by PwC and considered
that such services have no adverse effect on the independence of
their audit works.

A summary of audit and non-audit services provided by PwC for the
Year and their corresponding remuneration is as follows:

E=ZeRERBELETRMEMEEREE
MIEZ5I2E 5 MW N AT R R KL
BE ABBEEAEREMBEEEE-

ERECAEFRHEFEORERERN MU
T N e Tl
AR EE G -

EREFEMBRRZABERUELR &
ZCEHEEBREE RKHEE Fh 2 W
RREERA  AGE Rt 8BRS H R AT A
BEEL M EET MR A RER SRR
BMERRABERREAES T @A &
ERRAEEREETHEEESHNENH
ENEFBEE ARBARREHRESK
K+ A AERREARNIE -

BEFELH—VABEREMIRAMN 28K
HEME  RBE IR HER L NAE B [ Al g A
REZFERERNBRENER 2 ABE
HEATHBAREE -

SIS BB KOK B R AN BT (18
EKB) 2 REETHNAFRFRE
EEVAZBIUREENRE -

2 G
BERZZESCENESERBKERITIER
R EERRBEWE BRAZERFHE
ERIEZBYIMYBEBERKEETE -

RAREER BEBOKGERHE 2EZRIEER
REMEAREBEME0T

Amount

Nature of Services i8R =t M
(HK$'000)

(F&x)

Audit service for the Year RAFE 2 EZRE 3,295
Interim review for period ended 30 June 2022 HE_Z - —F A=+ HIFHHEMNTHEH 699
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and
reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implementing an
effective and sound risk management and internal control systems
to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the assets of the
Group. The Audit Committee has been delegated by the Board to
review the risk management and internal control systems.

Procedures have been designed to (i) safeguard assets from
inappropriate use; (ii) maintain proper accounting records; (iii)
ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations; and
(iv) manage the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. To
safeguard confidentiality, information access is managed on a need-
to-know basis. Use of computers, especially access to the internet
and e-mail systems, is similarly regulated with a view towards
security.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
provide a reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material
misstatement of the financial statements are prevented, potential
interruption of the Group’s management system is detected, and
risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group’s objectives are
properly managed. It can only manage, rather than eliminate, all
risks of material misstatement, errors, loss or fraud.

During the Year, the Company has hired independent internal audit
consulting firms in addition to the Company’s own internal control
teams to perform an internal control review to assess the Group’s
internal control systems in order to assist the Board in reviewing its
effectiveness. The reviews, normally performed once a year, covered
the effectiveness of the financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions of the Group, with a focus
on the core businesses and/or processes of the Group. Relevant
report was presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board. Based on the results of internal control review for
the Year and the assessment of the Audit Committee thereon, no
material inadequacies or deficiencies in the risk management and
internal control systems were drawn to the attention of the Audit
Committee, but appropriate recommendations for further enhancing
the internal control systems have been taken. The Board is of the
view that the internal control systems were effective and adequate
and no irregularities, fraud or other deficiencies were identified for
the financial year ended 2022.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless
the information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided
in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public,
the Group ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If
the Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have been
breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information
to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that information
contained in announcements or circulars are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission
of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and
balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive and
negative facts.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary directly reports to the Board. The Company
Secretary is responsible for supporting and advising the Board on
governance matters. All Directors have access to the advice and
service of the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures,
all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Mr. LEE, Kun Yin is the Company Secretary of the Company and is a
member of the Chartered Accountants in Australia & New Zealand
and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. His primary
contact person of the Company is Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan, an
executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. Lee has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS

Communications with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of continuing communications
with the Company’s Shareholders and investors, and maintains
ongoing dialogues with them through various channels. The
formal communication channels between the Company and the
Shareholders are announcements, circulars and interim and annual
reports. All Shareholders’ communications are available on the
Company's website.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of
the Company which provide a useful forum for the Shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Board members and
management of the Company are available to answer Shareholders’
questions and explain the procedures for demanding and conducting
a poll, if necessary.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company and
the Shareholders. The Company has established several channels to
communicate with the shareholders as follows:

- corporate communications such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are issued in printed form and are
available on the website of the Stock Exchange and on the
website of the Company at www.nt-energy.com;

- periodic announcements are published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company;

- corporate information is made available on the Company’s
website; and

- annual and extraordinary general meetings, if any, provide a
forum for the shareholders to make comments and exchange
views with the Directors and senior management.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy and considered it to be effective
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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Shareholders’ rights

Under the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding not less than 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company at the date of deposit of written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, can at all times
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
addressing specific issues of the Company within 21 days from the
date of deposit of such requisition to the Company’s head office
address in Hong Kong.

The Group recognises Shareholders’ rights in exercising control
proportionate to their equity ownership. The Company has been
conducting voting at the general meetings by way of poll, which is
conducted and scrutinised by the Company's branch share registrar
in Hong Kong. Procedures for conducting a poll are explained by the
Chairman of the Board in the general meetings prior to the taking of
the poll. Poll results are announced and posted on the websites of
both the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Constitutional Documents

The Company’'s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
During the Year, there was no change to the Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws of the Company.

Shareholders’ enquiries and proposals

Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis
Limited, in person or by post. Contact details are set out in the
“Information for Stakeholders” section to this annual report.

Enquiries and proposals by Shareholders requiring the Board’s
attention can be sent in writing to the Company Secretary at the
Hong Kong head office address of the Company.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Company has put in place whistleblowing policy which applies
to all the directors and employees (including but not limited to
permanent, full-time, part-time and contract employees, etc.) of
the Group and any parties who deal with the Group (including but
not limited to investors, customers, contractors, suppliers, creditors
and debtors, etc.). The policy is designed to provide the employees
and any external parties with confidential whistleblowing channels
to report to the Group the actual or suspected illegal activities and
misconducts in financial reporting, internal control or other areas.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Whistle-blowers are able to contact the Board, senior management
and/or their supervisors. The identity of the whistle-blower and all
the concerns or irregularities raised will be treated with confidence
and every effort will be made to ensure that confidentiality is
maintained throughout the process.

The Board which is responsible for oversight and monitoring of
the whistle-blowing policy and mechanism, will make decisions on
further actions (if needed) while the Company is also committed to
ensuring the protection of the whistle-blower against detrimental or
unfair treatment.

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company does not tolerate any corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud or money laundering during the course of its business
activities.

The Company has in place an anti-corruption and integrity
promotion system within all its employees, which forms part of the
Company's employees staff manual. Employees are required to act
with integrity and to report any suspected bribery, corruptions and
money laundering cases to senior management or the Board. The
employees are required to declare any conflict of interest when
performing their duties.

Investor Relations

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its shareholders and the
investors through the announcement of its interim and final reports.
Through the timely distribution of other announcements, including
but not limited to notices of meetings, circulars and other relevant
Company’s information, the Company has also kept the public aware
of its latest developments.

Conclusion

Going forward, the Company will continue to review its corporate
governance practices on a timely basis to continue its high
level of transparency. The Company will also try to enhance its
competitiveness, industry knowledge and operating efficiency in
order to generate greater returns for its stakeholders.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of New Times Energy Corporation Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of New Times Energy
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which are set out on pages 100 to 218, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022;

o the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as follows:

o Recoverable amount of oil and gas properties under upstream
segment
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Key Audit Matter
HRELSBR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNERNMEEBEERSEE

Recoverable amounts of oil and gas properties
under upstream segment

LHIBETZ2AERARREEZATREEHE

Refer to notes 2.11, 4 and 16 to the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

20 BERBEZEAMBHMRME2.11 4R16-°

The Group’s upstream segment had oil and gas
properties which engaged in the exploration,
development, production and sales of oil and gas in
Argentina and Canada. The carrying amounts of oil
and gas properties that included under “machinery”
and “oil and gas production assets” of property, plant
and equipment are approximately HK$934,298,000 as
at 31 December 2022.

EEE IO BEEZAMERAREENRMEE X
MEREELBMRRARGDR AE LENHEE-A
MERAREEZ RABEFEFAYNE BELRE
ZIMEIRIABRRAREEERE] R
T - A=1t—BA&XR#%934,298,000/8 T °

Given the volatile commodity price, management
performed impairment assessments for the oil and gas
properties as at 31 December 2022.
ERmERED BEEBR_Z__+=A
=t+t—BYEAHAERAREELEITRE G-

The recoverable amounts of oil and gas properties
were determined with reference to the fair value
less cost of disposal prepared by management, by
preparing discounted cash flow forecasts based
on the reserves reports issued by the independent
qualified technical consultants. The key assumptions
used in the discounted cash flow forecasts included
estimated future commodity prices, estimated future
production volumes, estimated future production costs,
estimated future capital expenditure and discount rate.
Management concluded that the oil and gas properties
were not impaired as at 31 December 2022.
BHRRAREEZAREESENL2EEEERE 2
DRABERLERANERTE A ER2EBILAE
BEMEREGA T HERSREMRTERERA-
HRBEeRERAETAZEIZERR[BEBTARI L
B At RKREE Mt RREEXE B REKE
AXHRBERE-BRERR R_T-__F+_H
=t—HBH AHARRKAREELEEE-
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In auditing the recoverable amounts of the oil and gas
properties, we have performed following key audit
procedures on the value-in-use calculations prepared by
management and the key assumptions used in determining
the recoverable amounts of the oil and gas properties:

REZABRRAREEZTRESER RMNEMERE
ERECFEREEAEALARBEEARRRAREE
ZAKRE SR FEMREBEATU THAREZEF

We understood and evaluated the design of relevant
controls in respect of the assessment of recoverable
amounts of oil and gas properties and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors such as significant
judgement and estimation involved in determining
recoverable amounts of oil and gas properties;
BPEREE MG IHEEEEE R E 4 E A & E
Z(WHEEABAMRAREEZAKB SRS K2
BRHIE R A E) 2 KT NGB R AT Ah &
AAREBEEZAINE SR 2 HAESRF LT EE
REEaRBR a2 B A [ b

We compared the estimates of future commodity
prices adopted by the Group against the available
commodity price forecasts;

B EEBRMZRKKEmERMGLETEAER
P EARTERIEITH R

We compared the production forecasts, reserve life
index, revenue and expense forecast, product price
and market forecast against the reserves reports
prepared by the independent qualified technical
consultants and the forecast production volume for
the remaining concession period prepared by the
management;

BPSEERD FEFHEE KARFAXEA-
EmBRARTSENEBESBRMERRRED
FEREMERERENNKESFHENBRAIESE
T ;

We evaluated the competence, capability and
objectivity of the independent qualified technical
consultants;
BMFEBILIAERRMER ZBERN XX
BREHIE:
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Key Audit Matter
HRELSBR

B M % A

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNERNMEEBEERSEE

We focused on auditing the recoverable amount
of oil and gas properties because the estimation of
recoverable amounts is subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation
to the estimating of recoverable amounts of oil and
gas properties under upstream segment is considered
significant due to the subjectivity of significant
assumptions used in determining the recoverable
amounts of the oil and gas properties.

HRAIKE B B XeERTTRELETE &
MEINEZ DB T AR R RAREE 2 AT
Ol & %o AN HEE A R RAREEZ AT K E & 5
CTRAZEERXAEB BN BEG EHFOIIETA
HRRAREBEZAINECCHEEHE 2 EEGRABRERAE
BEK-

- We evaluated the reasonableness of discount rates
applied with assistance of our internal experts; and
ERNBEROBET BMTERRAMREZS
B R

- We assessed the appropriateness of valuation
methodologies in calculating the fair value less cost
of disposal of the Group's oil and gas properties,
and tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations
with the assistance of our internal experts.
EAMBERNGE T BAFEAERAER LB KL
RARBEZARBEREEXN R ZHMET EZR
gM WARGE BB ERE-

Based on our work performed, we found the
management’s judgement and assumptions used in
the estimation of recoverable amounts of oil and gas
properties were supported by the available evidences.

BEBERMETZIE BMRRAESIBEIREREERN
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in New Times Energy Corporation Limited 2022 Annual
Report (the “annual report”) other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained
some of the other information including corporate information,
information for stakeholders, financial highlights, chairman’s
statement, management discussion and analysis, information of the
New Times Energy’s oil and gas reserves, information of directors
and directors’ report prior to the date of this auditor's report. The
remaining other information, including environmental, social and
governance review and corporate governance report and the other
sections to be included in the annual report, is expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal rights
and obligations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine the matter that was of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
is therefore the key audit matter. We describe the matter in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBESER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE T - —_F+_A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021

—8s=-= T —4F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M =E FH&xT FHT

Revenue I 3% 5 20,913,216 11,167,076
Cost of sales fHE A 8 (20,491,757) (11,076,418)

Gross profit ER 421,459 90,658

Other income and net gains and losses  H b g A - U2k &

ERFEER 6 12,965 10,045
Net investment income/(loss) BEWA (E18)F8E 7 24,941 (40,941)
Gain on bargain purchase EEEBEWE 35 - 407,655
General and administrative expenses — R ATR A X 8 (130,865) (109,849)
Finance costs AR 11 (27,791) (13,927)
Share of losses of joint ventures EiheEtEEE 18 (4) (5)
Profit before taxation RR B A& 300,705 343,636
Income tax expense Fris%if X 12 (14,803) (14,233)
Profit for the year F = F 285,902 329,403
Profit/(loss) attributable to: M T 5IEE B
wEL(EE)
Owners of the Company ZAY/NCIE ZDN 285,905 329,401
Non-controlling interests EfE R R €)) 2
285,902 329,403
Earnings per share attributable KATEE AEA
to owners of the Company FREF
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AR BAWHR) 14
Basic AR 3.76
Diluted i 9 3.76

The notes on pages 107 to 218 are an integral part of these HRWEBI107AEEF2I8EZMEARGAH
consolidated financial statements. BHwEkz—HD-
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEZHEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HBZE=ZT=_=—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

2022
—E2-=
Note HK$'000
Bt 5% FERT
Profit for the year F R 285,902
Other comprehensive (loss)/income HRhHEMEE (FE)
for the year A
Item that will not be reclassified to BT EEFSER
profit or loss: BmoIEE -
Change in fair value of financial assets A RQ A EETA
at fair value through other HEt2mERa=E s
comprehensive income TREENARE
B 19
Item that may be reclassified HE gtk EF 7 HEZE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmoIEE -
Exchange differences on translation of BB FIINER
foreign operations EHER (134,309)
Other comprehensive loss FRAHEMEZEERE
__forthe year, netoftax mesE (134,317)
Total comprehensive income FRAZHEBALRH
for the year 151,585
Total comprehensive income/(loss) BT 5lEE B
attributable to: 2EKBA (FE)
i
Owners of the Company KRABHEE A 151,588
Non-controlling interests 1R (3)

151,585

The notes on pages 107 to 218 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2021

HK$'000
THET

329,403

(33,728)

295,677

295,675

295,677

HRFI07TEEF21BEZMERAEE Y
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma IR R &

At 31 December 2022 R=-—Z-_—F+—-A=+—H

Note
B 7

Non-current assets ERBEE
Exploration and evaluation assets BRE B E 15
Property, plant and equipment L/ E R 16
Investments in joint ventures REELECIRE 18
Financial assets at fair value through EAnEEF AEM

other comprehensive income PEHREZEHMEE 19
Prepayments, deposits and ERRE -RER

other receivables H b e W FRTE 20
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 21
Trade and other receivables FEUCE 5 8RSk R Aty

JiE U 5k T8 20

Current tax recoverable AT Yz [0 BN EA % IE
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFABRZZ

through profit or loss EHEE 22
Gold investment =5oRE 23
Cash and bank balances R RIBITES 24
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables EREZER R

H fth f& AT 5RIE 25

Lease liabilities HeEa®E 26
Derivative financial instruments TEemIT A 28
Provisions B 29
Income tax payable FERETE L
Netcurrentassets ___________________ ‘REBAEFE
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREBAS
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2022

—E=-=

HK$'000
TERT

961,674
932

17,579

980,187

111,473

166,684

55,913

851,171

1,185,241

237,046
8,097
4,581

80,109

329,833

855,408

1,835,595

2021

— =

HK$'000
TAET

845,610
936

10

44,196

196,617
196

81,528
66,082
494,955

883,574




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a BN &R

At 31 December 2022 W—ZE—-—F+-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
My =E FET FA&ET
Non-current liabilities kFRBERE
Lease liabilities HEBaE 26 21,004 23,505
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEAE 27 59,792 46,221
Provisions BiE 29 433,162 365,713
. CAEACLLEN 435,439
Net assets EEFE 1,321,637 1,101,481
Equity e
Equity attributable to owners RARER ANEIGER
of the Company
Share capital g A 30 88,089 87,589
Reserves f#1E 1,233,600 1,013,941
1,321,689 1,101,530
Non-controlling interests FEERERE (7)) (49)
Total equity ERBRE 1,321,637 1,101,481

The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 218 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
21 March 2023 and signed on its behalf.

CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart
MR8

Director

EF

The notes on pages 107 to 218 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

EEeOR_E_=F=A=-+—B#ER
RIET|EEI100BEFE218B 2 AT KR
RITHUTATRAEE-

TANG, John Wing Yan
Bk BE
Director

EF

HNEI07TEEF2I8AE L ME RAGZE Y
BHER 2 — 8D e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREDBEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE T - —_F+_A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARAARE
Fair value Share-hased Non-
Share Share  Capital Exchange reserve  Contributed payment  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium  reserve  reserve (non-recycling) surplus reserve losses Total interests equity
MEERE NRHAER

Bx RHEE EAGE ERRE  (FUEM)  EMBR  O6REE  RRER Bt FEREE REAR
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKFO0D  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TEn  TRn TET TR TERL ThRL T TEn  ThR TEn  ThR

Balance at 1 January 2021 RZEZ-E-f-HzER 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (540,748) (123,196) 740,880 - (4,283,290) 759,007 (51) 758956
Profit for the year EREF - - - - - - - 329401 329401 2 329403
Other comprehensive (loss)/income 2@ (BE) /A - - - (337 2 - - - (337) - (337)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 27 (F#&) /KA4E - - - (3378 2 - - 329401 295,675 2 295677
Impact of hyperinflation Ehakoye
- restatement effect ~EllyE - - - - - - - 46848 46848 - 46308
___________________________________________ e 1o, SN o1 S L.
Balance at 31 December 2021 RZEZ-5+ZA=1-H
BB 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (574,476) ((PEREL) 740,880 (3.907,041) 1,101,530 (49) 1,101,481
Profit for the year EREFH - 285,905 285,905 (3) 285902
Other comprehensive loss Hp2EER (134,309) - (134317) (134,317)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 27 (&) /KA4E (134,309) 285905 151,588 (3) 151,585
Impact of hyperinflation Ehakoye
- restatement effect -EjIFE - - 51834 51,83 51,834
Share options granted BRERE - 9,837 - 9,837 9,837
Exercise of share option TiekRE 10,183 (3783) - 6,900 6,900
______________________________________ 10,183 6,054 51,834 68,571 68,571
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZA=1-R
i) 4,878,364 9,591  (708,785) (123,202) 740,880 6,054 (3,569,302) 1,321,689 (52) 1,321,637

The notes on pages 107 to 218 are an integral part of these HWNFEI107TEEF2I8E M ARG AY
consolidated financial statements. Bz — Moo
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HBZE=ZT=_=—F+=-A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E-C — T —4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Lo TEx FET
Operating activities REEK
Profit before taxation B 55 B 300,705 343,636
Adjustments for: FATEEEL 2 HE:
Depreciation weE 8 132,594 37,558
Unrealised fair value losses/(gain) on PELRIAZAER
derivative financial instruments DNAEEER/ (M) 2,227 (571)
Fair value losses on gold investment 2EeREZAAEBEER 6 989 2,507
Finance costs MEMR 1 27,791 13,927
Hyperinflation monetary adjustments BUHBKREEHAER 22,860 4,324
Bank interest income FATHLS WA 6 (7.630) (3,383)
Net investment (income)/loss BEWA),/ BB FE 7 (24,941) 40,941
Share-based payments VAR 0 BETE 2 5% 9,837 -
Net foreign exchange losses SN B 1R (A 14,112 8,011
Share of losses of joint ventures BEeebEES 18 4 5
Gain on bargain purchase HEEEKE 35 - (407,655)
Operating cash flows before changes BEEEHA
in working capital KEReRE 478,548 39,300
Changes in working capital: BEELEE:
Increase in inventories FEEm (65,698) (12,332)
Decrease in trade and other receivables EWE SRR R EAM
& W IR R A 12,470 51,382
Increase in trade and other payables ENEZERR
H A & 15 IR AN 103,454 20,996
Cash generated from operations REXBMBRSE 528,774 99,346
Interest paid BARAE (38) (4,462)
Interest received BF & 7,630 3,383
Income tax refund BREMGH 107 945
Net cash generated from RELEBMEBREFE
operating activities 536,473 99,212
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZE T - —_F+_A=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Lo TEx FHBT
Investing activities REED
Payment for purchase of financial assets BERAREBEFAER

at fair value through profit or loss JEMEELMzFA (73,714)
Proceeds from sale of gold investment HEESREZHMERE -
Payment for purchase of exploration BEHRLTEEE

and evaluation assets T2 HE (408)
Payment for purchase of property, BENE BEX

plant and equipment REL 2 HE (208,376) (7,558)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LENME BEX

plant and equipment HECBRIE 35 -
Net cash outflow from acquisition of WERBARZ

subsidiaries Bemt F58 35 (28,726)
Proceeds from redemption of financial BRI EBEF AR

assets at fair value through profit or loss ZERMEEZMBNE 46,899 22,055
Interest received from financial assets BUEARBETAEBR

at fair value through profit or loss JERMEEZNE 1,228 3,205
Dividend received from financial assets BUEARBETAEBR

at fair value through profit or loss ZEMEBEEZRE VEE] 730
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFMARESFE (96,026) (84,416)
Financing activities MEED
Proceeds from exercise of share options TEERERE A 6,900 -
Repayment of borrowings EBEEFE = (155,311)
Payment for lease liabilities HEAE (BEMR)

(including interest) S ZHE (11,426) (4,457)
Proceeds from borrowings BEZEHE = 9,166
Net cash used in financing activities METBMARESTE (150,602)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReERBITEHEM

bank balances (BD) 258 435,921 (135,806)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—HZEE&R

RE%EY 494,955 640,915
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EREEHFE (79,705) (10,154)
Cash and bank balances at 31 December R+=B=+—-HzZ

RERBITHER 24 851,171 494,955

The notes on pages 107 to 218 are an integral part of these

HREI07EEE8BEZWEARGEY
consolidated financial statements. 5 e
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GENERAL INFORMATION

New Times Energy Corporation Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda as an
exempted company and its registered office and principal place
of business are Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda, and Room 1402, 14/F, New World Tower |,
16-18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong, respectively. The
Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company
is an investment holding company. Details of the principal
activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in Note 17.
The Company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to
the “Group”.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”). The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention except for
the following:

- financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL") (including derivative financial
instruments) measured at fair value;

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma BB RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
- gold investment measured at fair value; and

- adjustments for the effect of inflation where entities
operate in a hyperinflationary economy.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of a judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) Amendments to standards adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following amendments
to standards for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2022:

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37
Narrow-scope Amendments

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond 2021

Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for
Common Control Combinations

The adoption of the above amendments to
standards did not result in any impact on the results
and financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

b)

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments
to accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and have not been
early adopted by the Group. These standards,
amendments or interpretations are not expected to
have a material impact on the Group in the current
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

2.2.1Subsidiary

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(refer to Note 2.3).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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2.2

mBLERE ()
(b) [FRERYZHETERRZFE

ATHEI SR ER S5 E
B Z BT A MR RS
EREBEE-_ZE-_—_F+_A8
=+—HIEFETFREH A
R E M AREAEEIR B RN -
ZEEEBII AR RETRE
HAR & 50 A ok K 2R 2R 45 8P
fE 5 AR = B DA & 7] 78 B R 2R
ROELBEATE-

RERARBHEES

22,108 & &

(R =PNSIEERIN eI P ope ]
BRNER -EAKEATK

TESREBFGS TR
B BEHNBBRAAES

AT EZFLHmE R
AEBEZEHZER -ME L
FEENREBREAKEZ
AEMAFRA AR LB
HERKZHERLEEA
BEo

AEBRBUREEIHERE
Bavtolik (28ME2.3) -

SERARARRS HEik Rk
R B ARER W T A o
REREBITTAEE R
FRHBEBEBRIERE
EHBERE-ARREEY
ZERTHMBRAR 2 &5
BURAE B ET A HE AR B AR
SEMRM IR -

Annual Report 2022 ¢ =& — —F F 3f

109



110

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma BB RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

2.2.1Subsidiary (Continued)
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity respectively.

2.2.2 Joint arrangement

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements, investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor, rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Group has joint ventures
only.

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method (see Note 2.2.3 below),
after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

2.2.3 Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity 22 ZRERARERSS (&)

accounting (Continued)

2.2.3 Equity method (Continued)
When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with Note 2.11.

2.3 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement
and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

2.4

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of
the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase. If the
total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Separate financial statements (Continued)
Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
that makes strategic decisions.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar, which is the Company’s
functional and Group’s presentation currency.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are recognised in profit of loss. All foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss within “other income and
net gains and losses”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Transaction differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equity held at FVPL are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equity classified as FVOCI are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations, which do not have the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy and have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

o income and expenses for each statement
of profit or loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

° all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

The results and the financial position of group entity
which is accounted for as entity operating in a
hyperinflationary economy and that has a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
of the Group are translated into the presentation
currency at the closing rate at the date of the
statement of financial position, and all the resulting
translation differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit
or loss.

2.7 Hyperinflation accounting

As the presentation currency of the Group is that of a
non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts are
not adjusted for changes in the price level or exchange
rates in the current year. Differences between these
comparative amounts and the hyperinflation adjusted
equity opening balances are recognised as below:

- The restatement effects for the equity opening
balances are recognised directly in equity; and

- The translation effects for the equity opening
balances are recognised in exchange reserves
through other comprehensive income.

The carrying amounts of non-monetary assets and
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the change in the general
price index from the date of acquisition to the end of
the reporting period. An impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the restated amount of a non-monetary
item exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on the net monetary position are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Hyperinflation accounting (Continued)

All items recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss are restated by applying the change in the
general price index from the dates when the items of
income and expenses were initially earned or incurred.

At the beginning of the first period of application, the
components of owners’ equity, except accumulated
losses, are restated by applying a general price index from
the dates the components were contributed or otherwise
arose. The restatement effects are recognised directly
in equity, and the translation effects are recognised in
exchange reserves through other comprehensive income.
Restated accumulated losses are derived from the residual
amounts in the restated statement of financial position.

At the end of the first period and in the subsequent
periods, all components of owners’ equity are restated by
applying a general price index from the beginning of the
period or the date of contribution, if later.

All items in the consolidated statement of cash flows are
expressed in terms of the general price index at the end
of the reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise mainly leasehold
improvements, machinery, fixtures and office equipment,
motor vehicles, oil and gas production assets and
right-of-use assets. Accounting policies for oil and gas
production assets and right-of-use assets are set out in
Note 2.9 and Note 2.27, respectively. All other property,
plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation and impairment, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8

2.9

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the year in which
they are incurred. Except for oil and gas production
assets, depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Machinery
Others

5-10 years
3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the statement
of financial position. An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income and net gains and
losses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Oil and gas production assets

Expenditure on the construction, installation or
completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms,
pipelines and the drilling of commercially proven
development wells, is capitalised within construction
in progress under property, plant and equipment.
When development is completed on a specific field, it
is transferred to oil and gas production assets under
property, plant and equipment. No depreciation is
charged during the development phase.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)

POLICIES (Continued)

29 AMRRAREEEE (&)

2.9 Oil and gas production assets (Continued)

Oil and gas properties are aggregated exploration and
evaluation assets (refer to Note 2.10) and development
expenditures associated with the production of proved
reserves.

Oil and gas production assets are depreciated using the
unit-of-production method. Unit-of-production rates
are based on total proved reserves, which are crude
oil reserves estimated to be recovered using current
operating methods.

Proven oil and gas production assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows.

2.10 Exploration and evaluation assets

Oil and gas exploration and evaluation expenditures are
accounted for using the successful efforts method of
accounting. Costs are accumulated on a field-by-field
basis. Subsequent to initial recognition, exploration and
evaluation assets are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, no depreciation and/or amortisation
is charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.
Costs directly associated with an exploration well, and
exploration and property leasehold acquisition costs,
are capitalised within exploration and evaluation assets
until the determination of reserves is evaluated. If it
is determined that commercial discovery has not been
achieved, these costs are charged to expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Exploration and evaluation assets (Continued)

Once commercial reserves are found, exploration
and evaluation assets are tested for impairment and
reclassified to property, plant and equipment. No
depreciation and depletion is charged during the
exploration and evaluation phase.

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for
impairment when reclassified to oil and gas production
assets, or whenever facts and circumstances indicate
impairment. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets’
carrying amount exceeds their recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration and
evaluation assets’ fair value less costs of disposal and
their value in use.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
investments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other income and net gains and
losses” together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
OClI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised
in “other income and net gains and losses”.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in “other income
and net gains and losses” and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in
profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised
in profit or loss and presented net within “net
investment income/(loss)” in the period in
which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as “other
income and net gains and losses” when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Change in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “net investment income/(loss)”
in the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses and reversal of impairment losses
on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.2(b) for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (Continued)

213 KHEmT A

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group and the counterparty.

2.14 Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the
date of a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of
each reporting period.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories comprise of precious metals held for trading,
consumables and crude oil are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises invoiced cost
and other direct costs, and is determined on a weighted-
average cost method. Cost of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting discount if applicable. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less all costs to completion
and all direct costs necessary to make the sale.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless
they contain significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade and other receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes
in value.

2.18 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Borrowings (Continued) 219 B E (4#&)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

2.20 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(i)

(i)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the statement of financial position date
in the countries where the Group and its joint
ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.
The Group measures its tax balances either based
on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better
prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the date of the statement
of financial position and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current tax assets and liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.22 Employee benefits

(a)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected
to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render
the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The
liabilities are presented as current employee benefit
obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Pension obligations

The Group maintains a number of defined
contribution plans in the countries in which it
operates, the assets of the retirement benefit are
generally held in separate trustees-administered
funds. The retirement plans are generally funded by
payments from employees and by the Group.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000
(2021: HK$30,000). Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

The Group also participates in the employees’
pension schemes of the respective municipal
governments in various places (including the
Mainland China and the Argentine Republic) where
the Group operates. The Group makes monthly
contributions calculated as a percentage of the
monthly basic salary and the relevant municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.22 Employee benefits (Continued) 222 BRERF (&)

(c) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

2.23 Gold investment

Gold investment comprises the investment in gold
bullions for the purposes of capital appreciation and
capturing the effectiveness of gold as inflation-proofing
instrument. Gold investment is initially measured at cost.
Subsequently, gold investment is stated at the gold price
prevailing at the date of the consolidated statement of
financial position. Changes in fair value of gold prices are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as part of “other income and net gains and losses”.

2.24 Provisions

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.24 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Estimated dismantlement cost for oil and gas production
assets which meet the criteria of provisions are recognised
as provisions and the amount recognised is the present
value of the estimated future expenditure determined
in accordance with local conditions and requirements,
while a corresponding addition to the related oil and
gas production assets of an amount equivalent to the
provision is also created. This is subsequently depleted
as part of the costs of sales. Interest expenses from
the estimated dismantlement costs for each period are
recognised with the effective interest method during
the useful life of the related oil and gas production
assets. Due to technological progress, legal requirements
or changes in the market environment, changes in
the provisions caused by changes in the amount of
expenditure, estimated time of retirement obligations,
discount rate, etc., may occur in fulfilling the retirement
obligation. For an increase in provisions, the cost
of oil and gas production assets will be increased
accordingly; for a decrease in provisions, the cost of
oil and gas production assets will be deducted within
the limit of the carrying amount of assets related to
estimated dismantlement costs. If a decrease in the
provision exceeds the carrying amount of the oil and
gas production assets recognised corresponding to the
provision, the excess shall be recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition

(i)

Sale of goods — sales of precious metals, oil,
gas and petroleum-related products

The Group sells a range of commodities and
products including precious metals, oil, gas
and petroleum products under the general and
commodities refinery and trading segment and
upstream segment. Sales are recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being
when the products are delivered to customers,
the customers have accepted the products, the
collection of the related consideration is probable
and there is no unfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products. It is
generally satisfied at a point in time when the legal
title has passed to customers.

The determination of whether revenue should be
reported on a gross or net basis is based on an
assessment of whether the Group is acting as the
principal or an agent in the transactions. For the
sales of precious metals, in determining whether the
Group acts as the principal or an agent, the Group
follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent
considerations in HKFRS 15. Such determination
involves judgement and is based on an evaluation of
the terms and the substance in the precious metals
trading arrangement as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Sale of goods — sales of precious metals, oil,
gas and petroleum-related products (Continued)
The Group has engaged a sales agent to conduct
and handle the precious metals trading on behalf of
the Group and entered an agency agreement with
the sales agent during the year. In determination of
whether revenue of sales of precious metals should
be recognised on a gross or net basis, while none of
the factors individually are considered presumptive
or determinative, the Group is the principal in the
precious metals trading arrangement as it controls
the precious metals products before the products
are transferred to customers, because (i) the Group
is primarily responsible for delivering the specified
precious metals products to customers. The Group
has its discretion to trade with particular suppliers
and customers proposed by the sales agent. The
Group obtains the control of the precious metals
products and has the discretion to direct the sales
agent to deliver the precious metals products to
customers on behalf of the Group; (i) the Group
is subject to inventory risk including but not
limited to purity and quality issues which cannot
be compensated by the sales agent or other
counterparties; and (iii) the Group has the discretion
to approve the range of selling price, which
represented the spot market price plus or minus
the premium and discount, proposed by the sales
agent charged to customers. Therefore the Group
recognised the revenue on a gross basis.

Drilling service income

The Group recognises revenue in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss upon completion of the
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)

POLICIES (Continued)

2.25 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.25 WM (&)

(iiij) Financing components
The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

2.26 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at FVPL is included in
“net investment income/(loss)” on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as part of finance income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.27 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group has elected not to separate lease
and non-lease components and instead accounts for
these as a single lease component.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.

Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received, and makes adjustments specific
to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEHME#®)
POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Leases (Continued) 227 HE (&)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the FREEEZKAGZ  BENT

following: =

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease e THEBEMVBIESE:
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the o  TERMAHNZATZAME
commencement date less any lease incentives A & 5Ok A B W E A
received; BEE:

e any initial direct cost; and o FMAVBEEKA: &

e restoration costs. o (BEEBR-

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the CRAEEE-—RNEERIGASF

shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a M HOH(UBRREARE)IRE

straight-line basis. MOEFTEFE -

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases HEHHAERMEREBEEEM

of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis EEBENNFREGRERERR

as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are REAZ -EHEEEHEE A2
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. A ATEEE -
2.28 Share capital 2.28 R 7

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs TmREE AR HEBITHRG

directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options sk HAE B B AR Y IR G A R O

are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the &= NN APTS RIER IR (0B

proceeds. BIE) °

2.29 Dividend distribution 2.29 RE 2K

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is MARNERFRETHRE DK 7E

recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements RARIRESES (WER) ##E

in the period in which the dividends are approved by the H% S B BR FR) PR 7S &5 [ 1) B 7S o 2k

Company's shareholders or directors, where appropriate. NERBEE
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.30 Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees
is recognised as an employee benefits expense with a
corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of
the options granted:

- including any market performance conditions (e.g.
the Group's share price),

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability,
revenue growth targets and remaining an employee
of the Group over a specified time period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(e.g. the requirement for employees to save or hold
shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial instruments by categories

Financial
assets at
Note FVPL

BRANEE
FHABER

ik SHEE
HK$'000

TBT

As at 31 December 2022  R-E- 4

+-F=t+-H
Equity investments BaiE
Derivatives fTETR
Trade and other receivables [EWZE 5 &K

Cash and cash equivalents E&RHALEEY
Trade and other payables B E 5K TR

H iR FIR
Lease liabilities HEAE

19,22
28

20
24

25
26

SREMBHRRME

3 BEREARER
3.1 BENETNERMIA

Financial Financial

Financial assets at Financial liabilities at
assets at  amortised liabilities ~ amortised
FvVOCl cost at FVPL cost

RAAEE
SARM REHEREA BRAAEE REBHEAE
EEMAEN FEE SABER RN
tHEE SREE SRMAR SRAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TRL TR TR

153,513
851,171

209,721
29,101

1,004,684 238,822
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuea) 3 HXERKRERE#
3.1 Financial instruments by categories (Continued) 3.1 REANESMERTE (&)
Financial Financial
Financial Financial assets at Financial  liabilities at
assets at assets at amortised liabilities amortised
Note FVPL FVOCI cost at FVPL cost
BAREE
BAnBE  FAHEM REHEKA RAREE REEKA
FAERN  2EKEN FEN  FABER ATEM
] PREE SREE CRAE SRAR SRAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT THT THT THT THT
As at 31 December 2021  WH=-T=-—
+-F=t+-H
Debt investments EREE 22 39,190 - - - -
Equity investments BaiRE 19,22 42,338 10 - - -
Derivatives fTETE 28 - - - 2,354 -
Trade and other receivables [EWZ 5% K
H it WA 20 - - 165,418 - -
Cash and cash equivalents BERRESEY 24 - - 494,955 - -
Trade and other payables ~ ERE ZEH R
Hth &R FIE 25 - - - - 118,059
Lease liabilities HEEE 26 - - - - 30,984
81,528 10 660,373 2,354 149,043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, price risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising
in the normal course of its business and financial
instruments. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(a) Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through carrying out exploration activities
in Argentina and Canada and general and
commodities trading in Hong Kong, with
respect to United States dollar ("US$").
Currency risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require
group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against functional currency. It
mainly includes managing the exposures arise
from sales and purchases made by the relevant
group companies in currencies other than
their own functional currencies. The Group
also manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular reviews of the Group's net
foreign exchange exposures. Presently, there is
no hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure.

3 BXEREKRER#

3.2

Bt %5 R B R 3

AEEGE-—REBBELSRT
AP REZEPHEE : m5ER
(BREINER KR - ER R R KA &
R - EERRLREE SRR -
EEBYRERRETEENME
TR AT A REFAB Bz A=
BERAEZIENR-

(a) THEE
()  EEERE

AEETEEBRAIR
IERNE AR RE
HENEFERRERR
BmE S EEERET
(IRx))zEa®BRR-
SN [ B 2R BB R 2R P 3
Ry CDHEREEREA
BEARRBINERZ &
BFE-

EEECHERRAE
SERQRERINREE
BEENIMNERRR- - E
ZEAEERMAREE
REVAKREINEEEHEIA
SNEEEHETT B B I P
XE-ARETBBY
ZRER B O3 HMNE L e
TEMER UNEEH
SMNEE R\ B o B B 3
B B 51N [ B O 4 0 B
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's
exposure at the end of the reporting period to
currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which
they relate. For presentation purposes, the
amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong
Kong dollar, translated using the spot rate at
the year-end date. Differences resulting from
the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group's
presentation currency are excluded.

3 BXERERE#)

32 UHEABEE &)
(a) WmEmEE (E)

(1)

EEERE (&)

TRFMAEERHS
HAREHANEHER
BB IAIN 2 B’ 5T
BEzoHREELAR
mE % 2 &% E K - 5
EHEN REBAES
BABT2 KAF
EAEE A 2 BNEARE R4
B BN KB B WK
BEARAEEZ2ER
EEZEREZRIERE
Ao

Exposure to US$
(expressed in HK$)

ExEE (Bx)
2022 2021
—E=-= —T=—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Trade and other receivables JEUE 5 BRI
H th j& W /I8 788 31,976
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 384,313 233,785
Trade and other payables ERESERR
H b & 1 5K I8 (27,073) (54,255)
Financial assets at FVPL RAREEFAEZ
ZEREE 2,401
Net exposure arising EHREERBEM
from recognised assets 2 A R B BR
and liabilities 358,028 213,907
Majority of the Group currency risk exposure REBEE 2 K nE

to US$ is related to the Group's operations in
Hong Kong for which HK$ is the functional
currency. Since the pegged rate between
the Hong Kong dollar and the US$ would
not be materially affected by any changes in
movement in value of the US$ against other
currencies, the directors of the Company
considered that the Group's exposure to
currency risk is not significant and accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis has been presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes arising
from debt and equity investments classified
in the consolidated statement of financial
position either as at financial assets at FVOCI
or at FVPL amounted to HK$2,000 (2021:
HK$10,000) and HK$55,913,000 (2021:
HK$81,528,000), respectively. Most of these
investments are listed either on the stock
exchanges of Hong Kong or other countries.

Equity investments have been chosen based
on their longer term growth potential and are
monitored regularly for performance against
expectations.

Debt investments are placed with
counterparties with sound credit quality. The
Group closely monitors the credit quality
and financial positions of counterparties and
consider appropriate action if the market value
of those securities decline by a pre-determined
threshold.

At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 5% in the price
of relevant financial instruments, with all
other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group’s profit before
taxation and other comprehensive income by
HK$2,796,000 (2021: HK$4,076,000) and
HK$100 (2021: HK$500), respectively, as a
result of the change in fair value of debt and
equity investments.

3 BXEREKRER#

32 MBEBREE &)
(a) THEEEE (&)

(i)

1B 18 /E Bz

REEB D BINERE
BRRAERDEREAR
BEFAEME2ERE
FUARREBETABZ
/)& B & E2,00078 7T
— T~ —4:10,000
770 ) %55,913,000
BT (ZFEZ—F:
81,528,000/ 7T ) Wy &
B RIEEREBGRER
BHRAK -ZEREZ
BRZHREBREM
HRZEHFLXZ L
e

BRREDREBEAREK
RERENNE I T
HRECR RIREATEHR 2 5
iERS

BBERETHNEEE
ERCHEFF - AE
BERYEREEF L 215
BEEERIHBMKRAER
ZEFBLFMETREE
RERREEEITE -

RZEZZF+=A
=+—H -HFTAES
BMITAEBREER T
F#5% @ 1 FT B H fth &
BEBTEERLT A
SERAEBRER
REAREBESHM
SHL 10N B BRI R
) R B 2 W D
72,796,000/ 7T ( —
T~ — 4 :4,076,000
BIT) K100 T (= F
~ 45005 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Price risk (Continued)

Commodity price risk is the risk that fair value
or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result
of changes in commodity prices. Commodity
prices and gold prices are affected by a
number of economic, political and military
factors which are not within the control by the
Group.

The change in prices of precious metals
expose the Group to price risk as the Group
conducts business activities in precious metals
trading and also holds gold investments.
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
certain derivative financial liabilities with a
carrying amount of HK$4,581,000 (2021:
HK$2,354,000) for the purpose to mitigate the
price risk arising from precious metals price
fluctuations. Hence, the Group considered the
price risk arising from precious metals price
fluctuations is significantly reduced.

The change in commodity prices expose the
Group to price risk as the Group conducts gas-
and petroleum-related activities in Canada and
Argentina. A decrease in such prices could
adversely affect the Group's financial position.
The Group has not used any derivative
instruments to hedge against potential price
fluctuations of crude oil. The management will
consider appropriate hedging policy when the
need arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)
(iii)  Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-
bearing assets, except for short-term
bank deposits and debt investments, the
Group’s income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes
in market interest rates. Management does
not anticipate significant impact on interest-
bearing assets resulted from changes in
interest rates because the interest rates of
bank deposits and debt investments are not
expected to change significantly.

(b) Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables, cash at banks and the
unlisted investment classified as financial assets
at FVPL with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these financial instruments
which are stated as follows:

SREMBHRRME

iR ERE (&)

32 BKREBEE &)
(a) THEERE (&)
(iii) 7% &

AR AR BB ERTT
FRREFREIN I
BEAFREE AR
BRAREERERE
KB NS 35 ) R
FE - AR AR
FREEHREN KL
BEAEEY THER
MM BB REE
WEBATE -

(b) f=EmEE

AEBEZEERBREIEREA
A FEUE 5 8RR e B A B IR
RERTAERDBERR
AAEBEFABEZEHE
EZLMEE FEHZ
EREBREERZSFERT
HZMREE At

2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT

Trade receivables FEUE 5 R

Deposits and other receivables & & & H fth [iE U 37 18

Cash and bank balances & RIRTTA

Unlisted investment classified NEREARBERTA
as financial assets at fair ERce@MEEL
value through profit or loss FLEmRE

103,867 124,786
49,646 40,632
851,171 494,955

1,638 50,477

Maximum exposure to credit risk fxi= 12 & BB

1,006,322 710,850
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Trade receivables

The management has a credit policy in
place and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit
evaluations of its customers’ financial position
and condition are performed on each and
every major customer periodically. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and taking into account
information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. Normally, the
Group does not require collateral in respect
of its financial assets. Debts are usually due
within 30 days (2021: 30 days) from the date
of billing.

To mitigate credit risk with respect to
receivables arising from sale of precious
metals, the Group usually requires customers
to pay significant amount of advanced
payments to the Group before goods are
delivered. Hence, the Group considered the
credit risk is significantly reduced. There
was no significant amount of overdue
receivables arising from other customers as at
31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected credit loss provision for trade
receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

(i1)

Trade receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been assessed on an
individual basis. Management has applied
the expected credit risk model and estimated
the probability of default rate and loss given
default rate after considering the current
economic environment and the forward-
looking economic factors. As the Group only
had limited numbers of customers, credit risk
of each customer was assessed individually.
The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the expected credit loss is not
significant as a majority of the balance is due
from government bodies and no provision
has been made as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Credit risk of cash at banks

Management considers that the Group has
limited credit risk with its banks which are
leading and reputable with low credit risk. The
Group has not incurred significant loss from
non-performance by these parties in the past
and management does not expect so in the
future. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of
cash at bank is assessed to be minimal and no
provision was made as of 31 December 2022
and 2021.

3 BXEREKRER#

32 UHEABEE &)
(b) EEmEE (&)

(1)

(1)

EWE Z A (&)

RETEEMEERE"
EUE 5 RRE %A
PIEEEITRIG - EIE
EERF KERTEER
BERATEEEERER
ERBEHREERREREL
WihFHR OB KR RED
BEX -ARANEEE
BERZER HHE
NEP 2 EERBETT
BRI FE - ARAES
RN BHREEERL
TEXR REZRKRHD

REER D IE W H
ER-ZT-_—FR_-F
——%+-A=+—H
W TR -

RITHE ZIFERAR

FEEERA AEESE
BEPEHEERRK
MEBRITRS WE
HEHNEERKRER-
AREBBETERNZSE
R A TEAMELES
AEE mMERERBR
BT HBEFEE
BeoE I FEEIEITIR
2 EHEEBEET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(iif)

(iv)

Deposits and other debtors

Deposits and other debtors were mainly
interest receivables, rental deposits, and
refundable deposits placed to third parties. The
credit quality of deposits and other receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the risk of default by
these counterparties is not significant and
there was no significant increase in credit
risk. The expected credit loss was limited to
12 months expected credit losses. Therefore,
credit loss rate of the deposits and other
receivables is assessed to be minimal and no
provision was made as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.

Financial assets at FVPL

The Group had investments in unlisted fund
and debt securities. The Group monitors the
credit risks of these investments through
evaluation of financial data and performance
of the investees. The directors of the Company
were of the opinion that the risk of default
by these counterparties was not significant
and there was no significant increase in credit
risk. The expected credit loss was limited to
12 months expected credit losses. Therefore,
credit loss rate of these investments was
assessed to be minimal and no provision was
made as at 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short-term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover expected
cash demands, subject to approval by the Company’s
Board when the borrowings exceed certain
predetermined levels of authority. The Group's policy
is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable
securities and adequate committed lines of funding
from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at date of the statement of financial
position of the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the
statement of financial position date) and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay. Balance due
within 12 months equal their carrying balances as
the impact of discounting is not significant.

3 BXEREKRER#
32 MEERBREE(2)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The Group’s derivative instruments with negative fair
value of approximately HK$4,581,000 represented
the gold future contracts and paper gold and
paper palladium which were settled on a net basis
and has been included within “less than 1 year or
on demand” time bucket based on an expected
maturity basis. This is because the contractua
maturity are not essential for an understanding of
the timing of the cash flows.

Total
carrying

3

Total
contractual

amount undiscounted

BEEE
HK$'000
THEL

Y]
REZ
HK$'000
THEL

iR ERE (&)
32 MREBMEZE (&)

(c)

Less than

1 year or
on demand
1EURL
REX
HKS$'000
T

FEHELERE (&)
rEBAEBBAREAEAY
4,581,000 L 2 T4 T AR
2eHEAORKES LK
B ERFBEELEIR
BB HAEERT A T1FE M
WIZENK] — b Th R R
AHEHMBYTHERSRE
F R AT JE WA ZE ©

Between Between Over
1to2years 2to5 years 5 years

1228 255F #1855
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TATL TEL

As at 31 December 2022 RZZTZZF
+-R=1-8
Trade and other payables ENESEAR
o ERFE 209,721 209,721 209,721
Lease liabilities HEAE 29,101 38,352 9,444
Net-settled derivative FREHTESRIA
financial instruments 4,581 4,581 4,581
243,403 252,654 223,746 15,349
As at 31 December 2021 RZZ=—-F
+-A=1-8
Trade and other payables R 8 HEAR
Bt 7R 118,059 118,059 118,059 - - -
Lease liabilities HEARE 30,984 32,561 8,025 5,945 7,242 11,349
Net-settled derivative FRLEETESRIA
financial instruments 2,354 2,354 2,354 - - -
151,397 152,974 128,438 5,945 7,242 11,349
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBEEERE#)

3.3 Capital risk management 33 EXERER

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders’ returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in
economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose, net debt
is defined as total debt which includes interest-bearing
borrowings. Total equity is the balance as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s
strategy, which was unchanged from 2021, was to
maintain the net debt-to-capital ratio at a reasonable
level. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt. The table below analyses the net debt-to-capital
ratio as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

AEBZEAERTIEZARAR
EASBIZSERERLE 28

I ERBRRWRERE BEM
SRS E R e WIRT & B
BARBIAR D BARRKA

AEBEESNER RS REERE
BAGHE  NENRSEZUKER
ERGHNRSRRERERES
AR EHBE RREZBER
FrP il R REMRREFEE AR
FEBEHAR -

AEERBABFEHERLE
ERHEAZB -BUB AN KK
BRaEFERERAAGBHEE (B
A EEE) EGRBEARER
BN KRG ER

REBEE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—
AEFE AEEZFEA T = —
LRE HBERFREERLE
R—EEEKF - BERFLIAEE
KEER  RNEBE A g HIRMT TR
RERBEEBIEL TR  BFITHR
BEBEEENRE TRITTR
ZE - FRZFT—F+=H
=t BZERFEEEALE:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 HMBERRERE @
3.3 Capital risk management (Continued) 33 EXREBERE (&
2022 2021
—TE-—F T —4F
HK$"000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Lease liabilities (Note 26) MEAE (Hik26) 29,101 30,984
29,101 30,984
Total equity et 1,321,637 1,101,481
Net debt-to-capital ratio B FREEE R X 2.2% 2.8%

3.4

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Fair value estimation

Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the carrying value of
the financial instruments measured at fair value at
the date of statement of financial position across
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the
fair value of each financial instruments categorised
in its entirety based on the lowest level of input that
is significant to that fair value measurement.

(i)

The levels are defined as follows:

Level 1: fair values measured using quoted
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted
prices in active market for similar financial
instruments, or using valuation techniques
in which all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly based on observable data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continved) 3 BRRERERE@
3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.4 DRAEBHEME (&)
(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value (i) BRAAEBEBAKRZZ@EIA

(Continued) (%)

e Level 3: fair values measured using valuation e E=ZEB(ZEEBR):
techniques in which any significant input is VA E T (A Ef
not based on observable market data. ERE ABUE O IET

BREMSHE ARG
ERNEE.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—F -y £=8 @t

HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
TER TER TER TER

As at 31 December 2022 .
+=ZA=+—8H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCl: EARBERTA
HEt2mEla=Es
EREE:
— Unlisted equity investments —FErTREERE
Financial assets at FVPL: BARBETA
EaWemEE:
- Listed equity investments —FhERKRE
- Unlisted funds —FLWES
Liabilities afE
Derivative financial instrument:  #T4 4B T A:
~ Paper precious metals —HELEB
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3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BXEREKRER#

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
Financial instruments carried at fair value

(i)

3.4

DNRBEEME (E)

(i) %f}ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁZfﬂIﬁ

(Continued)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—E E-E EZE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FTAL FAEL
As at 31 December 2021 JrAp
+—-A=+—8H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOCI: BARBETAEAM
ZHNZZEMEE:
- Unlisted equity investments —FELTEERE - 10 - 10
Financial assets at FVPL; BRAREBEA
BanlemEE:
- Listed equity investments —FTTERKEE 17,950 - 10,700 28,650
- Listed debt investments —tHEBEE 2,401 - - 2,401
~ Unlisted debt investments —FLETMEBRE - - 36,789 36,789
~ Unlisted funds —FLEmES - 13,688 - 13,688
20,351 13,698 47,489 81,538
Liabilities afE
Derivative financial instrument;: /T4 ¢RI A:
- Gold future contracts -2 HEAYN 1,102 - - 1,102
— Paper precious metals —HRELB 1,252 - 1,252
2,354 - - 2,354
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and REBEE_ZT-__FK_-F
2021, there were no transfers between instruments ——#F+ZA=+—81L
in level 1 and level 2. During the year ended FE FERFEF_EZH
31 December 2021, the Group transferred a listed ZIAEEER HFE_—F
equity investment measured at FVPL from level 1 ——F+tZRA=+—HItF
into level 3 due to no available quoted price in E - BHREEEENRORN
active markets for the shares which were suspended JERT S I A A IRE
from trading. For the information about level 3 fair AEBMEBZRAREBGTA
value measurements, please refer to Note 3.4(i)(c). BREN EMEREER
The listed equity investment measured at FVPL was BE—REREE-H -
transferred from level 3 to level 1 as the shares have FE_WRAABETEFEN
resumed trading in active market during the year BEF - B2BMEE3.4>)(0) ° B
ended 31 December 2022, and the market value REOHERBE_T-_—_F
as at 31 December 2022 was observable. Other + A=+ —RHIEFEEE
than disclosed, there were no changes in valuation BWmiS FEEE BEWE
techniques during the year. W_E—_—_F+_HA=+—
HER Z2AnBAEFAR
HEAEMNLEMESIKERSE
—REEEE R BT
BEIN FRAMETETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of the statement of financial
position. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory
agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an
arm’s length basis. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. Instruments included
in level 1 comprise primarily equity and debt
investments listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
In this respect, the Group's investments are
classified as financial assets at FVPL.

Financial instruments in level 2

The equity interest in Foothills Exploration is
classified as equity investment and carried at
fair value. The fair value is valued using the
market approach with reference to the market
price of shares of Foothills Exploration (2021:
Same).

The unlisted funds held under the accounts
with Blanz Capital is classified as investment
carried at fair value. The fair value is valued
using the market approach with reference to
the official peso-dollar exchange rate.

3 BXEREKRER#

34

DREEME (F)

() BAAEBEAKRZEZHTA

(%)

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 2 (Continued)

The unlisted debt investments, unlisted
equity-linked securities and unlisted funds are
classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair
value are determined based on quoted market
prices provided by banks.

Financial instruments in level 3

As at 31 December 2021, the level 3
instruments mainly include investments in a
listed company which had been halted for
trading and certain unlisted debt securities
classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. As there was no active
market for these investments, majority of
their fair values have been determined using
applicable valuation techniques including
comparable transactions approach and asset-
based approach. These valuation approaches
require significant judgment, assumptions
and inputs, including information of recent
transactions (such as recent fund-raising
transactions undertaken by the investees),
financial information of the investees and
other publicly available information.

The following table summarises the
quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair value
measurements of other investments in unlisted
preferred shares of private companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continved) 3 HMBERRERE @
3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.4 AREEMF (&)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value () BARBEAEZSMIA
(Continued) (&)
(c)  Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) () ZE3ELHTAE)
Fair value Significant Relationship of unobservable
Description at December 31 unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
R+=—A=+—8 BERAFRAEE FUBEHABBR
it ZRREE TN ¢4 AhEEZBE
2022 2021
—E--& —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THT

Unlisted debt securities 36,789 Recent transaction prices  The higher the transaction prices,
the higher the fair value
MEAR 5B RHERES

AREEES

FLMEBES

Listed equity securities (which
had been halted for trading)
ETRAE S
(EEREFE)

10,700 Net asset values of the The higher the net asset value,
underlying investments the higher the fair value
HEREEEFE BEFEMS
AREEES

47,489
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma BB RME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)  Financial instruments carried at fair value

(Continued)

3 BXEREKRER#

3.4 DRAEBHEME (&)
(i) BAABEAKZEBITA

(%)

(c)  Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (c) ZE3E+@ITA(E)
Fair value measurements using significant FRERTAHERE
unobservable inputs (level 3) ANEBH AR EER

2(%£=E)

The following table presents the changes TREINBHE_-ZE
in level 3 instruments for the years ended ZZHERZIEZ—F
31 December 2022 and 2021: TZA=+—BI#F
EE=EIENE:

Listed equity

investments

ETRAERE

HK$'000

T T

At 1 January 2021 W_E_—F—H—H -

Transfer from level 1 to level 3 BE-—EEREEE-E 41,486
Loss recognised in consolidated RiraiEncBERIERE (30,786)

statement of profit or loss

At 31 December 2021 RZB_—F+-A=+—H 10,700

Transfer from level 3 to level 1 ME-—EEB=F—E (10,700)

At 31 December 2022

i

T+ -A=t+—H -

Note:

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 357,637,761
ordinary shares of Blue Sky Limited, a listed company on the
Stock Exchange with a fair value of HK$10,700,000, was
halted from trading in late January 2021 and transferred out
of level 1 into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. As there
was an absence of active market for the investments, the
fair value was determined by alternative valuation approach.
The fair value of the investment was determined based on
assets-based approach, after considering the impacts of
incidents disclosed in the forensic report and annual report
of Blue Sky Limited for year ended 31 December 2020, and

interim report 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(i) Financial instruments carried at fair value
(Continued)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)

The main level 3 unobservable inputs used by
the Group in measuring the fair value of the
equity investment as at 31 December 2021 are
derived and evaluated as follows:

o The benchmarks and returns of comparable
companies: these are determined based
on the companies that operated in similar
business and the simple average of the
returns of the comparable companies from
the trading date before suspension date to
31 December 2021;

o Discounts for lack of marketability:
marketability discounts of 14.6% and
51.4% are used to the adjusted share
price in arriving at the estimated per-
share value of the equity investment
under the resumption scenario and under
delisting scenario, respectively;

o Probability of delisting: the probability
of 48% is estimated by dividing the
total number of Hong Kong delisted
companies suspended for a prolonged
period before delisting over the trailing
12 months by the total number of
Hong Kong listed companies suspended
extensively over the same period.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
shares of the Blue Sky Limited had resumed
trading in July 2022. The instrument was
transferred out of level 3 to level 1 as the Group
measured its fair value with reference to market.

3 BXEREKRER#

3.4 DREEME (#F)
() BAAEBEAKRZZHIAR

(%)

(c)

#3F2HIA (&)
EREATIRER
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o HELEARME
ER U R RIE
EEERNRSAE
—E-—F+=HA
—t+—HEEHRE
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3 () B8 S BRRE

JE 5

o BRI
DR E BN
A (EEFH14.6% K
51.4% &) i@ 1
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BETREME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma BB RME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(ii)  Fair values of financial instruments carried at

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial
instruments, including non-current assets carried at
cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 December 2022 and
2021, due to their short maturities.

(iii) Fair values of non-financial assets carried at

fair value

The fair value estimation of the physical gold
investment, which included in “gold investment”
(Note 23), is categorised in Level 1 hierarchy. The
fair values is based on quoted market prices in
an active market at the date of the statement of
financial position.

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group's management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses
in the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with HKFRS. The assumptions, estimates and judgements
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. While
the management reviews their judgements, estimates and
assumptions continuously, the actual results will seldom equal
to the estimates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Estimates and judgements are regularly evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The matters described below are considered to be the most
critical in understanding the estimates and judgements that
are involved in preparing the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

(i) Impairment losses of non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment and other non-financial
assets, including exploration and evaluation assets, are
reviewed for possible impairments whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Determination as to
whether and how much an asset is impaired involves
management estimates and judgements. However,
the impairment reviews and calculations are based on
assumptions that are consistent with the Group’s business
plans. Favourable changes to some assumptions may
allow the Group to avoid the need to impair any assets
in these years, whereas unfavourable changes may cause
the assets to become impaired.

The Group relied on experts to assess the geological
prospects for the discovery of oil in the oilfield and
estimated the value of oil to be produced in the future
at a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. For drilling costs and other exploration and
evaluation assets, the Group determined whether the
related well costs are expensed if it is determined that
such economic viability is not attained after performing
further feasibility studies. Judgement is required by the
board of directors of the Company to determine key
assumptions adopted in the cash flow projections and
changes to key assumptions can significantly affect these
cash flow projections and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(ii) Estimated production volumes and

dismantlement costs for oil properties

Estimates of future production volumes are key elements
in the Group’s investment decision-making process. They
are also an important element in testing for impairment.
Changes in total proved oil future production volumes
will affect unit-of-production depreciation recorded in the
Group's consolidated financial statements for property,
plant and equipment related to oil production activities.
A reduction in proved future production volumes will
increase depreciation charges. Future production volume
estimates are subject to revision, either upward or
downward, based on new information, such as from
development drilling and production activities or from
changes in economic factors, including product prices,
contract terms or development plans.

Dismantlement costs for oil properties are estimated
with reference to engineering estimates after taking into
consideration the anticipated method of dismantlement
required in accordance with industry practices in similar
geographic area, including estimation of economic life of
oil properties, technology and price level. The ultimate
dismantlement costs are uncertain and cost estimates can
be varied in response to many factors including changes
to relevant legal requirements, the emergence of new
restoration technique or experience at other production
sites. The expected timing and amount of expenditure
can also change, for example, in response to changes
in reserves or changes in laws and regulations or their
interpretation. As a result, there could be significant
adjustments to the provision established which would
affect future financial results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4 EBERSHESTRHE 2
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(iii) XSt

(iii) Business combinations

Accounting for acquisitions require the Group to allocate
the cost of acquisition to specific assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values
at the date of acquisition. The Group has undertaken
processes to identify all assets and liabilities acquired,
including acquired intangible assets. Judgements made in
identifying all acquired assets, determining the estimated
fair value assigned to each class of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, as well as asset’s useful lives, could
materially impact the calculation of goodwill, bargain
purchase and depreciation and amortisation charges in
subsequent periods. Estimated fair values are based on
information available near the acquisition date and on
expectations and assumptions that have been deemed
reasonable by management. Determining the estimated
useful lives of tangible and intangible assets acquired also
requires judgement.

Different conclusions around these judgements may
materially impact how these investments presented and
measured in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

WEEREERANEEERH
WEZHEEEMRMAZEREER
WEBHZEFAABEERS
ZRADEREBRAN - AEEEETT
ZIEEFABRMKEZAEE
ERAE HPRmEEZETY
BE-ESMBUEBZEE B
EFBBEELMAERBSE
BRIZEFA 2R BERAREEZ
AR R (R 2 HIET ATRE R
HEtEEE REBEURERY
BMZMERBEIHEREARY
BB AABEDEREERH
AR AT B ERIANEIEER R
BEZEMMERRETE BEMK
BZAWEREREEZGAAE
P4 HRTRZR 1F h -

BRZFHE 2 T TRAEWAES
BASESEAMBREEI NG
BEZHREREELEATE-
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

Management has determined the operating segments based
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker
that are used to make strategic decisions. The chief operating
decision-maker is identified as the executive directors of the
Company. The executive directors assess the performance
of the operating segments based on the segment revenue,
segment results, segment assets and segment liabilities for the
purposes of allocating resources and assessing performance.
These reports are prepared on the same basis as these
consolidated financial statements.

Management has identified two reportable segments based on
the Group's business model:

o Upstream: This segment is engaged in the exploration,
development, production and sale of oil and gas.
Currently the Group's activities in this segment are carried
out in Canada and Argentina.

o General and commodities refinery and trading: This
segment includes refinery and trading of precious metals
and petroleum-related products.

Segment results represents the profit or loss resulted from
each segment without allocation of share of losses of joint
ventures, gain on bargain purchase, unallocated interest
income and expenses and other corporate expenses. Segment
assets include all the assets with the exception of investments
in joint ventures, financial assets at FVOCI and unallocated
corporate assets. Segment liabilities include all the liabilities
with the exception of deferred tax liabilities and unallocated
corporate liabilities. This is the measure reported to the Group’s
chief executive decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(Continued)

Capital expenditure comprises addition to exploration and
evaluation assets and property, plant and equipment for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

(i) Segment results, assets and liabilities
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
as provided to the Group's chief executive decision maker
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment for the year is set out below:

Upstream
L

2022

—E-C —T-—

HKS$'000
TERL

Reportable segment revenue (Note) A28 e (FE) 1,002,555

Reportable segment results ERHBEE 309,173

Depreciation and amortisation REREH (129,336)
Gains on derivative financial instruments $74 €& T &2 Iz -
Fair value losses on gold investment ~ E&EZAAEEEBE -
Interest income FBBA 5,621
Interest expenses FERX (VYAVE)]

Capital expenditure BRRY 197,324
Reportable segment assets AERHHEE 1,531,409
Reportable segment liabilities PEE LESY (685,457)
Note:

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during both the
current and prior year. All of the Group’s revenue is recognised at a point
in time.

SREMBHRRME

Wzt & 5 ¥R ()

Hz_Z_—_#r-_ZFT-_—%+=-A
=t BHULEFE - EARALBEHREN
RN HEERDE BB & EE-

() 2WXE EEREE
FRRETAREZELLERK
EREERDE LD #RBRF G
ZHEBAREZ/OMERDT

General and commodities

refinery and trading Total

LERBRERRES b

2021 2022 2021

—E-—F Pl e “E-—fF

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL TERL TAL

3,935 2,859 313,108

RRROETRE 10,907,443 FELRRERPALE 11,167,076

(2,491) (272) IAEREY)] (36,666)
964 7,725 964 10,291
(989) (2,507) (989) (2,507)
464 38 6,085 2,633
(452) (250) (27,625) (9,256)

3,752 7,485 201,076 13,468

331,866 336,425 | CEEAEN 1,552,651
(40,600) (18,527) © EPAG AR (528,848)

M EE -

EXFREHRZ DR EBEREINFETSZ
e - RAFERBEFE  WEDBEHE
EHE-AREZ A RSN — R

.
27
o ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment results,

assets and liabilities

W 2 2 2 BR R ()

(i) TEHI VXA EEREE
ZHRRE

2022 2021
—=-__ T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T T T
Results 4

Reportable segment results A2Wmn A EE 313,108 47,358
Unallocated interest income Ko BFEWA 1,545 750
Unallocated interest expenses FOEFERAX (166) (4,671)
Gain on bargain purchase HEEEWE - 407,655
Other corporate expenses HEhEMAT (37,491) (65,170)
Share of losses of joint ventures [ElEEEhECEE (4) (5)

Unallocated net investment EOEELERA S (EiE)
income/(loss) FE 23,713 (42,281)
Profit before taxation R 354 Bl A 300,705 343,636
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WRKDEmE &)
(Continued)

(i) TEHI VXA EEREE

(ii) Reconciliation of reportable segment results,

assets and liabilities (Continued) ZHRK (&)
2022 2021
—=-_= T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T T T
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AZ2WmoHEE 1,863,275 1,552,651
Investments in joint ventures REEREZRE 932 936
Financial assets at FVOCI BRAREBETAEM
PEREZERMEE 10
Unallocated corporate assets: ROWMEEEE:
— Cash and bank balances —Re MIRTER 240,912 148,629
- Financial assets at FVPL —BAREBEEFA
BRemEE 54,275 31,051
— Other receivables — E fth B U FR0B 3,026 3,021
- Others —H At 3,006 52
Consolidated total assets FEEERE 2,165,428 1,736,350
2022 2021
—E=-= —E= - —4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FH& T
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment liabilities AEHRyHEE 726,057 528,848
Deferred tax liabilities EERIAEE 59,792 46,221
Unallocated corporate liabilities: Ao bEEE:
— Deposit received —Blize 44,994 44,994
- Unallocated lease liabilities — Ao EEEE 2,891 3,601
- Others —Hfth 10,057 11,205
Consolidated total liabilities maaEes 843,791 634,869
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

(Continued)

(iii) Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue from
external customers; and (ii) the Group's non-current
assets other than financial assets at FVOCI (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of the
Group’s revenue is based on the locations of customers.
The geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on (i) the physical location of the asset,
in the case of property, plant and equipment and
exploration and evaluation assets; and (ii) the location
of the operation to which they are allocated, in the case
of prepayments, deposits and other receivables. In the
case of investments in joint ventures, it is based on the
location of the operation of such joint ventures.

Revenues from
external customers

RENBEF 2 Bz

2022
—Eg=-=

HK$'000

TERx

Hong Kong BB 19,910,661
Canada mex 900,845
Mainland China H D A D, -
Argentina B 4R 5 101,710

NEW TIMES ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED e ¥R 8EJR B BR 2 A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY EE

Wi Ko EpEmE (&)

(iii)) LEER

TREINOAEERBINHNEPZ
Wit RIVAEEZFRBEE

TeEREAABEFALLEZE
WazeREE ([REFRRBE
B RV E 2 ER - AEE R
B IR B Y ER TP PIE o 4
EIEMENEE 2 BB THERG)
YR - BE Rl MR KA
BEMs BEANFUREZHE:

RNLIENFIE - & R H A fE U
REME REEDIEEZZEW
B-MRAERCEZREMS A
NZERECEEBMELIER

£ o

Specified
non-current assets
HEFRBEE
2022
—E-=
HK$°000
THAT

29,602
872,470 718,292
= 233
78,113 120,434

20,913,216 11,167,076 980,185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING 5 WEKkoEHEE &)
(Continued)
(iv) Disaggregation of revenue (iv) WzAn
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers KEEFPANNKAANETEER
by major products or service lines is as follows: SRR T -
2022 2021
—EC-CF T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER T T
Revenue from contracts with BB E R F 1558
customers within the scope of REHEANKREEP
HKFRS 15 B R U
— Refinery and sales of precious —ERLkEmESHZ
metals under general and EeEBRRIHEE
commodities trading 19,910,661 10,824,703
— Sales of petroleum-related products —ERNMEHEHZ
under general and commodities AhEEEREE
trading 82,740
— Sales of oil and gas products —HRBREREEL
under oil and gas exploration AR miHE
and production 1,002,555 259,633
20,913,216 11,167,076
Revenue from major customers who have individually REE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—
contributed 10% or more of the total revenue of the HiIEFEEBERMAEE10%3%
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are NERKRERZEEREP 2w
disclosed as follows: T
2022 2021
—E-_F — T —%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Customer 1 =1 3,895,628 2,550,295
Customer 2 B2 2,724,304 761,153
Customer 3 B3 2,271,307 3,091,846
The above customers are included in general and FlEPFHALTBELEMBRK
commodities refinery and trading segment. 59
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE IR AR M R

6 OTHER INCOME AND NET GAINS AND

LOSSES

6 HMtWA- WEKEEFHE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Bank interest income HRITH B WA 7,630 3,383
Drilling service income AR A 1,507 1,289
Gains on derivative TESB T ElE
financial instruments 963 10,291
Fair value losses on EeREZANERA
gold investment 518 (CLL)) (2,507)
Hyperinflation monetary BHEKREEERARE (M)
adjustments (Note) 19,311 5,870
Net foreign exchange losses SN 5 18 F R (27,410) (8,236)
Trading revenue R 5 W 2,008 -
Rental income el A 6,906 5,830
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE HEREHE
plant and equipment pd) 1= (4,218)
Others HAth (1,657)
10,045
Note: Bt 5T

In May 2018, the Argentine peso (“ARS”) underwent a severe devaluation
resulting in the three-year cumulative inflation of Argentina to exceed 100%,
thereby triggering the requirement to transition to hyperinflation accounting as
prescribed by HKAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies, for
the activities of the Argentine subsidiaries and branches from 1 January 2018

onwards.

Under HKAS 29, the non-monetary assets and liabilities stated at historical
cost, the equity and the statement of profit or loss of subsidiaries and branches
operating in hyperinflationary economies are restated for changes in the general
purchasing power of the local currency applying a general price index, and
monetary items that are already stated at the measuring unit at the end of the

reporting period are not restated.

To measure the impact of inflation on the Group’s financial position and
results, the Group has elected to use the Wholesale Price Index (Indice de
Precios Mayoristas) for periods up to 31 December 2016, and the Retail Price
Index (Indice de Precios al Consumidor) thereafter. These price indices have
been recommended by the Government Board of the Argentine Federation of

Professional Councils of Economic Sciences.

Current year hyperinflation monetary adjustment for the change in price index
amounting to HK$19,311,000 (2021: HK$5,870,000) was recognised in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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(BUHBRECEVBERRIOAE AREEZMN
BREHENEN

BEEB G EBE29  RELRATIRZFE
ER¥MEERAE BRE RN BUBKRLERER
BECMBAR RS ARZERK BARA &
—RYERERELEE—RBEENZEH T
Y MERBRERRZABEMI R ZER T
HARATET-

B EBIREAEEOM B REEMEKX
IFE AEEREE-_T—AF+-A=+—
HEIE B & A3 E A #(Indice de Precios
Mayoristas) * JA R E 1% 38 A T & (B {E #E H(Indice
de Precios al Consumidor) ° 7% & BB 15 BT A 4R
EMARCENEEEEBRENRNEZESE# -
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19,311,000/ 7T ( —F = —4F : 5,870,000/5 7T ) 7
HABHERER-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

7 NET INVESTMENT INCOME/(LOSS) 7 BREWA (EIE)FRE
2022 2021
—=E—-— —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHBT
Net income/(loss) in listed EFHRAESZ
equity securities (Note 22) WA (B8R FE (MiE22) (35,675)
Net income/(loss) in listed and TR LETEBES
unlisted debt securities ZWA S (EiE) 8 (5,904)
Others HAty 638
(40,941)
8 EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 RBRMHESSZHEX

Profit before taxation has been arrived after charging the PR A AT A Ty A HIBR LA T IB B 18 B

following items:

2022 2021
—E-C—fF —E=-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FAT
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAEMAX ZFEKRAR
expense 20,321,737 11,036,303
Processing charges MIT&H 7,304 10,472
Depreciation of property, W WEREETE
plant and equipment (Note 16) (FzE16) 132,594 37,558
Employee benefit expenses EEEAFXZ
(including directors’ remuneration) (BREREZMS)
(Note 9) (Ht5E9) 102,578 30,985
Auditor’s remuneration Z AT B &
— Audit services —BIZR 3,295 1,900
- Non-audit services —EEZ R 699 2,470
Legal, professional and EECBEER
transaction-related expenses REEERAX 21,417 48,157
Others EAh 32,998 18,422
Total cost of sales and general and HER KK
administrative expenses TS 2 AR 20,622,622 11,186,267
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY EE

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

9 EERAMAX (BEESH
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION) &)

2022 2021
—EC-CF T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E T FAT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e HEREMER 97,066 29,453
Contributions to defined contribution 7 284 ZGR (R a2 4 3
retirement plan 5,512 1,532

102,578 30,985
HEZ-_—_F+_A=1T—HIEFE"
NS B £ B) AR OS WA FRUA TR D R AR
FEZEF(ZE=-—F &)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no forfeited
contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its
contributions for the current year (2021: Nil).

172

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2021:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in Note 10.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate of
the emoluments in respect of the other three individuals (2021:
three) were as follow:

AUEEHFMAL
AfusEsHFMALEFR WEL(ZF
ZF @A) BES EBE R0
BE-HE_ZE-__+-_A=+—8
EFE - Hth=u(ZF=—F:=41)
ATzEHBESIT
2022 2021
—E-_fF T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Salaries, allowances and benefits e EMREWET
in kind

Discretionary bonuses

Retirement scheme contributions

[ICR(FAN
BRETBI R

3,994 2,234
167 177
139 49

4,300 2,460

No emoluments were paid by the Group to these individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office.

The emoluments of this highest paid individuals fall within the
following band:

AREEY EAZEFALTIMEABEE
AN BN S [ 3k 00 B s 2 BR RN Ko A S
B
ReRFMALzHe@BENT

HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000

500,001 7£-1,000,000/% 7T
1,000,0017% 71,500,000/ 7T

2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

A" A

0 2
3 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 10 EEFFERAZ (FELQT
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION %% (56622%F ) 5£3831% -
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES A (HEEEFZER) B
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES (%6622GE )R EmHEAIBE
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT FrE2 8 5E)

BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
622G) AND LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (a) E=HM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section EEFMRBEFEBLAGKIE
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3BMER AT (HEEFM=E
2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about B ROIE2E R EHBE LT

Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2022
—BC-CE
Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
Directors’  allowances and  Discretionary  to a retirement Share-based
fees  benefits in kind bonuses  benefit scheme Sub-total payments Total
e 2ER EERAER URGHER
EzHe ENEN BiEeA RIS it PAVEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET TET TER TET TEL TET

Chairman *E
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ~ ## 8% 4

Executive director HITEE

Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan HkBE4E
(Chief Executive Officer) (fTB#4#)

Non-executive director FHITEE

Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHLE

Indevendent non-executive BUHRITEE
directors

Mr. CHIU, Wai On REZEE
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie SREEE
Mr. Huang, Victor BREEEE
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
GZZG) AND LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

10 EEREAEF=®E (FELQT

&5 (55622F ) 563831% - A
A (BEEENRER) KA
(%6622GE )R EmHEAIBE
e E) (40)

(a) EZEHM (&)

2021
—E- &
Employer's
Salaries, contribution
Directors’ allowances and  Discretionary to a retirement Share-based
fees benefits in kind bonuses benefit scheme Sub-total payments Total
e ZHR B BRI IR {3 B 2T
EE20k EWER L TR N FANES @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TET TAT TAT TET
Chairman 7
Mr. CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart ~ EB8@ %4 - 2,225 2,185 - 4,410 - 4,410
Executive director HITEE
Mr. TANG, John Wing Yan BkBEE
(Chief Executive Officer) (778 43) - 2,496 2,208 - 4,704 - 4,704
Non-executive director HHTEE
Mr. LEE, Chi Hin Jacob FEHEE 485 - 40 - 525 - 525
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE
directors
Mr. CHIU, Wai On REZEE 200 - - - 200 - 200
Mr. YUNG, Chun Fai Dickie HiRELE 200 - - - 200 - 200
Mr. Huang, Victor HEELE 200 - - - 200 - 200
1,085 4721 4,433 - 10,239 - 10,239

No directors of the Company waived any emoluments
and no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of
the directors of the Company as an accepting office as
director or as a compensation for loss of office as director

(2021: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION
383 OF THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), COMPANIES
(DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ABOUT
BENEFITS OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP.
GZZG) AND LISTING RULES) (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or
its subsidiary undertaking (2021: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for
the early termination of the appointment during the year
(2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to the third parties for making
available the services of them as a director of the
Company (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year
(2021: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year (2021: Nil).

10 EEFFERAZ (FELQT
&6l (£622F ) 53831k - 1
A (IRBEEENZER) RH
(%6622GE )R EmHEAIBE
e E) (40)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

()

EERNKER
EFTEMEAMEEARA L
EfB AR EB 2 HioREEX
M EUCRKEN (2T = —F:
&) -

EERBERN
FRUEAZERFLIEMRLER
EOmME(ZF=—F &)

RENMEEREOE=FZ
HWRE
VTERENEEI(EARNRGIES
REMREMEESE = HELA
(B —FE)-

EBUEE ZEEENZE
FrEREEERASHZAN
ER - EERREMBRENE
&

FABMENES ZFEF X
ZHEZBERBEEEBAYREALZ
B EBRRHEMRS (ZF
T F ).

EERRSE RHEREGHNE
AiER

R B F AR S F A B
M BEEMARRESRETE
EoEEEA TN EAERASR
AEBEBBEZERR S T
REHN(ZEZ—F )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M BHRRME

11 FINANCE COSTS 11 MERAK
2022 2021
—E—-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FAT
Interest on borrowings BEEME 4,462
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEHE 675
Imputed interest on provisions BEHEERN D (HiE29)
(Note 29) 8,790
Others HAi -
13,927
12 INCOME TAX 12 FBH

2022 2021
—E-—fF T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Current tax B ER 18
Provision for the year FNEE 3 11
Overprovision in prior year BT FEHBBEE (1,040) -
(1,037) 11

Deferred tax LR E
Charged to the profit or loss (Note 27) A EzE IR (M:E27) 14,222
14,233
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Company and its subsidiaries
incorporated in Bermuda and the BVI are not subject to any
income tax in Bermuda and the BVI for both the current and
prior year.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profit for the year. No provision
for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year ended
31 December 2022 as the Group’s operations in Hong Kong
had no assessable profits.

Subsidiaries of the Group in Argentina are subject to
Argentina corporate income tax (“AIT") at 35% (2021:
35%) and minimum presumed income tax (“MPIT"”). MPIT is
supplementary to AIT and is chargeable at the applicable tax
rate of 35% (2021: 35%) on the tax basis of certain assets.
The tax liabilities of subsidiaries of the Group in Argentina are
the higher of AIT and MPIT.

Subsidiaries of the Group in Canada are subject to Canadian
corporate income tax (“CCIT") at 38% (2021: 38%) together
with the federal abatement of 10% (2021: 10%) and general
rate reduction or manufacturing and processing deduction
of 13% (2021: 13%), the net federal tax rate is 15% (2021:
15%). With the provincial and territorial CCITs range from 8%
(Alberta) (2021: 8%) to 12% (British Columbia) (2021: 12%),
the aggregate tax rate ranged from 23% to 27% (2021: 23%
to 27 %).

mE MR

12 Fii®i (&)

REAREMRBEZHES ([RBEXL
BB ZHRANER AnE REK B
NERBRE N KRB B SEMAKL
ARERRBEFEOBRAMMERE
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FE - BEAEMNCBHIBEAFEZMH
STERR TR R FIR16.5% (ZFE - —4F:
16.5% ) R EEHBE - BE-_T -
F+ZRA=+—HLFE BHRAEE
NEBZEBW EERFEF - i &
TIRBABFSHEE-

REBE R PIRE 2 M B A &) ZBIE35%H
R(ZT - —F:35% ) MMM BEEE
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35% ) EAREGR - AEBHERQF
RETIRIE 2 FLIH B B B IREFEH R
HAREMEHRzZESE -

AEBPAMEROME QR AZ38%
(ZZE=——F:38% )R RHMHME KR
CEMER (IMEXRCERMEH])
EREN0% (ZEZ—F:10% ) B
WE s —MBEERENI1Z% (ZFE=—
F:13% )RS RN TR - BEIBFR
RAE15% (ZEZ—F:15%) A/ N
WEENERPEMBHEREN T8%
(MaEE) (ZEZ—F 8% )&E12%
(BFE) (ZE-—F:12%) @H=R
NF23%E27% (ZE = —F:23%%
27%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B A AR MY EE

12

INCOME TAX (Continued)

12

Subsidiaries of the Group in the Mainland China are subject to
Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) in accordance with the Law of
the People’s Republic of China (“"PRC”) on Corporate Income
Tax (the “CIT Law”). Under the CIT Law, the income tax rate
applicable to these subsidiaries is 25% (2021: 25%).

Taxation for other overseas subsidiaries of the Group is charged
at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the

relevant countries and regions.

The tax on the Group’s profit before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate

of the Group’s subsidiaries as follows:

FrE® (&)

A 52 B 5 B KB R B B A B AR I P
EANRLFE([HE])CEMERE
([ZEREBBED SN EEMSH (T
¥FMEBH]) BRELEMEHE ZF
B A E@EAMSHE X A25% (=
T —%F:125%)°

AR B E At SN B B 2 B TR IR AR RE
BER KkilE 2 RITHEE R R -

7% 5% 18 B A5 A OAE ) 2 7 7R B P AN 6k [
MEBARMNCEMNEEEZERD R
EEMT:

2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER T T
Profit before taxation Fx B B v 300,705 343,636
Notional tax on profit/(loss) before BRARB AR (EE)
taxation, calculated at the rates ZEBERE REAR
applicable to profit/(loss) in the BEARB A ERER R,
jurisdictions concerned (E1E) ZE“E?EJrM 82,217 60,172
Tax effect of non-taxable income RN 2 T2 (10,230) (67,554)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses — RISz 2 BiiE 5 & 18,771 16,558
Tax effect of hyperinflation impact BUBRNTZECHBEE 7,159 11,977
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BREBETRERE
previously not recognised as BEBIEEEZ
deferred tax assets MBEBBEHBEEE (78,792) (14,295)
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary ~ RERHREE B KL
differences not recognised TREEIODBTE (7.261) 975
Over-provision in respect of prior years & 1E & [ B8 A& (1,040) -
Tax effect on change in tax rate (Note) HAEHEREH s HIETE
S 3,979 6,400
Income tax expense Frig 8 X 14,803 14,233
Note: Bt 5
The tax rate of AIT increased from 30% to 35% for the year ended 31 December %zi_ T —F+_A=+—HLEFER MR

2021 onwards.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13

14

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend
the payment of any final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$285,905,000 (2021: HK$329,401,000)
and weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year of approximately 8,780,799,000 shares
(2021: 8,758,881,000 shares).

(b) Diluted earnings per share
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, basic
and diluted earnings per share were the same as there
were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during
the year.

13

14

E R AR M R

iR =

ARREFGEZMNRNEMNEE_-T
T T RA=1T-HIEFENRER
B(ZF=—F 8)-

BRER

(a) BREXRER
BREABMNDREANARES
A JE i 72K 5= B4 F285,905,0007%
7T (=—Z = —%:329,401,000/5
T RAFEE BT EEA R I
15 81 478,780,799,0000% (==&
——%F :8,758,881,000/% ) 5+ & o

(b) BREEER
e — —EZ—F
+ZA=+—BLFE BHRFR
MEETEE NS BRG
WERERREERFER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

15 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 15 BERFHEE

180

Exploration Exploratory Geological
rights drilling studies Others Total
BE BREH WEMR Hitr st
(Notes (a)
(Note (a)) and (b))
(ME@) (HF@kb)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T THEL TAT TEL
At 1 January 2021 WZZ-—-%—-f—H
Cost KR 3,226,181 89,212 137,637 31,429 3,484,459
Accumulated impairment RETRE (3,226,181) (26,084) (137,637) (31,429) (3,421,331)
- 63,128 - - 63,128
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-ZT-—%
+ZA=+-BLEE
At 1 January 2021 R-B--£-f-AH - 63,128 - - 63,128
Additions RE - 408 - - 408
Transfers (Note (b)) EE NG - (53,526) - - (53,526)
Hyperinflation adjustments EUHBRAR - (10,010) - - (10,010)
At 31 December 2021, RZE-—F
1 January 2022 and +-A=+t-8"
31 December 2022 ZZoZE-A-BHR
—E--F+-R
=+t-H - - - - -
At 31 December 2021 and i St
31 December 2022 +ZA=+-Bk
kbt el
=+-H
Cost A 3,225,286 24,863 118,644 31,302 3,400,095
Accumulated impairment RERE (3,225,286) (24,863) (118,644) (31,302) (3,400,095)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r e B A SRR MY EE

15 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The total costs of exploration rights and exploratory drilling amounting
to approximately HK$3,225,286,000 (2021: HK$3,225,286,000) and
HK$24,863,000 (2021: HK$24,863,000) as at 31 December 2022
represented the Group's 69.25% (2021: 69.25%) interest in the Tartagal
concession and Morillo concession (collectively the “T&M Concessions”)
which are the concessions in the province of Salta in Northern Argentina,
through an Union of Temporary Enterprise (“T&M UTE"). Exploration
permits were granted for oil and developments of hydrocarbons in
the T&M Concessions for an initial period of four years starting from
29 December 2006 and additional extensions up to an aggregate of nine
years may be obtained. The Group submitted applications to the Secretary
of Energy of Province of Salta, Argentina (”Salta SOE"”) for extensions
of the exploration permits and obtained the approvals in July 2010,
July 2011, December 2013, March 2016 and March 2018, respectively.
Pursuant to the approval document issued in March 2018, the exploration
permits were extended to 13 September 2019. If successful hydrocarbon
discoveries are made, the exploration permits could be converted to
exploitation permits for a term of 25 years with a possible extension of 10
years.

The Group submitted its application to the Salta SOE for a further
extension of the exploration permits in May 2019, and for entering the
second exploratory period in early September 2019.

However, on 17 September 2019, the Salta SOE issued resolutions
rejecting both the Group's applications of one-year extension and
entering into the second exploratory period in the T&M Concessions
("Resolutions”). In late September 2019, the Group have submitted its
appeal to the Minister of Production in the Province of Salta in order to
seek the revocation of the Resolutions. Based on the latest communication
with the related authorities in the Province of Salta and a legal opinion
obtained from an independent Argentinian legal counsel, the Group
believes there is significant uncertainty in regard to the timing and
possibility of a positive appeal result in favour of the Group. The Group
recognised full impairment in respect of the exploration and evaluation
assets related to T&M Concessions during the year ended 31 December
2019.

There was no significant update on the appeal in respect of the revocation
of the Resolutions during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

15 BRI EEE (&)

R-Z-—#+-A=+—AzHEER
R 8 H) MK A 73 493,225,286,00058
gL (=%Z = —%1:3,225,286,0008 7T) &
24,863,000 7T ( =% — — 4 : 24,863,000
EIL) 0 AAREEE BUnion of Temporary
Enterprise ([ T&M UTE | ) 45 & Tartagal 5 5F
& &MorillofFar & (518 [T&ME 3
BB (AP AR 2L b 20 5E B 25 A WO AT 48
[%)69.25% (ZF = — 4 :69.25% ) K &
e TRMEFETIE R N 2 A om RIS & W
FRERMESN BT E+=A
Zt+hARKNABRNSE W BIMNEH -
BEZAHANF - AEEC MM BIERE
BRI R ([EEEGERBR])ERH
HRAEREFZ UHRR T —ZTFt
A —f——%tA - —_ZT—=%+—-A4-
TE-XNFEZRAR-E-N\E=-AESGH
MRER T — NF= BEZENHEX
" HFEEIEE 2 AFART=8-
MR BERRE(EY WERTAIEmE
Bk AE2SEM BT A 30 A gE B A0
Eo

ARER =T —AFEAAEBEE LR
BREZ BRI — SRR LR
ST AN AMEREAS - BHRS
-

A R_F-NFAATLR BERER
ERBPREBEHARR BARAKTEERTIM
HHERER - FREANE —EHRAD
M B ([(REBER]) - RZT—NFNLA
E-AREREREEEERELLF
EESKBMEASR - AN EEREELM
B &P PT 80 B 8T B B R A AR A B IR B R
RESHZERER AKERR FAR
AN 52 B ¢ IE b A A SRR RS R AT R METF
EEATHEE - BE-ZT-LF+=A
=t - HLEFE AEEEBTIMEFF
R HR R LA ERRTEONE -

RBE-_T-_—_FR-ZF=-_—F+=A
=+ BLFEE TEEBAERAZRL
FOEREHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

15 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The balances also included the drilling activities in the Los Blancos
Concession (formerly known as Chirete Concession) in the province of
Salta in Northern Argentina (“Los Blancos Concession”), in which the
Group farmed into 50% participating interest under a farm-in agreement
with Pampa Energia S.A., a joint participation partner (the “Partner”).

In 2016, the Group had an oil discovery in the HLG.St.LB.x-1002
exploratory well drilled in October 2015 in the Los Blancos Concession
and agreed with Pampa Energia S.A that the additional cost for further
drilling activities would be financed by the two participants.

In 2018, the Group drilled another exploratory well, HLG.St.LB.x-2001 in
the Los Blancos Concession and significant oil and gas were discovered.

In 2019, the construction of the Group’s permanent production facilities
at HLG.St.LB.x-2001 exploratory well has been completed.

On 15 October 2020, the exploitation permit for Los Blancos Concession
has been granted by the provincial authorities of Salta. The exploitation
permit officially entitles the Group to produce crude oil in the Los Blancos
Concession for the next 25 years. The carrying amount of approximately
HK$28,619,000 in exploratory drilling has been assessed for impairment
before reclassification to property, plant and equipment. The key
assumptions used in the value-in-use calculation included estimated future
commodity prices, estimated future production volume, estimated future
production cost, estimated future capital expenditure and discount rate.
Estimated future commodity prices are compiled based on forecasted
oil and gas prices published by a principal agency of a governmental
authority. Estimated future production volume, future production cost,
and future capital expenditure are estimated based on the approved
production profile and relevant budget. Pre-tax discount rate of 40%
has been applied in the value-in-use calculation. Since the recoverable
amount exceeded its carrying amount, no impairment loss is considered as
necessary on the date of reclassification.

In January 2021, the Group transferred the remaining balance of
exploratory drilling for Los Blancos Concession from exploratory drilling
to property, plant and equipment, following the finalisation of the
geographical coordinates of the area of exploitation with the provincial
authorities of Salta. The carrying amount of approximately HK$53,526,000
in exploratory drilling has been assessed for impairment before
reclassification to property, plant and equipment and no impairment was
considered necessary on the date of transfer.
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BeE: (&)

(b)

RN B IR AR AT b 205 B B A W Los
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16 V¥ BERRE
0Oil and gas
production Right-of-
Machinery assets Others  use assets Total
AHRARR
e LtEEE Hit FRAREE o
(Note (a))
(MizE@)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T T THT THT
At 1 January 2021 RZZZ-5-H-H
Cost M 36,858 38,392 4,553 14,377 94,180
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ Z5H T & R {E (11,037) (2,732) (4,367) (13,894) (32,030)
25,821 35,660 186 433 62,150
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-T--F+-A=+—H
IL5E
At 1 January 2021 RZZ=Z—-%—-f—H 25,821 35,660 186 483 62,150
Additions RE - 1,606 30 9,577 11,213
Transfers (Note 15) EEIGIEAE) - 53,526 - - 53,526
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) WEEH B AR (FiFE35) - 860,753 - 17,955 878,708
Depreciation N (6,003) (29,370) (21) (2,164) (37,558)
Reduction in provision for estimated fEEH R B A ER D (M329)
dismantlement costs (Note 29) - (140,054) - - (140,054)
Hyperinflation adjustments BBRAZ 8,611 3,039 - - 11,650
Exchange differences EXERE - 5,813 - 162 5,975
At 31 December 2021 RZZEZ-F+=f=+—H 28,429 790,973 195 26,013 845,610
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F+-A=+—H
Cost ﬁ2$ 46,808 974,921 4,583 42,071 1,068,383
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ 25H7T& LR E (18,379) (183,948) (4,388) (16,058) (222,773)
28,429 790,973 195 26,013 845,610
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE-Z--f+-fA=+-H
IFEE
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F-f—H 28,429 790,973 26,013 845,610
Additions NE - 195,567 , 7,954 204,799
Disposals HE - (157) - - (157)
Depreciation ik (4,543) (121,161) (6,835) (132,594)
Increase/(reduction) in provision for fﬁpfﬁﬁgﬁ%ﬁﬁbﬂ/ (R)
estimated dismantlement costs (Note 29) &4 (Ff3529) - 101,180 = 101,180
Lease modification ﬁﬁ?ﬂ% - - (99) (99)
Hyperinflation adjustments EHERAE ; 21,262 - 35,594
Exchange differences EXEE : (79,619) (1,095) (92,659)
At 31 December 2022 RZZZZf+-A=1+—H b 908,045 . 25,938 961,674
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZF+ZA=+-H
Cost KA 53,212 1,216,391 6,308 48,077 1,323,988
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ E5H T & R {E (26,959) (308,346) (4,870) (22,139) (362,314)

26,253 908,045 1,438 25,938 961,674

Annual Report 2022 ¢« —E- =% %% 183



184

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
r B B S AR MY R

16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Others mainly represented furniture, fixtures and office equipment, and
motor vehicles.

Due to the volatile commodity price and the potential adverse impact
on the performance of upstream business as a result of COVID-19
pandemic, the Group conducted the impairment assessment for its oil
and gas properties, which mainly included “machinery” and “oil and
gas production assets” of property, plant and equipment totalled of
HK$934,298,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$819,402,000).

The recoverable amounts of oil and gas properties are determined using
value-in-use calculations. The calculation used discounted cash flow model
based on financial forecasts prepared by management and covered the
expected life of the oil and gas fields. The key assumptions used in the
value-in-use calculations included estimated future commodity prices,
estimated future production volume, estimated future production costs,
estimated future capital expenditure and discount rates. Estimated future
commodity prices are compiled based on forecasted prices. Estimated
future production volumes, future production costs, and future capital
expenditure are estimated based on the approved production profiles and
relevant budgets. The board of directors of the Company considered that
no impairment loss is necessary as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022

are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

E R AR M R

17 RBARZEE

R_E-_—_F+_A=1+—H ARQ7
B ARFFBWT:

Proportion of ownership interest

FERBEL Y
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
L/ AR AEEz  mARE HWEAR
RAEH REXHEH BRARARRAFE ERER 58 BE IEER
Total Belief Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% 100% - Investment holding
BEARAT RERAHS IREREEIZT SRR REER
Jade Honest Limited BVI 2,700 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% 100% - Dormant
RERTHS 2,700 FRAEI1ETL L EER AEXBED
Absolute Champ Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share at HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EEERLA i 1REREEET EBR REER
AC Precious Metals Refinery Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary share of 100% - 100%  Trading and Refinery of
HK$1 each precious metals
EEAERRRARLA Bk 1,000,000 B K E(E1ETZ REBEERER
gl
Ace Diamond Trading Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERAHE 100RERAEEIZT L EBR REER
Big Trade Investments Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERAHS IREREEIZT SRR REER
Bright Rise Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HEEEER LA RERAHS REREEIZT SRR REER
Cheer Profit Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share at US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
REEEERAA RERAHE IREREEIZT SRR REER
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17 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 17 RBATIZ2®RE (#)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERERL P
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
L/ E AR ASEz  mARE HKEAR
NAER REXHEH BRARARRAFE BREL ] BE IEXH
Discovery Operating LLC USA Nil paid 100% - 100%  Dormant
*H Z ABEBED
ET-LA, LLC USA Registered capital of US$500 100% - 100%  Investment holding
*H & A500% 7T RARR
First Continent Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERAHS 100RBRAEIZET 2 EBER REER
First Apex Global Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERAHE 100RBRAEIET 2 EER REER
Giant Perfect Holdings Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERTHS 100RBRAEIET EER REER
Grand Rich Trading Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BREEHERAA RRRLHE \REREEIET2 SRR REER
Happy Light Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HAEBERAT RRRAHE \REREEIET2 SRR REER
High Luck Holding (Hong Kong) Limited - Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BEAR(FE)FRAR i \REREEVETZ SRR REER
High Luck Group Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Exploration of oil and gas
BESEERAT RERAHS 100RERAEEZT 2 EBR PDRABRALR
Jumbo Hope Group Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
BREEERAR i \REREE AT, EBR REER
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17 RBARZIERE (&)

17 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERERL Y
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
L/ E AR ASEz  mARE HKEAR
DNAER REEHE BRARARRAFE BREL ] BE IEXH
New Times Power Limited BVI 1,000 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
RERAHS 1,008 B REEIET2EBK REER
New Times Energy Canada Inc. Canada 500,000 Class A common shares of 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(€50.01 each
nex 500,000 & R E B0.01 17T Z A REER
LAk
Novastar Capital Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
HRRRES  ORSREEIETZEER RELR
NTE Discovery Park Limited Canada 100 Class A common shares of 100% - 100%  Industrial park
(formerly known as 1069130 €$0.01 each
BC Limited)
(3171069130 BC Limited ) mex 100 8 REE0.01MT 2 T%RE
ARERR
NTE Group (HK) Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
i 100RERAEEET EBR REER
NTE Maple Holdings Limited Canada 100 ordinary shares of C$0.1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(formerly known as 0942069
B.C. Limited)
(A1750942069 B.C. Limited ) nex 100RBREB. 1ML EER REER
Power Jet Group Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Dormant
RERAHS IREREEIZT SRR REXBED
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17

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

17 RBARZIERE (&)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERERL Y
Place of
establishment/ Group's Held Held
incorporation and  Particulars of issued and effective by the by the
Name of company business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries  Principal activities
L/ E AR AE@z  mALA ANEAR
NAER REXBE BRARARRAFE BERER 2] BE IEZER
NTE Energy Canada Limited (formerly ~ Canada 56,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% - 100%  Development and
known as Shanghai Energy (91 each production of oil and
Corporation) - gas
NTE Energy Canada Limited ( 377 mex 56,000,000 B REE1 ML 2 BEREERR
Shanghai Energy Corporation ) LER
Techno Wealth Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of US$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EEARAA EY e \REREEIETZ SRR REER
New Times Energy Canada Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each 100% - 100%  Investment holding
(formerly known as United
0il & Resources Trading Limited)
New Tirmes Energy Canada Limited i 100k SRAAEIE T EBK REZR
(ABEARRERESERAR)
ATEHREHERAF PRC* Registered capital of US$ 1,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
P & 1,000,000% 7T REER
Mt OI%) E5ERAA PRC* Registered capital of US$5,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of petroleum-
related products
HE* FE & 745,000,000 7T FhREERES
Ma (8m) 2 HERAA PRC* Registered capital of RMB3,000,000 100% - 100%  Trading of petroleum-
related products
P HEMEARAR#3,000,0007 hARRERR S
United Resources Trading Limited BVI 100 ordinary shares of US$1 each 51% - 51%  Dormant
G AERESERAT RRRAHE 100RBRAEIETZ EER AEXBED
* Wholly foreign owned enterprise established under the PRC law * REPEEZTMAIEBELE

As at 31 December 2022, non-controlling interests was
attributable to United Resources Trading Limited, which is not

material to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

18 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18 REELEZRE
2021
—EF - —F
HK$°000
FET
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 936
2021
—EF - —F
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January mn—HA—H 941
Share of results of joint ventures DEEEDEFEE (5)
936
Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures, which are SEREELERER (BERE
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated RIFE T RERAR) 2B T :
financial statements, are as follows:
Proportion of ownership interest
FEREER L
Place of Group's
incorporation Particulars of issued effective  Held bya  Principal
Name of joint ventures and business and paid up capital interest  subsidiary  activities
ALK ERTR r&E@z -XHE
RELEAR EEHE BRREFE ERER QNRKF  TEEH
Smart Win International Limited BVI 200 ordinary shares of US$1 each 50% 50% Investment holding
HERRERAR EEEXEHS 00 BRAEBIZTZ ERR REER
Full Charming Limited BVI 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 29.9% 29.9%  Investment holding
EEELES REREE BT SRR REZR
Hong Kong Oil Development Co. Ltd. Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 each 29.9% 29.9%  Investment holding
EERMBRERAA BB TRERAEIETZERBR REER
BRETEAEEERAA PRC Registered capital of Renminbi 28.4% 28.4%  Provision of oil
("RMB") 6,000,000 services
Lale AMERARK (TAR®]) REAHRS
6,000,0007C
* Limited liability company established under the PRC law * REFBZEAMRERETAA
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e BRRME

18 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

None of these entities are material to the Group.

The Group’s joint ventures are unlisted corporate entities
whose quoted market prices are not available.

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group's
investments in joint ventures and these entities also had no
material contingent liabilities.

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
individually material:

18

REBLEZRE ®)
EEBYAEEHSEREA

AEBZEECER/RRLETARER:

VEIABBEARERGELRZR
BERMEREERNTYBEEANAAGE -

=113

FERERNEELRERLER:

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FAT

Total assets BEERTE
Total liabilities BiE8%E
Total losses BB 4%

3,418 6,072
(12,145) (11,052)
(3,630) (7,678)

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

19 BAAREETAEMEER

Equity securities at FVOCI RAARBETAHEM
TEHKRFZBRAES
— Foothills Exploration — Foothills Exploration

mZERMEE
2021
- —4F
HK$'000
FBTT
10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Notes:

@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial assets at FVOCI comprise equity securities which are not held for
trading, and which the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition
to recognise in this category. These are strategic investments and the
Group considers this classification to be more relevant.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, fair value loss of approximately
HK$8,000 (2021: gain of HK$2,000) on the equity securities at FVOCI
was recognised in other comprehensive income. No dividend or other
income from equity securities at FVOCI was recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss (2021: Nil).

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair
value is provided in Note 3.4.

All of the financial assets at FVOCI are denominated in US$. For an
analysis of the sensitivity of the assets to price risk, refers to Note 3.2(a)(ii).

19

E R AR M R

yet2

DREETAHMEER
TREE#)

=
w

ik

BAABEAAEGEZERKGEZEREE

BRIFFEEERAEZEAES A

SEC TR R ZER G R R

%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁm HEHABBEREERAE
RS FEE BAARE -

iy RBE-_F-_—_F+-_A=t—RLEFE"
FHRARBEMAHEBEZERE 2 KRAK
FBHEH AR EBEEIENSW0ET(ZF
——F: %2,0008 L) R E M2 E IR E
R MERGARERRARAIAEE
AR EERENBRAESFNREHHE
MRA(ZBZ—F &) -

(iy EHEEAAEBEMEAOTERBERDN
AMFNE34 -

vy FERAAEBEFAEGCZERGENDSH
EEAUE A E-FRAEEHERAR
B BRRE AT - FE 2 BT EE3. 2(a)i) ©
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e M BHRRME

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20 EWE SRR KR HAAEKRR
|

2022 2021

—E=-= —E - —4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FHBTT

Trade receivables (Notes (b) and (c)) FEUNE 5 BR (H3ED0) & (0) 103,867 124,786

Other debtors E b W FR R 10,102 8,430

Deposits 2& 38,962 31,625

Amount due from a joint venture ElaEhENeE

(Note (d)) (Mt 5E(d)) 582 577
Financial assets measured at BEEKNATENESREE

amortised cost 153,513 165,418

VAT recoverable AT el E (B R 2,298 3,485

Other tax recoverable H b 0] Uy 0] 77 18 19,190 30,427

Other prepayments H T8N IR 9,262 3,507

184,263 202,837

Reconciliation to the consolidated REEHMBRRARZHE:
statement of financial position:

Non-current FERD 17,579 6,220
Current ik ) 166,684 196,617
184,263 202,837
Notes: B RE
(a) The Board considers that the carrying amounts of deposits, trade (a) ARTRENTETTER ESERAR
receivables and other debtors approximate their fair values as the impact e ENE SRR REMERRENRR
of discounting is not significant. EREARXAEEMES-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 90 days (2021: 30 to 90 days) from
the date of billing. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is as
follows:

20

SREMBHRRME

EWEZERAREMEKRR
I8 (&)

BeE: (&)

by EHEZEFAMLZERBHE30E90H

—E - —4:30%908) NEIH e EIRE

SEFEEZANRINBRBEREERZY®
2B

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET

0 — 30 days 0E30H

31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61Z290H
Over 90 days 90H LA

88,107 88,155
422 184
1,423 543
13,915 35,904

103,867 124,786

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for expected credit
losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for trade receivables. See Note 3.2(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.

The amount due from a joint venture is non-secured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Trade receivables, other debtors, deposit and amount due from a joint
venture were denominated in the following currencies:

(0 AKEEEAEEHBRELENFEIFRMTH
T EARBEMEEBBFELEE &
REATHERE SERRAB2BMOEH
BEEE - FHBEHEEERERENES
15 FH2EME3.20) -

d EBR-RALCEFRRSEET RER
RIRBESIEE -

(e) MREZEF EMEEFHIE 2e REK
BELENSBIBUATERE:

RMB AR
uss$ E

ARS ] 46 5 4 R
Cc$ iz

HKS BT

2022 2021
—E-—F T —F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET

- 1,666

788 31,976
21,161 12,773
112,139 116,490
19,425 2,513
153,513 165,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BRRME

21 INVENTORIES 21 78

2022 2021
—E=-= —E -4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT

Precious metals held for refinery B AER B AERBR R
and trading, at cost BEoNESE 92,084 28,355
Consumables 5 F 19,308 15,756
Oil products BOmE i 81 85
111,473 44,196

Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended
31 December 2022 amounted to HK$20,321,737,000
(2021: HK$11,036,303,000) included in ‘cost of sales’ in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 8).

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

22

REzE-—_TE-_—_F+=-_A=+—8
FTFEERREAINGTESREA
20,321,737,0008 (=& = —F:
11,036,303,000/8 L) ' it ARG Em &
R [EERA] (FIzEs) -

BRAARBEFABRZZER
aE

2022 2021

—EC-CF T —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHE T FHT

Listed equity securities (Note (a)) ETRAFES (k@) 54,275 28,650
Listed debt securities (Note (b)) EHEBESE (D) - 2,401
Unlisted debt securities (Note (b)) JEEMEBES (B5ED)) - 36,789
Unlisted fund FEMES 1,638 13,688
55,913 81,528
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r e B A SRR MY EE

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The listed equity securities represent listed shares on the Stock Exchange
and are stated at fair value. Net investment income of approximately
HK$23,649,000 (2021: loss of HK$35,675,000) has been recognised in
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 357,637,761 ordinary
shares of Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings Limited (“Blue Sky"”), a listed
company on the Stock Exchange, at a carrying amount of approximately
HK$10,700,000 with level 3 inputs (Note 3.4(i)(c)) after the recognition of
a fair value loss of HK$30,786,000 during the year ended 31 December
2021.

The trading of Blue Sky's shares had been halted, the Group took into
account the key findings of the forensic investigation report, the annual
report 2020, the interim report 2021 and all announcements and related
information published and announced by Blue Sky to determine the fair
value of the investment as at 31 December 2021.

On 25 July 2022, Blue Sky's shares resumed trading on the Stock
Exchange. As such, the fair value of the investment as at 31 December
2022 was valued based on the quoted price on the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had two listed
debt securities that were in default as the issuers failed to repay the
debts upon maturity. These debt securities with an aggregated face value
amounted to HK$11,000,000 were valued at HK$2,401,000 as at 31
December 2021. As at 31 December 2022, the Group determined these
debt securities were of no commercial value and valued at HK$Nil. The
unlisted debt security with a fair value amounted HK$36,789,000 as at 31
December 2021 were fully recovered during the year ended 31 December
2022 without any losses.

THRABFSFBRB R ETRO RIZA

REBEIE BE-_T-_—_F+_A=1—
Eii& & & WA F (B 4923,649,0005%8 7T
— & =~ — 4 :51835,675,000 L) B R 1B
= AFER o

RZTE-—_—%+=-—fA=+—8" migm
BlrMREXRTERERAA ([EX] -
FIREE 2P L 2z A A)) 2357,637,761 1%
TER RBE-_ZT=_—F+=-A=+—
HIEFE®R AN EEEE30,786,000/E
Ttk AE =B AEIE (M 5E3.4()() ) &F
EREMEEX 510,700,000/ 7T °

ERARZBRHNEEEEE MASEFRE
K BERAMZ AERAERE T =
TEFR T _—FHHABEURFAE
ARERBHEENNEER -_Z=—F+=
A=+—B&RBREZAREE.

R-ZE-_—_FtA-+HB EXZKEH
REZHAMERS Bt - R=F ==
FTZA=ZT—HOREZAARBEIER
e R P RB (S ME -

RBE-Z-_—F#+-_A=+—HIEE"
AEBBFAEMMDAREITARER DR
BEEHEMEANETEBES -ZEE
WEHMWBEER1,000,00087L R=F
——F+ZA=+—H#rkE%S2,401,000
BT - RZTE-__F+=-A=+—H K&
EErZSENEFEDEXEE HEAR
THETL- R —F+=_RF=+— Eﬁ
7 {818 /436,789,000 T IE LT E
FREBE-_Z-_—F+=-A=+— E¢¢
EAREURE - W ETAEL
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r B B S AR MY R

23 GOLD INVESTMENT 23 E2RE

196

2021
—E-—%F
HK$'000
FAT

Gold held for investment, at fair value

RIEREZES BRAREE

66,082

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held physical gold
bullions which measured at fair value. The purposes of holding
physical gold bullions are to support the development of the
Group's physical gold trading business, and to achieve capital
appreciation and capture the effectiveness of gold as inflation-
proofing instruments. Fair value loss of HK$989,000 (2021:
HK$2,507,000) has been recognised in consolidated statement
of profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022. The
physical gold bullions have been disposed of during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

For details of the accounting policy, please refer to Note 2.23.

For the fair value measurement of gold investment, please refer
to Note 3.4.
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R-E-—F+-_A=+—H &X&EH
BEEREAABEIENEY K -FE
EVEBRNENTDAIBERAEEEY
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REEZT-__F+-_A=+—HIEF
E ERGEEaXRERAAREBESIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

SREMBHRRME

24 RERBITHEER

Cash
Term

Pledged deposits

and cash equivalents RekReEEY
deposits TE HF R
[ CRER N

Notes:

The carrying amounts of the Group's cash and bank balances are
denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT

us$ ETT

RMB AR
ARS o] 5 5 4% 3=
(& T
Others Hh

2022 2021
—=E—-— —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
819,450 494,955
20,186 -
11,535 -
851,171 494,955
B 5T
(a) AEEBRS MRITESOEDEUUTE
HEE:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
72,608 106,132
384,313 233,785
37,489 796
2,394 6,743
354,356 147,486
11 13
851,171 494,955

Significant restrictions

Cash and bank balances of approximately HK$37,483,000 (2021:
HK$790,000) and HK$2,394,000 (2021: HK$6,817,000) are held in the
Mainland China and Argentine Republic, respectively, and are subject
to local exchange control regulations. These local exchange control
regulations provide for certain restrictions on exporting capital from the
Mainland China and Argentine Republic.

(b)  EXRRH

0@ &R 1T 45 #2 4937,483,0008 L (=&
= — 4% :790,000% 7t ) &% 2,394,000/ /T
(ZZT=—4:6,817,000 L) J1 D BIAH
B A RARELMERS BB TEH
) HNE B S G0 - 3% B & I EE Bl G0
HRaPBE A RMBELXMEGLEAE
ARIEL T B TFRA -
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e M BHRRME

25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 BNESRARHAENRK
15
2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Trade payables (Note (b)) BB SR (K:EDb)) 21,434 17,987
Other creditors and accrued charges HMERKIEREEE R
(Note () (BzE()) 188,287 100,072
Financial liabilities measured RBHNATEZ
at amortised cost TRARE 209,721 118,059
Other tax payables H b fE R IR 7,226 4,085
Contract liabilities aHEBE 20,099 394
237,046 122,538
Notes: B ok
(@) Al of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one () TEHIMEENEZRRREMENKRER
year or are repayable on demand. R—FAEBNNIRERER-
(b)  The following is an ageing analysis of the trade payables presented based by RBEEFHR ENESERREZEBHZE
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: P ZBREC DTN ¢
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHAT
0 - 30 days 0%=30H 13,392 13,695
31 - 60 days 31260H 2,837 2,745
61 - 90 days 61Z290H 2,105 143
Over 90 days 90H M E ER ) 1,404
PAREY 17,987
() Included in other creditors and accrued charges is a deposit of (0 HENXBEREAEREEAMEEIL
HK$44,994,000 (2021: HK$44,994,000) received from two independent $ =7 F144,994,0008 T (—FE = —4:
third parties which appointed a subsidiary of the Company as trustee to 44,994,000 L) RE ZEE=FAZMHE
pursue an acquisition. The potential acquisition had been cancelled and ARAR—FHMBRARAZTEANUZRK—E
the deposit is to be returned to those third parties. WE - ZBEETEWEDWEUE REGRE

FTREF=N-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBHRRHE

26 LEASE LIABILITIES 26 HEAR
The Group obtains right to control the use of offices AEEFBHEETHESE —RERA
for a period of time through lease arrangements. Lease EHBAENERBAERNHE LR
arrangements are negotiated on an individual basis with lease MR EEER BHARNE=-F -4
terms from two to three years. For details of right-of-use ERAEEENFS F2HME16-
assets, please refer to Note 16.
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities TRENNAEBEZHEBGENR T =
of the Group’s lease liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and FRZBZ—F+A=+—HzZH&
2021: BRI ZNEAHIR -
2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F
Present Total Present Total
value of the minimum value of the minimum
minimum lease (2255 minimum lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHE REHE REHE REHE
FREE FREH RAHEE REsE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET AT THT
Within 1 year —FR 8,097 9,444 7,479 8,025
After 1 year but within 2 years —EREMER 5,325 6,244 5,552 5,945
After 2 years but within 5 years MERERER 5,477 7,315 6,699 7,242
After 5 years hFik 10,202 15,349 11,254 11,349
29,101 38,352 30,984 32,561
Less: total future interest expenses i : HEFI SR % % (9,251) (1,577)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBERE 29,101 30,984
Reconciliation to the consolidated BERBRLE
statement of financial position: E’J%T%
Current portion REEH D 8,097 7,479
Non-current portion EF ek 21,004 23,505
29,101 30,984
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there were no significant RZEBE - —_FR_-_ZFT-—F+=A
short-term leases, low-value leases nor leases committed but —t+—HB TESAEHEE KEE
not yet commenced. HE TEEAEERARFBHEE-
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e M BHRRME

27 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 27 BEEHEEE
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there ERETEANITRENGE BRIBE =M
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against ENMIEAGEERE BEREMSHE
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate R—M AR BN A 0] §iRERE
to the same fiscal authority. the net amounts are as follows: BEHEAETAENE:
2022 2021
—E—= —E - —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Deferred tax assets BEFRIBEE 4,349 7,802
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIBEE (64,141) (54,023)
Deferred tax liabilities, net EEFR IR B EFEE (59,792) (46,221)
The movement in net deferred tax liabilities is as follows: REFIEAEFB 2 SEWOT
2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At 1 January ®w—A—H (46,221) (14,920)
Charged to profit or loss (Note 12) RiE&E MR (MEE12) (15,840) (14,222)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) W R BT B A B (BT aE35) - (12,642)
Hyperinflation adjustments BUBRAE 2,269 (4,437)
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H (59,792) (46,221)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction)
during the year are as follows:

Provisions

Deferred tax assets EERBERE BB

2022 2021 2022
ZECCE EeblEial “EC-CF
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx THL TiEx

—E--%
HK$'000
THL

HKS'000 HK$'000
TEn TER

SREMBHRRME

27 EEFEESE &)

FRRERBEEERAGBZEE (R
RIBLTS Rl AR R R S RRAT) AT

Others Total
Hit 3t

2021 2021 2022 2021
—F-—4% Eelleletd —F-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TR TET
7,802

(191) 2,172

(3,262) (960)

4,349

Fair value adjustment Others Total
AAEEAR it st
2022 2021 2021
ZECCE bl CF-CE B

HK$'000
TEn

HK$'000
TR

12,642 -

49712
15,768

54,023
15,649

(141 ;) (5,53;)

At 1 January »-A-H 4,245 3,009 3,557
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss ~ FAEZET A/ (31%) 1,879 992 (2,070)
Hyperinflation adjustments EBRER (1,775) 244 (1,487)
At 31 December R+ZA=+-H 4,349

Exploration and evaluation Property, plant and

assets equipment

Deferred tax liabilities BEHERR BRRMEEE ¥ BERRE
At 1 January R—A-A
Charged(credited) to profit or loss REENR/ (GTA)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENBAR
Hyperinflation adjustments EfERAE
At 31 December Wt=A=1-A

12,642

19,329 4912 64,141

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forward to the extent that realisation of the related
tax benefits through future taxable profit is probable. In
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.21,
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect
of cumulative tax losses of approximately HK$114,903,000
(2021: HK$118,943,000) and impairment of non-current assets
of approximately HK$53,291,000 (2021: HK$53,291,000) as
it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant tax
jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses do not expire under
current tax legislation.

WAl BE BB AR R IERF R FI IR EEH
B AR EBEEREEREH
BE-REWE221AEMNEBER - &
SEE AR RETBIIEEE 114,903,000
BT (ZF = —4:118,943,000 7T )
NIERENE ERIE 753,291,000/ 7T (=
T — —4F: 53,291,000 7T ) R IR IE L
BEE IHHREBEHERZERERE
RSN KA RE#E A AT A LA S5 S 1B M9 R 3k
FERBLRF - BRERITH L HEBIE
EIENR
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28 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liabilities — current BE-AY
Gold future contracts E¢HEAH
Paper precious metals MESB

Derivatives are only used for economic hedging purposes and
not as speculative investments. For details, please refer to Note
3.2(a)(ii). Since the Group did not adopt hedging accounting,
all derivatives are classified as “held for trading” for accounting
purposes and are accounted for at FVPL.

The maturity dates of the outstanding paper precious metals
(2021: gold future contracts and paper precious metals) are
within one year and are classified as current liabilities.

As at 31 December 2022, the notional principal amount
of the outstanding paper precious metals including gold,
silver, platinum and palladium were HK$93,298,000 (2021:
HK$279,477,000). There were no outstanding gold future
contracts as at 31 December 2022 (2021: the notional
principal amount of the outstanding gold future contracts were
HK$65,610,000).

For the fair value measurement of derivatives, please refer to
Note 3.4.
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29 PROVISIONS

The carrying amount of the Group’s provisions mainly
represented the provisions for estimated dismantlement cost for

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SREMBHRRME

29 #BiE

AEERGBZREEIEREHEMNRE
RIS ARE Ll RS IRER B A

the upstream business in Argentina and Canada. Movements FABBEFEMRMNT
of provisions during the year are set out as follows:
2022 2021
—s=-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
At 1 January n—H—H 431,732 20,117
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) U BE BT B~ &) (M9 5E35) - 537,750
Settlement of dismantlement costs EEIRBRER (21,211) (2,397)
Increase/(reduction) due to changes in AGstegmem (FL)
estimates (Note 16) (FFEE16) 101,180 (140,054)
Hyperinflation adjustments BUHRRAE 11,039 1,073
Accretion of interest (Note 11) MBI (ML) 26,164 8,790
Exchange differences E W =58 (35,633) 6,453
At 31 December R+—HA=+—H 513,271 431,732
Less: current portion R B A D (80,109) (66,019)
433,162 365,713

In accordance with the relevant rules and regulations and the
agreements with the surface owners, the Group is obliged
to accrue the costs related to the future costs of plugging
and abandoning its oil and gas properties, the removal of
equipment and facilities from lease acreage and returning such
land to its original condition, and indemnification of surface
owners for the damages caused by the exploration activities.
These costs reflect the estimated legal and contractual
obligations associated with the normal operation of oil and
gas properties and were capitalised by increasing the carrying
amounts of the related assets. The provisions have been
determined by the directors based on their best estimates of
the level of expenditure and extent of work required.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group revaluated the present
value of provision for estimated dismantlement costs with
references to the updated reserve assessments prepared by
the independent qualified technical consultant and the latest
market condition. Due to changes in the market condition, the
Group recognised an increase in the present value of provision
for estimated dismantlement costs for HK$101,180,000 (2021:
reduction of HK$140,054,000) and adjusted the increase
(2021: reduction) to the carrying amount of the oil and gas
production assets.

RIBABRAMOER AR ELIOEA A
ZhHE AREARABAREERA
HERAREERKERA BHEHE
BHRELRREALGLHERSER
KRR Z AR A R ARFAREEER
BENLTHEAEARER ZFRAR
BREEMIN AR RARBEEZ —REE
ZEEREANERE LWEBEME
MEEZERMESEENM -BEHE
FRASOKRFEMATEREFEL 2 &
EfbEtMERE

RZEZZF+ZHA=1+—H X&E
SEBIUAERBINBRREZ&H
HEFHELEHIM R HEHIFGR S
AREREETEGR AR R E
AREEBERMGTIRBR BB EERELS
hn101,180,0008 T (ZFE = —F : @l
140,054,000/ 7T) " WAL M (=ZF
ZFiRP)AEBRRRARAREEEE
ZEREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 30 EXKf#E
(a) Authorised and issued share capital () ZERBBITHRAE
2022 2021
B - —F
No. of shares No. of shares
B EE v !
'000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
T TR T TR
Authorised: EE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BK
+ZA=+—-H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ HFRREE0.018T.2
Lmk 200,000,000 LN 200,000,000 2,000,000
Ordinary shares, issued ZER
and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January R—A—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ BREE0.01E T2
LiER 8,758,881 8,758,881 87,589
Shares issued under share option 1R IEEBRIET 8 21T
scheme pdii3%) 50,000 - -
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each ~ BREE0.01ET.2
Ldk 8,808,881 8,758,881 87,589

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company's
residual assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

Share premium
The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents (i) the
difference between the amount by which non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid upon acquisition of
additional interests in non-wholly owned subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2012 and
(ii) the difference between the nominal value of
ordinary shares issued by the Company and the
aggregate of the share capital and share premiums
of subsidiaries acquired through a reorganisation in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange in October 1998.

(iiij) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation
of the financial statements of foreign operations,
including the translation effect for entities operating
in hyperinflating economy. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in
Note 2.6.

(iv) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the
cumulative net change in the fair value of financial
assets at FVOCI that are held at the end of the
reporting period (see Notes 2.12 and 19).

30 EXKEHE#)
(b) HEZHERAMN

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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30 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(v) Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group and the
Company represented the credit arising from capital
reduction in prior years.

Under Section 54 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, contributed surplus is available for
distribution as dividends to shareholders subject
to the provisions of the Company's bye-laws
and provided that immediately following the
distribution, the Company is able to pay its liabilities
as and when they fall due or the realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

(vi) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve comprises the
fair value of unexercised share options granted to
eligible participants of the Company that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for share-based payments in note 2.30.
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31 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has implemented a new share option scheme
("Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives to or
to reward the eligible participants thereunder for their
contributions to the Group in the past or in the future; and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group. Eligible participants include any director (including Non-
executive Director and Independent Non-executive Director) or
employee (whether full time or part time). The Share Option
Scheme, unless otherwise terminated or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options being granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of approval of the
limit and such limit may be refreshed by the Shareholders in a
general meeting. In addition, the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme to
each eligible participants (other than an Independent Non-
executive Director or a substantial Shareholder of the Company
or any of their respective associates) in any 12-month period up
to and including the date of the latest grant of share options
must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at such date. Any
further grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme
in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting of the Company.
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ARBEER B ERESS (158
RESHE]) AR SAKEELER K
HEELERZABR2EERHIER
KO K REAEEABRELBEE
FRERBSIEAREMEBEEZA
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BESN - PR 1R BE AR dE AT B R AR R BIE A
E b BT B N AT BTSN
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30% °

RBENBEBRERER LD AHN
EfR+ @A SRR BT EREEBR
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MERBEALD) RENZMELRE (2
RO AT KA R TT RS A ) h 37T I
BETHORNER TEEAEACH
TR B91% © fisi AR 15 B AR R T 813 —
FR BB M d R RIZAR
RRARBRRRE LG RRLE -

Annual Report 2022 ¢« —E - =% &% 207



208

31 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Under the Share Option Schemes, any grant of share options
to a Director, the chief executive or substantial shareholders of
the Company, or any of their respective associates are subject
to approval by the Independent Non-executive Directors.
In addition, any share options granted to an Independent
Non-executive Director or a substantial Shareholder of the
Company, or any of their respective associates, which would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
share options already granted or to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme (including share options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such grant (i) representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue; and (ii) having
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the shares
at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, such grant of
share options by the Board must be approved by Shareholders
in a general meeting of the Company.

The period within which share options may be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme will be determined by the Board
in its absolute discretion and the exercisable period shall not
be more than 10 years from the date of grant of the share
options and that the Board may at its discretion determine the
minimum period for which the share options have to be held
before the exercise of the subscription right attaching thereto.
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31 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The exercise price of the share options granted under the Share
Option Scheme is determinable by the Board in its absolute
discretion, but in any event shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Company's shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of grant of such share options; (ii) the average closing price
of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of such share options; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted within 21 days from the date of the
offer upon payment of a consideration of HK$1 by the grantee.

On 22 July 2022, a total of 130,000,000 share options were
granted to the directors of the Company under the Share
Option Scheme.

Set out below are summaries of options granted under Share
Option Scheme:
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31 URGBAERNSTR @)

RIBBREE CRHBRENTRE
BREZGURBHNBRET BER
AR BERATEEFNRSE ()
AABBMHRE L ZEBEREA RN
BT AWMRABHOWTE: (DA R
AR NERR L ZEBRER A
82 2 B RO BE XA B 3R K PR EY T
BULTHE : R (i) AN AR B D I EE

EEFATAREOERETSET
ERENZHHBRT2IARNENE
At WA RABIUE T
RZEBEZZF+AZ+=-H ARAE
BEBREFSMNARNESELS
$£130,000,00017 B A% -

REBREASROOBRERZH
FT

2022 2021

—E-_F T —F

Average exercise Number of Number of

price per share options options

option (‘000) ('000)

BHBKREN BREHE BREHA

FHITEE (F4) (F1)

As at 1 January m—H—H - -
Granted during the year FABED HK$0.138/8 7T 130,000 -
Exercised during the year FRE{TfE HK$0.1387%& JT (50,000) -
As at 31 December K+-—A=+—H HK$0.1387% T 80,000 -

FRAMEBERESEW-

R-_E - —F+-_A=+—HHEKIT
FRIRIENITEEA0138B T RHE T
EHFEHAICF FRNITHEERER
B INHEF AR E A0.166/8 T ©

No options were expired during the year.

The share options outstanding as at 31 December 2022 had
an exercise price of HK$0.138 and a remaining contractual life
of 3.6 years. The weighted average share price at the time of
exercise of options during the year was HK$0.166.
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31 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(a) Fair value of options granted
The assessed fair value of the options granted at the
grant date was HK$0.076 per option (2021: Nil). The fair
value is independently determined using Binomial Option
Pricing Model. The following are the inputs used in this
model for the options granted during the year ended 31
December 2022:

Exercise price HK$0.138
Life of options (year) 4
Risk-free rate 2.535%
Dividend yield 0.00%
Volatility 88.67%
Early exercise multiple 2.80
Post-vesting exit rate (% per year) 0.00%
Vesting date 22 July 2022

The expected price volatility is based on the historic
volatility (based on the remaining life of the options)
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due
to publicly available information.

32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as “cash
flow used in financing activities”.
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32 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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32 WEREER (&)
REBEIHNEEIYE(2)

Lease

Borrowings liabilities Total

BE HESE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET AT TR

At 1 January 2021 R-E--%5-A—-H 146,067 6,665 152,732
Changes from financing cash flows: REWMERESRENEE:

Capital element of lease rentals paid ENAENEARS - (3,782) (3,782)

Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEEFEHS - (675) (675)

Proceeds from borrowings BEZFREHE 9,166 - 9,166

Repayment of borrowings BEREE (155,311) - (155,311)

Interest expenses paid ERHERZ (4,462) - (4,462)

Other changes: Hin2%:

Accrued in interest payable JE AT B 4,462 675 5,137

Inception of lease contracts SIVEERY - 9,577 9,577

Acquisition of the subsidiary WERB AT - 18,686 18,686

Exchange differences ERER 78 (162) (84)

Total other changes EmZgazt 4,540 28,776 33,316

At 31 December 2021 R-ZB--$+=ZA=+-H - 30,984 30,984

Capital element of lease rentals paid ERAENEASS
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENESHFSHS
Proceeds from borrowings BEZFEHE
Repayment of borrowings BREER

Interest expenses paid ENFIEHRY

Other changes: Hitr#g:

Accrued in interest payable FERREET IS
Inception of lease contracts FIHERH
Acquisition of the subsidiary WM B AT
Exchange differences EREH

Total other changes Hih @8z

At 31 December 2022

(9,901) (9,901)
(1,525) (1,525)
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33 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The directors of the Company consider the immediate parent
and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be Max
Sun Enterprises Limited and Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited
respectively, which are incorporated in the BVI.

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant
influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members
of key management personnel, significant shareholders and/
or their close family members) or other entities and include
entities which are under the significant influence of related
parties of the Group where those parties are individuals. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common
control.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions:

(a) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 10 and certain of the
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as
follows:

33 EXEBAXRS

RARAEERREAEENEETGRAIR
BREERFDMNAREBRELEHST
s B EER AT KChow Tai
Fook Capital Limited

IR FREMBHRERMS - H— A6
NEZERFEERAEEELTBEREE
RRBEFEAREN NEBEESTA
AR DA KB A R - BERE T A BER
BA(BNEEEEREKRE FERRRES
HEFHIR)REMERE BEIAN
SEBEANBBEIEAFTENER-
IR AR R B R

BRER AP mR AT FESEIN
AEBETZERNBRAIRZZWMT

() TEEEEAEMNS
AEBXTEEEEASHS (BF
BN TFHFIOMEELRARAIES
A EESE TRy iES

EHEEREN
BERLIR AR A

Short-term employee benefits

Post-employment benefits

Benefits from share options
granted

B 1% B ROHE P W an

ZHIB)IATE
2022 2021
—s=-= —TE- 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
11,302 10,239
9,838 -
21,140 10,239
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33 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(b) Other related party transactions

XEME

Nature of transactions

(b)

ENARBIREZARZ

Rent and management fee paid

to an associate of an BeE A nrHehEREE
intermediate parent of (Ff5E)

the Company (Note)

ENAARBESRARZ

IT management and support

fees paid to an associate of B AR EAREER R
an intermediate parent of XEE

the Company

Note:

The Group entered into lease contracts in respect of its office with an
associate of an intermediate parent of the Company. As at 31 December
2022, the aggregated balance of lease liabilities due to related party in
respect of the leased office was HK$2,891,000 (2021: HK$3,601,000).

(c) Loans from a related party

In May 2021, the Group has advanced an unsecured
loan from an associate of an intermediate parent of the
Company in the principal amount of RMB7,640,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$9,207,000) carrying
interest at 4% per annum for a term of one month
maturing on 30 June 2021. The loan and accrued
interest had been settled in full during the year ended
31 December 2021.

(9]

33 EXEBAIRS (&)

HEABLI RS

2021

HK$'000
THET

2,680

138

MEE -

AEEEAQNRBES QAR ZHE ARG
UEBPAENEEAN R _T ==
+ZA=+—B RAEERQEEE
FZHEBEBEHH2,.891,0008 T (=
T = —4:3,601,00087C) °

W —EEESER

R-B-—FHA AEEALRD
RIMBES AR ZBMEBEARN A
A AR 7,640,000 (HE B
499,207,000/ 7T) Z EIIEE K
WEFRA% B BRAE—EA
R-ZE=——FXA=Z1+HEH-E
FEEAAMBEEREE T - —
FH+-_A=Z=+—BI-FERELE

=
/B °
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34 COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the date
of statement of financial position:

34 KiE

REBSIRR R B AR EE R 2 & A&
EmT

Authorised but not contracted for BEREEBRETLN
Authorised and contracted for EREREFHN

2021

—ET-—F

124,956 124,763
13,700 -
138,656 124,763

35 BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 21 September 2021, the Group completed the acquisition
of entire share capital of NTE Energy Canada Limited (formerly
known as Shanghai Energy Corporation) (“SEC"”), a company
incorporated in Canada, and its subsidiaries (totally “SEC
Group”). SEC Group is specialised in the exploration and
production of oil and natural gas. The consideration was
settled by granting a loan of C$20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$121,773,000 to SEC Group and paying a
cash consideration of C$1 (equivalent to HK$6) to acquire
100% equity interest in SEC.
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35 BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The Group engaged an independent professional valuer to
perform purchase price allocation exercise with reference to the
business valuation using discounted cash flows forecast and
market value approach. The recognised amounts of identifiable

EEL S (N

assets acquired and liabilities assumed are summarised as

follows:

21 September

2021
—EF-—F
hA=+—8
HK$’000
T T
Cash consideration paid ERBEeRE -
Loan to the SEC Group before completion of UL HE 18 SR AR AT M SEC & B
acquisition RIEER 121,773
Total consideration (Note (i) BAE (M) 121,773
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets PR S PT BRI & B
acquired and liabilities assumed: FIAERBEsERREHE:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 16) M- WERZE (H16) 878,708
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBZEY 93,047
Trade and other receivables FEW B 5 B 3 I H At B W R IE 173,098
Trade and other payables JE <1 8 5 BR 3K I EL M JE < 5RIE (46,347)
Provisions (Note 29) B (FsE29) (537,750)
Lease liabilities HEBE (18,686)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 27) RERIEEE (W5F27) (12,642)
Net identifiable assets acquired FriciE Al 2 R & )5 B 529,428
Gain on bargain purchase EERBEWS (407,655)
121,773
Outflow of cash to acquire the business, WHEEBKRIESR
net of cash acquired: BMEWIEIRE
Cash consideration paid BENEeRE (121,773)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired W BEWERERRSEED 93,047
Net cash outflow on acquisition WHEEIEIM S ML FE (28,726)
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35

36

BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

Note:

(i) The consideration was settled by granting a loan of C$20,000,000
(equivalent to HK$121,773,000) to SEC and cash consideration of C$1
(equivalent to HK$6).

(ii) The acquired business contributed revenues of HK$212,665,000 and
net profit of HK$50,310,000 to the Group for the period from 21
September 2021 to 31 December 2021. If the acquisition had occurred
on 1 January 2021, the consolidated revenue and consolidated net profit
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been
HK$11,628,235,000 and HK$388,142,000, respectively.

LITIGATION

On 4 June 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
was notified of the initiation of an arbitration process against
it by the Partner. The origin of the alleged claim arises from
the dispute with the Partner in relation to the calculation
and settlement of farm-in cost, due to differences in the
interpretation by the two parties of the relevant clause
and terminology contained in the Farm-Out Agreement
("FOA"). The Partner is now seeking for the restitution of
the subsidiary’s 50% participating interest in the Los Blancos
Concession, the removal of the subsidiary as the operator of
Los Blancos Concession, and the request of payments for the
potential disputed difference. The Group is of the view that, on
the basis of the legal advice from the Group’s internal counsel
and the external solicitor, it is not probable that the claim from
the Partner would lead to the restitution of the Group's 50%
participating interest in Los Blancos Concession and removal
as the operator, given that there is no actual breach of the
FOA. The maximum exposure for the alleged claim is estimated
at approximately US$180,000 (equivalents to approximately
HK$1,404,000). No provision had been provided in respect
of the potential disputed difference as at 31 December 2022
(2021: Nil), as the directors of the Company determined that
the outflow of economic benefit in relation to the alleged
claim is not probable and is dependent on the outcome of the
arbitration process or out-of-court settlement.
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37 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 37 A RBBERRE
COMPANY

2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET AT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R BRRZIEE 17 -
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FENRIE - meRkHE
other receivables b FE W FR IR 361,939 418,590
Financial assets at fair value BARBEABRZ
through profit or loss DEEE 17,438 20,351
Cash and bank balances Be MIBTTHE S 224,069 137,993
603,446 576,934
Current liabilities REaE
Other payables b fE SRR 52,268 54,023
S 52,268 . 54,023
Netcurrentassets ______________ HWREBEEFE 551,178 .. 522,911
Total assets less current liabilities ZAEERBABEE 551,178 522,911
Net assets EEFE 551,178 522,911
Capital and reserves BARRFE
Share capital % < 30(a) 88,089 87,589
Reserves G 38 463,089 435,322
Total equity ERAEH 551,178 522,911
The statement of financial position of the Company was ARARIMBRARERZEZ=F=
approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2023 and was A+ —HEES=2RBILHTINA
signed on its behalf. TREEE:
CHENG, Kam Chiu Stewart TANG, John Wing Yan
[-IE BKE
Director Director
EZE EZE
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38 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 38 ARAEFEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances AEEFEEREHORBAYRER
of each component of the Group's consolidated equity is set G HEREN e EREH R - AQ
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details AIERIEZBORETNRFREA 2 #
of the changes in the Company’s individual components of BFFIBHOT
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Fair value
reserve Share-based
Share Share Capital (non-  Contributed payment  Accumulated Total
capital premium Reserve recycling surplus reserve losses equity
AEE URB A
1 Higz

BA  RHEE  EREE (FTER)  RERH  AREE RER  EE#E
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TR THTL TR TR TR TR TR THTL

At 1 January 2021 RZZ=-%-f-H 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (4,696) 740,880 - (5,141,232) 560,313

Total comprehensive loss 2EFREE
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (37,402) (37,402)

At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ-%£+ZA=1+-HEK
1 January 2022 “E--f-f-H 87,589 4,868,181 9,591 (4,696) 740,880 - (5,178,634) 522,911

Total comprehensive income 2 EUHELE
Profit for the year ERET 11,530

Share options granted BRLERE 9,837 9,837
Exercise of share options iR E (3.783) 6,900

10,183 6,054 16,737

At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZB=1-H 4,878,364 (4,696) 740,880 6,054 (5,167,104) 551,178
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFETBEEME

Set out below is a summary of the results and a statement of net X AAREERBERAMREEZEEN
assets of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from BEFERIME  NEEEKEREAY
the audited consolidated financial statements and reclassified as BHERICHEHES BN TEFHDE -
appropriate.

RESULTS ¥ 5

Year ended 31 December
BE+=-A=t-HLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
el —F-F —F-FF —F-nF —EB-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAL TET TAET TAET

REVENUE §: AAUCEETPALT 11,167,076 5,034,518 236,646 297,989

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION  BBAIEF/ (&#E) 300,705 343,636 (64,558)  (2,310,385) (246,447)

INCOME TAX iy (14,803) (14,233) (14,936) 20,248 (10,777)

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO EEER (E8])
Owners of the Company ARAEEA 285,905 329,401 (79,483)  (2,290,086) (257,218)
Non-controlling interests FERER ®3) 2 (1 (51) (6)

285,902 329,403 (79,494)  (2,290,137) (257,224)

As at 31 December
R+=ZA=t-H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
el —T-—fF —T-FE —THE T \F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTAL FTAEL AL FTAEL

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE

Non-current assets ERBEE 980,187 852,776 130,543 167,202 2,417,291
Current assets MEEE 1,185,241 883,574 890,625 928,092 1,062,798
Total assets EEHAE g vkl 1,736,350 1,021,168 1,095,294 3,480,089
Current liabilities REBAEE 329,833 199,430 240,789 85,592 154,980
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 513,958 435,439 21,423 163,247 195,133
Total liabilities EEHE 843,791 634,869 262,212 248,839 350,113
NET ASSETS BEEFE 1,321,637 1,101,481 758,956 846,455 3,129,976
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GLOSSARY
A

“hoe”

[fRmEE]

“mmbbl”
[mmbbl ]

“mmboe”
[mmboe |

"Proved Reserves”
[RARE ]

"Probable Reserves”

[ BB e &

Barrels of oil equivalent

BHEE

Million barrels of oil, a barrel is equivalent to 42 U.S. Gallons or 0.158987 m?

BEBAM —WBER42E M@ K0.1589873L 7 K

Million barrels of oil equivalent, a barrel is 42 U.S. gallons or 0.158987 m?
BEMhEE  —WmER42EMA300.15898757 53K

Proved oil and gas reserves are those quantities of oil and gas which,
by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with
reasonable certainty to be economically producible

R HRBEENDBAMERTIRREERSN AN GETSBEELE LA
EERHRFE

Additional reserves that are less certain to be recovered than Proved
Reserves but which, together with Proved Reserves, are as likely as not to
be recovered

HBLERRARET AT EEERENANEIINFE EHERARED
A A R R
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